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Foreword 
 

All but two of these texts were recorded by Timothy Montler at Becher Bay, Elwha, 
and Songhees from 1979 to 1999. The Two Deaf Fishermen story was recorded at Elwha 
by Michael Charles, and one version of the Weak Little Man story was recorded on video 
by Francine Swift. They were transcribed by Montler and translated by him with the help of 
the late Klallam elders Beatrice Charles and Adeline Smith. Some of the translations were 
rechecked with Tom, himself. 

wətə́nəxə̣n, also called Slim by many of his friends and relatives, was born at the 
Klallam village at Deep Creek on the Olympic Peninsula before 1920. There were no 
records of his birth, and the Klallam people at the time did not celebrate birthdays, so he 
never really knew what year he was born. Someone told him he should be old enough for 
Canadian social assistance, so he applied and was assigned the arbitrary birth date of 
January 1, 1920. But his wife, Flora, was born before that, and she knew that he was almost 
a teenager when she was still a little girl.  

When wətə́nəxə̣n passed away in December of 1999, he left us not only with these 
narratives, but also with a wealth of information about the vocabulary, grammar, and use of 
the Klallam language. The Klallam Dictionary and Klallam Grammar would be much 
poorer without his contributions. mán̕ st ʔuʔ háʔnəŋ, siʔám̕, wətə́nəxə̣n. 

We divide the narratives here into three groups: traditional tales of the time when 
animals were people, anecdotes or conversations with his cousin c̕acmacút, Ed Sampson, 
Sr., who also told us many stories of his life in the Klallam language, and personal stories 
of wətə́nəx̣ən’s life.  The audio recordings for all of these narratives are available at 
klallamlanguage.org. 

As a preface to the narratives, we begin with two of the last things recorded by 
wətə́nəxə̣n. The first is, he said, his apology for letting the language go and his advice to 
generations following him. The second is wətə́nəxə̣n’s hope for the future of 
nəxʷsƛa̕yə̕m̕úcən. 

Now we let wətə́nəxə̣n and his stories speak for themselves. 

ɬəmtíyáčaʔ, Tim Montler, June 2023
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Preface 
 

Apology and Advice 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
June 6, 1999  ―  Apology&Advice.mp3 

háʔnəŋ cn kʷaʔčaʔ siʔám̕ nəsƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ ʔaʔ t 
n̕suʔyaʔyáʔnəŋ ʔaʔ tiə nəsqʷáy. 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít kʷaʔ ʔuʔəsɬáx̣ʷɬən ʔaʔ cə... 
ʔaʔ tiə nəsqʷáy nəsqʷáqʷiʔ 
nəxʷsƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcən ʔaw̕kʷɬmán̕ ʔuʔ híc ʔəɬ 
ʔáwənəs nək̕ʷɬqʷiʔnə́wi. 
xə̣́n̕ə kʷi ʔuʔ x̣čtín̕ yaʔ sʔiʔáyəxʷɬ 
ʔuʔnəxʷsƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcən yaʔ ʔəɬ qʷáʔqʷiʔəs. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsx̣čít ti ʔuʔƛú̕ƛ̕aʔ ʔaʔ tiə 
sqʷáy. 
sqʷáys yaʔ kʷə ʔən̕čičiyáŋən yaʔ. 
ʔuʔhúy yaʔ ʔuʔ sqʷáys yaʔ ti nəxʷsƛ̕áyə̕m̕. 
ʔáwə t ʔəć ʔuʔ húy. 
ʔuʔŋə́n̕ ʔəcɬtáyŋxʷ tiə níɬ ti ʔuʔskʷáʔs 
ʔuʔsqʷáys čəʔúʔwəs. 
ʔiʔ ʔáw kʷaʔ kʷéʔwən̕tiʔs. 
ʔuʔhúy ti suʔkʷənaŋ̕ítis ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ kʷi 
n-... či n-... sʔiʔáyəxʷ yaʔ, kʷi nəsʔiʔáyəxʷ 
yaʔ. 
ʔuʔhúy yaʔ ʔuʔ nsqʷiŋítəŋ. 
ʔáwə c níɬ n̕šəmán cə náʔc̕uʔ ʔcɬtáyŋxʷ. 
níɬ ʔuʔ n̕sčáʔčaʔ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ sxʷʔəý̕s či n̕sqʷin̕ə́w̕itxʷ. 
ʔəý̕ či n̕sqʷáy ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔəxʷ. 
ʔáwə c šaʔšəmán̕ti. 
ʔáwə c kʷéʔwən̕tiʔ. 
níɬ n̕suʔxạʔnáti. 

Thank you my dear children for listening to 
my words. 
I don't know if I am straight in... 
in my words talking the Klallam language 
because it has been a very long time that 
there has been nobody to have conversation 
with. 
All our elders I knew spoke Klallam when 
they talked. 
Therefore I know a little of this language. 
It is the language of your ancestors. 
It was the only language of the Klallams. 
It wasn't me alone. 
There were many Indians who used their 
own language. 
And they never were fighting. 
They only helped each other all the time, 
my... 
late elders, my late elders. 
They were the only ones that talked to me. 
Those other people are not your enemy. 
They are your friends. 
That's why it's good that you talk with 
them. 
Have good words when you speak. 
Don't be quarrelling with each other. 
Don't be fighting. 
Tell each other. 
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xə̣nʔátəŋ suʔkʷənaŋ̕íti ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ 
ʔən̕sčáy. 
húʔ caʔ cxʷ šə́wi... kʷaʔ šə́wiəxʷ ʔiʔ níɬ caʔ 
cxʷ ʔuʔ qʷáy ƛ̕áy. 
níɬ ʔaʔ či n̕skʷáʔ ʔn̕sƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
ʔaʔkʷústxʷ ʔaʔ tiə sqʷáys yaʔ kʷi 
n̕sčičiyáŋən yaʔ. 
ʔuʔhúy yaʔ ʔuʔ qʷáy sʔiʔáyəxʷɬ yaʔ tiə 
nəxʷsƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcən ʔəɬ k̕ʷənnə́kʷis. 
ʔáwənə ʔaʔ či náč̕. 
ʔuʔhúy st... 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕ st ʔuʔ ʔəcɬtáyŋxʷ. 
ƛx̕ʷiyús kʷaʔ čaʔiyáxʷ ʔaʔ či nə́c̕uʔ tə́ŋxʷ 
ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy cxʷ ʔuʔ ʔcɬtáyŋxʷ. 
ʔuʔhúy ʔuʔ náč̕ ti ʔən̕sqʷáy. 
sxʷʔiyá tə n̕s-... 
ʔáwənə nsx̣čít kʷaʔ ʔeʔéʔnts cə nə́c̕uʔ ɬ 
qʷáqʷiʔs ʔaw̕náč̕ cə sqʷáys. 
ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy ta ʔuʔ x̣ʷənʔáŋ ʔaʔ ɬníŋɬ 
ʔuʔəy̕cɬtáyŋxʷ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nsxʷsƛ̕éʔ ʔaʔ t nqʷinə́kʷi 
n̕sƛ̕aʔyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
nsɬkʷsə́wəs či ns̕mán̕ ʔuʔ ʔəý̕ ʔəcɬtáyŋxʷ 
kʷaʔ šə́wiʔəxʷ. 
k̕ʷə́nti cxʷ. 
ʔuʔáwə cxʷ c šaʔšəmán̕ti. 
kʷənaŋ̕íti cxʷ ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ n̕sčáy. 
ƛx̕ʷiyús kʷaʔ ʔuʔstáŋəs ʔən̕sqʷáy, ʔən̕sčáy. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔkʷənaŋ̕íti cxʷ ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ. 
húʔ yaʔ st tiə ʔuʔt̕ákʷi ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ 
cə tɬnáʔəč ʔiʔ níɬ suʔk̕ʷənnə́kʷiɬ ʔaʔ cə 
sčə́yaʔčaʔɬ ʔiyá ʔaʔéʔɬx̣ʷaʔ 
ʔiyá ʔaʔč̕ixʷícən. 

Tell them to help each other in everything 
they do. 
When you grow... 
When you grow, you will talk, too. 
It will be to your own children. 
Teach them that this language is your 
heritage. 
Our elders spoke only Klallam when they 
saw each other. 
There was nothing different. 
We only... 
We were all Indians. 
It doesn't matter if you are from another 
land; you are Indian, too. 
Only your language is different. 
It's where you... 
I don't know what one is saying when they 
are talking because it is a different 
language. 
They are Indians like we are. 
That's why I want to talk with your 
children. 
My descendant, you'll be a good person 
when you grow up. 
Look out for each other. 
Don't be quarrelling with each other. 
Help each other in everything you do. 
It doesn't matter what your language or job 
is. 
Always help one another. 
When we went across to the other side, we 
met with our relatives there at Elwha and at 
Port Angeles. 
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ʔiʔ ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕x̣in sxʷhiyáʔɬ ʔəɬ tə́sɬ ʔaʔ cə 
nə́c̕uʔ tə́ŋxʷ ʔiʔ ʔuʔ-... 
níɬ suʔč̕c̕ústiɬ. 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕ ʔəý̕ ti sx̣čŋíns ti sk̕ʷə́nnəŋɬ. 
twəw̕x̣̫ ənʔáŋ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔ tiə ʔáynəkʷ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsƛ̕éʔ ʔaʔ nə́kʷ či n̕smán̕ ʔuʔ 
ʔəý̕ ʔaʔyəcɬtáyŋxʷ kʷaʔ šə́wixʷ caʔ, 
nəsƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
níɬ cə ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕s nəsqʷáy. 
mán̕ cn ʔuʔ čəŋíkʷs ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔən. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nsxʷháʔnəc ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕. 
húʔ ʔəst̕áxɬ̣ či nsqʷáy ʔiʔ x̣áɬ caʔ nx̣čŋín. 
ʔáwənə nsx̣čít kʷaʔ yəcústən ʔaʔ či sʔst̕áxɬ̣ 
tiə nəsqʷáy. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔuʔ sx̣ə́nə̕s nəsqʷáy. 
húy kʷaʔčaʔ. 
 

and everywhere we went when we arrived 
at another land. 
Then we'd hug each other. 
Everyone was happy to see us. 
It's still like that today. 
And so I want you to be very good people 
when you grow up, my children. 
That's all I'm going to say. 
I'm very incapable when I talk. 
So I thank you all. 
If my words are wrong, I'll feel bad. 
I don't know if I tell you wrong when I 
talk. 
So that is all I have to say. 
It's finished. 

 
Getting the Language Back 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
June 6, 1999 ― GettingTheLanguageBack.mp3 

I'm sure glad to be here to try and help as 
much as I can ʔaʔ tiə sqʷáyɬ. 
kʷɬmán̕ st kʷaʔ ʔuʔ txʷƛ̕aʔp̕áy̕s. 
ʔi uʔƛi̕ʔáŋ st ʔaʔ či sx̣ʷən̕úʔəsəŋɬ ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy st 
huŋístxʷ tiə sqʷáyɬ yaʔ kʷɬkʷán. 
ʔuʔtxʷʔáwənə sx̣čítɬ kʷaʔ ʔuʔeʔéʔntɬ ʔəɬ 
qʷáqʷiʔəɬ. 
nəsƛ̕éʔ či nəsƛ̕áy ʔiyáʔnəxʷ tiə 
nəxʷsƛ̕áyə̕m̕ ʔəɬ qʷáys nəxʷsƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcən. 
kʷɬhíˑˑc ʔəɬ... ʔəɬ ʔuʔhúy tə nsuʔxʷanítəm 
ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔən. 

I'm sure glad to be here to try and help as 
much as I can on our language. 
We are very much feeling around. 
And we look for where to turn for a way to 
bring back again our language that was 
lost. 
It's getting so we don't know what we're 
saying when we talk. 
I want to hear the Klallam people speak the 
Klallam language again. 
It's been a long time that I've used only 
English when I speak. 
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níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsxʷčmə́y̕əq kʷaʔ tə ŋə́n̕ 
sqʷáyɬ. 
ʔuʔtxʷƛ̕iʔáʔt cn. 
nəsƛ̕éʔ či nsƛ̕áy ʔuʔ ʔənʔá ʔiyáʔnəxʷ. 
ʔiʔ níɬ caʔn nsuʔx̣čnáxʷ kʷaʔ ʔuʔsx̣ʷaʔníŋ̕s 
čtə ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔəɬ. 

That's why I forget a lot of our language. 
I'm looking for it. 
I want to come hear it, too. 
And then I'll find out how we talk. 
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sx̣̫ iʔám̕, Traditional Tales 
 
Bear and Raven 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
July 11, 1995 ― Bear&Raven.mp3 

ʔuʔšə́təŋ̕ cə ščqʷáʔič. 
suʔƛk̕ʷnáxʷs cə sčánənəxʷ. 
suʔt̕k̕ʷístxʷs. 
suʔq̕ʷə́yəŋs. 
níɬ suʔtə́s ʔaʔ sk̕ʷtúʔ. 
suʔxə̣nátəŋs ʔaʔ sčqʷáʔič caw̕niɬ sk̕ʷtúʔ, 
“ʔəý̕ či n̕suʔəɬáʔ. 
txʷʔíɬən caʔ cxʷ ʔaʔ cə nəsq̕ʷə́yəŋ ʔiʔ 
čaʔhiyáʔ cxʷ t̕úk̕ʷ.” 
“óˑˑ ʔəý̕ kʷi. 
ʔuʔáɬaʔ caʔn ŋaʔk̕ʷaʔcút ʔaʔ tə n̕sʔíɬən kʷaʔ 
q̕ʷə́yəs caʔ.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔk̕ʷən̕tíŋs̕ ʔaʔ cə sk̕ʷtúʔ caw̕niɬ 
ščqʷáʔič. 
níɬ č̕ suʔiyá cə ščqʷáʔič. 
suʔkʷúkʷucts x̣ʷən̕áŋ ʔaʔ t ɬáʔ. 
kʷaʔkʷíw̕cct kʷaʔčaʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔəɬt̕íq̕əŋ cə cáyss cə sčqʷáʔič. 
suʔc̕qə́̕ŋs cə smə́cs náw̕əɬ ʔaʔ cə č̕áw̕iʔs 
kʷaʔ 
ʔuʔstáŋəs yaʔ čtə. 
níɬ č̕ suʔhúys. 
suʔəč̕císəŋs. 
ʔiʔ ƛk̕ʷə́ts cə sq̕ʷə́yəŋs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔíɬəns. 
ʔəɬənístəŋ cə sk̕ʷtúʔ. 
húy č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ cə sʔéʔɬən̕s. 

Bear was walking. 
He got a salmon. 
He brought it home. 
He cooked it. 
Then Raven got there. 
Bear told Raven, 
“It's good that you are here. 
You'll get to eat my barbecue before you 
go home. 
I'll stay here and wait until your food is 
done. 
Then Bear was being watched by Raven. 
So Bear was there. 
So he warmed himself like this. 
He was warming himself. 
Then Bear's hands got warm. 
His fat dripped into his dish, whatever it 
was. 
Then he was finished. 
So he wiped his hands. 
And he took his barbecue. 
Then he ate. 
He fed Raven. 
They finished what they were eating. 
Then Raven said, “Oh, I feel good. 
Thank you for the good food. 
So now it will be my turn. 
You be the one to come to my house. 
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níɬ suʔxə̣́nəŋ ʔaʔ sk̕ʷtúʔ, “óˑˑ mán̕ ʔuʔ ʔəý̕ 
nəx̣čŋín. 
háʔnəŋ cn ʔaʔ cə ʔəý̕ n̕sʔíɬən. 
kʷɬənʔ̕əć caʔ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
š... nə́kʷtxʷ ʔənʔá ʔaʔ cə nʔáʔiŋ. 
ƛá̕y caʔn ʔuʔ kʷúkʷ. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔiyá cxʷ cə n̕čʔíɬən.” 
níɬ suʔánɬ ʔaʔ sčqʷáʔič. 
“ʔuʔhiyáʔ caʔn ʔuʔtə́s ʔaʔ kʷsə nʔ̕áʔiŋ. 
ʔiyá caʔ či nsʔíɬən.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔq̕ʷə́yəŋ ʔaʔ sk̕ʷtúʔ ʔaʔ cə sčánnəxʷ 
ƛ̕áy. 
níɬ č̕ suʔq̕ʷə́ys cə skʷúkʷ ʔaʔ sk̕ʷtúʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣ʷaʔx̣ʷáʔts cə sčqʷáʔič. 
ʔiyá č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
kʷúkʷuct ƛ̕áy ʔaʔ cə čə́q sčə́qʷəwc. 
ʔuʔáxə̣ŋ ʔi ʔuʔčičə́qʷ č̕ kʷaʔ kʷi sƛ̕q̕áʔis 
yaʔ. 
ʔəẃ̕k̫̕  kʷaʔ. 
ʔuʔáwənə smə́cs cq̕̕ə́ŋ. 
níɬ č̕ kʷaʔ suʔ-... kʷaʔ ʔuʔstáŋəs yaʔ čtə 
kʷaʔ q̕ʷúys u kʷə sk̕ʷtúʔ yaʔ. 
x̣ʷaʔx̣ʷáʔts cə sčqʷáʔič. 

I will cook, too. 
And you'll eat there.” 
So Bear agreed. 
“I will go 
and get to your house. 
I'll eat there.” 
Then Raven barbecued a salmon, too. 
Then Raven's cooking was done. 
Then he was imitating Bear. 
He was there. 
He warmed himself again on the big fire. 
He was doing that and his feathers caught 
on fire. 
It was all gone. 
He had no fat to drip. 
So then... whatever it was, if Raven died. 
He was imitating Bear. 
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Flea 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
September 24, 1993 ― Flea.mp3 

nə́c̕uʔ yaʔ k̕ʷəč̕ə́c̕. 
ʔiʔ mán̕ ʔuʔ sx̣aʔsíkʷən. 
ʔáwə č̕ yaʔ kʷaʔ qqíŋs st̕áŋ̕k̕ʷ ʔaʔ ti néʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔt̕iyəmtástəŋs ʔaʔ cə néʔ 
sq̕ʷaʔháʔuŋ̕əxʷ kʷaʔ stáŋəs yaʔ čtə. 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣ənʔátəŋs, “hiyáʔ či qqíŋ, 
mə́kʷənʔaʔ.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣ə́nəŋ ʔaʔ k̕ʷə́č̕aʔc̕, “náʔ, ʔáwə cn. 
ʔáwə cn. 
níɬ kʷaʔ ŋəyə́q̕ʷ, ŋəyə́q̕ʷən.” 

There was one flea. 
He was very mean. 
He wouldn't play and mix in with the 
others. 
So those that he was among sang to him, 
whatever they were. 
So they told him, “Go play, hunched-up.” 
Then Flea said, “I won't. 
I won't. 
I might burst, burst.” 

 
Flea Song (first version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
September 24, 1993 ― FleaSong-1.mp3 

hiyáʔ či qəqíŋ, mə́kʷənʔaʔ. 
hiyáʔ či qəqíŋ, mə́kʷənʔaʔ. 
naʔ ʔáwə cn. 
ʔáwə cn. 
níɬ kʷaʔ ŋəyə́q̕ʷən, 
ŋəyə́q̕ʷ 

Go play, flea. 
Go play, Flea. 
I won't. 
I won't. 
I might burst. 
Burst. 

 
Flea Song (second version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 9, 1995 ― FleaSong-2.mp3 

ʔənʔá či qəqíŋ, mə́kʷənʔaʔ. 
nʔá, ʔáwə cn. ʔáwə cn. 
níɬ kʷaʔ ŋəyə́q̕ʷən, ŋəyə́q̕ʷ. 

Come play, Flea. 
Come, I won't. I won't. 
I'll get burst, burst. 
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Mink and Kelp (first version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
September 22, 1993 ― Mink&Kelp-1.mp3 

ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít kʷaʔ ʔaʔstúʔŋəts yaʔ kʷi 
mə́šču kʷéʔwən̕ti č̕ ʔiʔ cə q̕ʷq̕ʷúʔəŋ̕ kʷaʔ 
stáŋəs yaʔ čtə či skʷaʔwəntiʔícts caw̕náʔiɬ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtə̕ŋúʔəŋs ʔúx̣ʷnəs cə q̕ʷq̕ʷúʔəŋ̕. 
ʔiʔ nəxʷx̣áƛə̕ŋ č ̕cə sxʷʔiyás. 
x̣áƛə̕ŋ. suʔtə̕ŋúʔəŋs ʔúx̣̫ nəs cə q̕ʷq̕ʷúʔəŋ̕. 
sƛ̕éʔs či sq̕ʷúčts. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔx̣ʷə́yəq̕ʷtəŋs. 
hiyáʔ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔxʷə́y̕q̕ʷtəŋ̕. 
níɬ suʔáxə̣ŋs yaʔ, “kʷɬənʔ̕iʔɬáɬuʔ cxʷ 
kʷaʔčaʔ. 
kʷaʔnéʔŋət cxʷ ʔiʔɬáɬuʔ.” 
ʔiʔ ʔáwə č̕ tə c níɬ cə q̕ʷq̕ʷúʔəŋ̕ 
ʔiʔkʷaʔnéʔŋət. 
ʔuʔníɬ č̕ ʔuʔ ʔiʔx̣ʷə́y̕q̕ʷ txʷiʔhəwíyŋstəŋ. 
txʷaʔyíy̕ č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ čaʔx̣čnás ʔaʔ či sníɬs 
ʔuʔ x̣ʷə́yəq̕ʷtəŋ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔt̕áns. 
ʔuʔxə̣́n̕. 
níɬ suʔxə̣́nə̕s x̣čtín̕. 

I don't know what Mink was doing, but he 
was fighting Kelp or whatever it was. 
He swam after Kelp. 
And there was a swift tide where they 
were. 
It was swift. So he swam after Kelp. 
He wanted to beat him up. 
And so they were drifted. 
They went drifting away. 
Then he said, “You're running away. 
You're running away.” 
But it wasn't Kelp that was running. 
He was the one drifting backwards. 
He was drifted far before he figured it out. 
Then he went ashore. 
That's all. 
That's all I know. 

 
Mink and Kelp (second version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 16, 1995 ― Mink&Kelp-2.mp3 
 
kʷéʔwən̕tiʔ č̕ cə mə́šču ʔaʔ cə q̕ʷq̕ʷúʔəŋ̕. 
níɬ č̕ suʔt̕áčq̕ ʔaʔ mə́šču. 
níɬ suʔxə̣nʔáxʷ, “ʔənʔá caʔn túi ʔux̣ʷnúŋəs. 
q̕ʷúčc caʔn.” 

Mink was fighting with Kelp. 
Then Mink got mad. 
Then he said, “I'm going to come across to 
get you. 
I'm going to beat you up.” 



The Klallam Narratives of wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 

13 
 

níɬ č̕ suʔtə̕ŋúʔəŋ ʔaʔ mə́šču ʔúx̣ʷnəs cə 
q̕ʷq̕ʷúʔəŋ̕. 
ʔiʔ... ʔiʔ štə́ŋ cə... cə... qʷúʔ. 
ʔiʔ t̕áʔŋəɬ čtə wuʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtə̕ŋúʔəŋ ʔaʔ mə́šču ʔúx̣ʷnəs cə 
q̕ʷq̕ʷúʔəŋ̕. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔx̣ʷə́yəq̕ʷtəŋ. 
ʔiʔx̣ʷə́yq̕̕ʷtəŋ̕ cə mə́šču. 
ʔiʔ x̣čŋín ʔaʔ či sníɬs cə q̕ʷq̕ʷúʔəŋ̕ 
ʔiʔkʷaʔnéʔŋət 
ʔiʔɬáɬuʔ sáʔsiʔsiʔ. 
x̣čŋíns ʔaʔ či sáʔsiʔsiʔ cə q̕ʷq̕ʷúʔəŋ̕ ʔiʔ 
ʔuʔníɬ č̕ tə ʔuʔ ʔiʔx̣ʷə́y̕q̕ʷtəŋ ̕
caw̕niɬ mə́šču. 

Then Mink swam after Kelp. 
And… And it walked, the... water 
And the tide probably came in. 
Then Mink swam after Kelp. 
And then he was drifted. 
Mink was being drifted. 
He thought it was Kelp that was running 
away afraid. 
He thought he was afraid but it was Mink 
that was being drifted. 
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Mink and Octopus (first version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
September 29, 1993 ― Mink&Octopus-1.mp3 

šə́təŋ̕ č̕ cə st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕. 
ƛi̕ʔáʔəŋ̕ ʔaʔ či swə́y̕qaʔs. 
ʔiʔ mán̕ č̕ ʔuʔx̣aʔx̣éʔsiʔ. 
ʔáwənə č̕ cán sƛ̕éʔ ʔaw̕smán̕s ʔuʔ 
x̣aʔx̣éʔsiʔ. 
ʔuʔxə̣́n̕ č̕ tə suʔwə́y̕qaʔ ʔuʔ čxʷaʔtín̕. 
níɬ suʔšə́təŋs̕ ʔuʔƛi̕ʔáʔəŋ̕. 
ʔiʔ kʷɬtə́s cə mə́šču sʔiʔšə́təŋ̕s. 
tə́s cə mə́šču. 
suʔč̕c̕ústs. 
x̣íŋts ʔiʔ č̕c̕ústs ʔiʔ č̕ixʷáss ʔaʔ cə ʔáʔyəŋs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtxʷaʔəsčə́̕y̕xʷ ʔaʔ cə ʔáʔyəŋs. 
suʔkʷáčəŋ ʔaʔ mə́šču, “šatatáˑˑ kʷaʔ táməx̣s 
wuʔ.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔhiyáʔ ʔaʔ st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕ ƛ̕iʔáŋ ʔaʔ či 
táməx̣. 
níɬ suʔƛá̕ys həwíyŋ. 
suʔɬaʔnítəŋ̕s cə sx̣ə́naʔ ʔaʔ mə́šču. 
ɬaʔnítəŋ̕ ʔaʔ cə táməx̣. 
suʔtxʷaʔəsɬéʔɬəns. 
txʷaʔəsqéʔəq̕. 
níɬ č̕ suʔhiyáʔs sqíyŋ ʔaʔ... sqéʔməq̕, 
st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕. 
ƛi̕ʔáŋ ʔaʔ či sʔíɬəns sʔəɬnístxʷs cə 
swə́y̕qaʔs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtxʷaʔəsáqɬs ʔaʔ st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕. 
níɬ č̕ suʔq̕əm̕q̕ə́mə̕təŋs ʔaʔ mə́šču cə 
táməx̣s. 
ʔəsqéʔəq̕s yaʔ. ʔiʔ níɬ suʔƛi̕w̕núŋəts. 
níɬ suʔ-...  

Octopus was walking. 
She was searching for a husband. 
She was very ugly. 
Nobody wanted her because she was too 
ugly. 
All the men disliked her. 
So she was walking and searching. 
And Mink go there walking. 
Mink got there. 
So she hugged him. 
She grabbed him, she hugged him, and she 
put him into her house. 
So he ended up in her house. 
So Mink hollered, “Oh my goodness, I 
wonder if it's eelgrass.” 
Then Octopus went to look for eelgrass. 
Then she came back again. 
So she tied up Mink's feet. 
He was tied up with eelgrass. 
So he became tied up. 
He became a prisoner. 
Then she went out... 
Octopus 
She looked for food to feed her husband. 
Then Octopus was outside. 
Then Mink cut off the eelgrass 
that bound him. And then he escaped. 
That's 
what I know of the story. 
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ʔuʔx̣čtín̕ ʔaʔ cə sx̣ʷiʔám̕. 
 
Mink and Octopus (second version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 17, 1995 ― Mink&Octopus-2.mp3 

ƛi̕ʔáŋ č̕ cə st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕ ʔaʔ či swə́y̕qaʔ. 
šə́təŋ̕ ƛ̕iʔáʔəŋ̕. 
mán̕ ʔuʔ x̣aʔx̣éʔsi tsaw̕niɬ. 
ʔiʔ sxʷaʔtín̕ č̕ ʔaʔ či suʔwə́y̕qaʔ ʔəɬ 
k̕ʷə́nəŋənəs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣áɬs ti x̣čŋíns ƛi̕ʔáʔts či swə́y̕qaʔ či 
ʔuʔsƛ̕éʔ caʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtə́ss ʔaʔ mə́šču. 
suʔč̕c̕ústs cə mə́šču. 
ʔiʔ ƛ̕kʷə́ts. 
ʔiʔ č̕ixʷás ʔaʔ cə ʔáʔyəŋs. 
txʷaʔəsčə́̕y̕xʷ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ cə ʔáʔiŋs caw̕niɬ 
st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕. 
níɬ č̕ suʔkʷáčəŋ ʔaʔ mə́šču. 
šatatáˑˑ kʷaʔ táməx̣s q wuʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔsqíyŋ ʔaʔ st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕. 
suʔƛk̕ʷnáxʷs cə táməx̣s. 
suʔqəy̕q̕ítəŋs cə sx̣ə́naʔ ʔaʔ mə́šču. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtxʷaʔəsqéʔyəq̕s. 
ʔiʔ hiyáʔ ƛ̕áy sqíyŋ caw̕niɬ st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕. 
ƛi̕ʔáŋ ʔaʔ či sʔíɬəns ʔəɬənístxʷ cə x̣áw̕əs 
swə́y̕qaʔs. 
twaw̕ʔəsáqɬ kʷaʔčaʔ caw̕niɬ st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔqə̕mə́̕təŋs ʔaʔ mə́šču cə táməx̣s 
sxʷiʔsqéʔəq̕s yaʔ. 
suʔƛi̕w̕núŋəts kʷə hiyáʔ kʷaʔ ƛ̕íw̕. 
ɬáw̕. 
mə́šču. 

Octopus was looking for a man. 
She was walking, searching. 
She (Octopus) was very ugly. 
And she was disliked by the men that 
looked at her. 
So she felt bad looking for a man that 
would like her. 
Then Mink got there. 
She hugged Mink. 
And she took him. 
She took him into her house. 
They got inside Octopus's house. 
Then Mink hollered. 
Oh, no, I wonder if it would be eelgrass! 
Then Octopus went out. 
So she got the eelgrass. 
So she tied up Mink's legs. 
So he became her prisoner. 
And Octopus went out again. 
She looked for food to feed her new 
husband. 
Octopus was still outside. 
And then Mink broke the eelgrass that was 
binding him. 
He managed escape and run away. 
He escaped. 
Mink 
He escaped. 
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ɬáw̕. 
 
Mink and Octopus (third version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
June 6, 1999 ― Mink&Octopus-3.mp3 

hiyáʔ šə́təŋ̕ cə st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕. 
ƛi̕ʔáʔəŋ̕ ʔaʔ či swə́y̕qaʔs. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔxə̣́n̕ ti suʔáw̕əs ʔuʔ sxʷaʔtín̕ 
ʔaw̕sxʷmán̕s ʔuʔ x̣aʔx̣éʔsiʔ. 
ʔsč̕úʔsəŋ̕ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ cə suʔáw̕əs suʔwə́y̕qaʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtə́ss ʔaʔ mə́šču. 
suʔč̕ə́yəxʷs ʔaʔ cə ʔáʔiŋs cə st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔƛk̕ʷnáŋs. 
suʔ-... ʔiʔ sƛ̕éʔs kʷaʔčaʔ či shiyáʔs ƛ̕iʔáŋ 
ʔaʔ či sʔəɬnístxʷs cə swə́y̕qaʔs mə́šču. 
níɬ č̕ suʔkʷáčəŋ ʔaʔ mə́šču, “šatatáˑˑ kʷaʔ 
táməx̣s q wuʔ.” 
sáʔsiʔsiʔ č̕ kʷaʔ táməx̣s či sxʷqq̕sə́ntəŋs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔƛi̕ʔáŋ ʔaʔ st̕íx̣̫ aʔc̕ či táməx̣. 
suʔɬanítəŋs. 
qq̕ítəŋ... qq̕ítəŋ cə sx̣ə́naʔs cə cáys. 
níɬ kʷə suʔhiyáʔs ƛ̕iʔáŋ ʔaʔ či sʔəɬnístxʷ cə 
xə̣́w̕əs swə́y̕qaʔs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔsqíyŋ ʔaʔ st̕íx̣ʷaʔc̕. 
suʔqə̕mə́̕təŋs cə mə́šču ʔaʔ cə táməx̣s. 
suʔƛí̕w̕s yaʔ. 
ƛa̕ʔƛi̕w̕núŋət. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕s. 

Octopus went walking. 
She was searching for a husband. 
All the men disliked her because she was 
very ugly. 
The men and young men were repelled. 
Then Mink got there. 
He went into Octopus's house. 
And so she grabbed him. 
So… And she wanted to go look for 
something to feed her husband Mink. 
So Mink hollered, “Oh my goodness, I 
wonder if it's eelgrass.” 
He was afraid that his legs would be tied 
up with eel grass. 
Then Octopus looked for eel grass. 
So he was tied up. 
He was tied up... 
She tied up his feet and hands. 
Then she went to look for something to 
feed her new husband. 
Then Octopus went out. 
Mink broke the eelgrass. 
So he got away. 
He managed to get away. 
That's all. 
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Mink and Wolf (first version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
September 22, 1993 ― Mink&Wolf-1.mp3 

hiyáʔ č̕ yaʔ ƛ̕ácu cə mə́šču. 
suʔtsnə́ss cə ŋə́n̕ kʷítšən. 
ʔuʔxə̣́n̕ č̕ ʔuʔ xʷéʔtəŋ̕ cə kʷaʔyítšən. 
ʔəstásɬ ʔaʔ cə sx̣cáʔi. 
níɬ suʔt̕t̕éʔims̕ kʷə níɬ yaʔ caw̕niɬ mə́šču. 
xə̣n̕áts č ̕cə sčánnəxʷ kʷaʔ xʷítəŋs hiyáʔ 
q̕ʷíŋi. 
ʔiʔ tsə́ct ʔaʔ cə sx̣cáʔi. 
níɬ č̕ suʔxʷéʔtəŋ̕s caw̕niɬ sčánənəxʷ. 
xʷéʔtəŋ̕ č̕. 
ʔi ʔuʔxʷéʔtəŋ̕ ʔi ʔuʔq̕ʷíŋi. 
hiyáʔ č̕ q̕ʷíŋi. 
txʷaʔ-... txʷaʔiyá ʔaʔ cə sx̣cáʔi. 
níɬ č̕ suʔkʷənəŋútnəss ʔiʔ šišč̕éʔqʷts. 
níɬ č̕ suʔq̕ʷúynəxʷs cə sčánnəxʷ, kʷaʔ 
kʷítšəns yaʔ čtə stáŋəs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔɬíc̕s. 
k̕ʷíc̕ts. 
suʔq̕ʷə́yəŋs. 
q̕ʷə́yəŋ č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ. 
x̣ʷənʔáŋ̕ č̕. 
níɬ č̕ suʔq̕ʷə́ys cə skʷúkʷs. 
níɬ suʔqʷáqʷiʔs, “stáŋ ixʷ caʔ ʔuč či sʔíɬəns 
či siʔám̕. 
stáŋ caʔ ʔuč či ŋút tiə siʔám̕ či nəsʔíɬən.” 
ʔuʔáxə̣ŋ, “či sq̕ʷúŋiʔ q u? 
ʔíˑˑ máʔmən̕ q kʷi wuʔ ʔuʔ nəsʔíɬən. 
máʔmən q wuʔ ʔuʔ nəsʔíɬən.” 
níɬ suʔxə̣́nəŋs, “ʔuʔníɬ ixʷ caʔ cə sx̣ə́p̕šəns 
ŋútn. 

Mink went fishing. 
He got to where there's lots of salmon. 
The salmon were all jumping. 
They were close to the grass. 
He told the salmon to jump out of the 
water. 
And go near the weeds. 
So the salmon were jumping. 
They were jumping. 
They were jumping out of the water. 
They went out of the water. 
They got into the weeds. 
So he runs after them, and he clubs them 
on the head. 
So he managed to kill the salmon, chinooks 
or whatever they were. 
Then they were cut. 
He butchered them. 
He barbecued them. 
It cooked. 
It was like that. 
Then what he was cooking was done. 
Then he said, “What should this rich 
person eat? 
What will this rich person eat for my 
food?” 
He said, “Should it be the head? 
Oh, that's a little too much for me to eat.” 
“It's a little too much for me to eat.” 
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ʔíˑˑ, máʔmən q kʷi wuʔ nəsʔíɬən.” 
ʔi ʔuʔáxə̣ŋ č ̕ʔi ʔuʔtsnə́səŋ ʔaʔ cə stáʔčəŋ. 
ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ suʔətúttəŋs ʔaʔ cə stáʔčəŋ č ̕kʷə. 
suʔ-... 
níɬ č̕ suʔítts. 
suʔŋaŋútəŋs kʷaʔ cə skʷúkʷs yaʔ ʔaʔ cə 
stáʔčəŋ. 
húynəŋ č ̕cə skʷúkʷs yaʔ. 
ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ suʔƛk̕ʷə́təŋs ʔaʔ stáʔčəŋ cə néʔ 
sɬíqʷs. 
suʔɬə́məx̣ʷtəŋs cə čə́nəss. 
ƛq̕̕ʷə́təŋ cə sc̕úm ̕ʔaʔ cə čə́nəss. 
c̕ə́č č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ caw̕niɬ mə́šču. 
níɬ suʔáxə̣ŋs, “óˑˑ, ŋút ixʷ cn kʷaʔ kʷi 
nskʷúkʷ yaʔ. 
ʔáwənə kʷaʔ. 
ʔuʔŋút ixʷ cn kʷaʔ.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔƛk̕ʷnáxʷs cə scú̕m̕ ʔiʔ cə néʔ 
sɬíqʷs ʔəsƛ̕áq̕ʷɬ ʔaʔ cə čə́nəss. 
“ʔuʔŋút ixʷ cn kʷə kʷi nəskʷúkʷ yaʔ.” 
ʔiʔ ʔáwə č̕ ta c níɬ ŋút. 
níɬ č̕ cə stáʔčəŋ ŋaŋút kʷaʔ kʷi sʔíɬəns yaʔ. 
x̣čŋíns ʔaʔ či suʔníɬs ʔuʔ ŋút. 
níɬ suʔ-...  
kʷaʔčaʔ ʔuʔsx̣ə́nə̕s. 

So he said, “I guess it will be the tail that 
I'll eat. 
Oh, that's a little too much for me to eat.” 
He was going on until Wolf came toward 
him. 
Then he was put to sleep by Wolf. 
So he went to sleep. 
What he cooked was eaten up by Wolf. 
He finished what he had cooked. 
Then Wolf took what was left of the meat. 
And he smeared his teeth. 
He stuck a bone in his teeth. 
Then Mink woke up. 
So he said, “Oh, I must have eaten what I 
cooked. 
There's no more. 
I must have eaten it.” 
Then he took the bone and meat stuck on 
his teeth. 
“I must have eaten what I cooked.” 
But he wasn't the one that ate it. 
It was Wolf that ate up his food. 
He thought it was himself who ate it. 
That's... 
all, then. 

 
Mink and Wolf (second version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 1, 1995 ― Mink&Wolf-2.mp3 

šə́təŋ̕ č̕ cə mə́šču qt̕úcən ʔaʔ cə cácu. 
ŋə́ˑˑn̕ č̕ sčánnəxʷ xʷéʔtəŋ̕. 
níɬ č̕ suʔáxə̣ŋs cəw̕niɬ mə́šču, “ʔiʔq̕ʷíŋi iq 
či nə́c̕uʔ. 

Mink was walking along the edge of the 
water on the beach. 
There were lots of salmon jumping. 



The Klallam Narratives of wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 

19 
 

xʷítəŋ iq q̕ʷíŋi či nə́c̕uʔ.” 
ʔiʔ cəʔéʔt č̕ ʔuʔ xʷítəŋ cə nə́c̕uʔ. 
ʔiʔ txʷaʔiyá ʔaʔ cə cácu. 
suʔníɬs č ̕suʔhiyáʔs ʔiʔ ƛ̕kʷə́ts ʔiʔ q̕ʷčúts. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔčə́qʷucs. 
ɬíc̕ts cə kʷítšən kʷaʔ ʔuʔstáŋəs čtə. 
níɬ č̕ suʔčə́qʷucs ʔiʔ q̕ʷə́yəŋ̕. 
txʷaʔsyáyəct cə sq̕ʷə́yəŋs. 
níɬ suʔaʔáʔməts. 
ʔiʔ qʷáqʷi cəw̕niɬ mə́šču, “stáŋ q cs ʔuč či 
sʔíɬəns či siʔám̕? 
sq̕ʷúŋi iq u? 
ʔíˑˑ mán̕ q̕ kʷi ʔuʔ maʔ... máʔmən̕ kʷaʔ 
ʔuʔíɬəns či siʔám̕. 
stáŋ ixʷ cxʷ ʔuč či sʔíɬəns či siʔám̕? 
níɬ yəxʷ cə ʔuč cə sx̣ə́p̕šəns. 
ʔíˑˑ máʔmən̕ q̕ wuʔ sʔíɬəns či siʔám̕.” 
ʔuʔáxə̣ŋ č ̕ʔi ʔuʔtsnə́səŋ ʔaʔ cə stáʔčəŋ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔətúttəŋs ʔaʔ cə stáʔčəŋ kʷaʔ sítəŋs 
yaʔ čtə. 
níɬ č̕ suʔəttnúŋət ʔaʔ mə́šču. 
níɬ č̕ kʷə suʔŋaŋútəŋs kʷi sq̕ʷə́yəŋs yaʔ s-... 
skʷúkʷs yaʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔɬúyŋs ʔaʔ cə stáʔčəŋ. 
suʔ-... suʔhúys cə stáʔčəŋ sʔéʔɬən̕s. 
níɬ č̕ suʔ-... 
ƛə́̕q̕ʷtəŋ̕ cə sc̕úm ̕ʔiʔ cə néʔ sɬíqʷs cə 
sčánnəxʷs yaʔ skʷúkʷs yaʔ ʔaʔ cə čə́nəss. 
ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ suʔɬúyŋs ʔaʔ cəw̕niɬ stáʔčəŋ. 
suʔc̕ə́č ʔaʔ mə́šču. 
suʔqʷáys, “ʔuʔŋút ixʷ cn kʷaʔ kʷi 
nəskʷúkʷ yaʔ kʷi nəsq̕ʷə́yəŋ yaʔ.” 
nəstaʔč kʷi nəs-... sčánnəxʷ yaʔ nəsq̕ʷə́yəŋ. 

Then Mink said, “I wish one would leave 
the water. 
I wish one would jump out of the water.” 
And one really did jump. 
And it ended up there on the beach. 
Then he went and he took it and he killed 
it. 
Then he built a fire. 
He sliced the king salmon or whatever it 
was. 
Then he built a fire and cooked. 
His cooking became ready. 
Then he sat down. 
Mink said, “What will be the food for the 
important person. 
Might it be the head? 
Oh, that would be too... 
much to eat for a gentleman. 
What will you eat for a gentleman. 
Maybe it should be its tail. 
Oh, it's a little too much for a gentleman.” 
He was saying that when he was 
approached by Wolf. 
He was put to sleep by Wolf, however he 
did it. 
Then Mink was finally put to sleep. 
Then he gobbled up his barbecue, 
what he had cooked. 
Then Wolf left. 
So Wolf finished eating. 
Then... 
A bone of the leftover meat of the salmon 
he had cooked was stuck to his teeth. 
Then Wolf left him. 
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níɬ č̕ suʔƛá̕ys kʷaʔ ʔəstúʔŋəts yaʔ cə 
ʔəsnáw̕ɬs ʔaʔ či snéʔs či sc̕úm ̕ʔiyá 
ʔəsƛ̕áq̫̕ ɬ ʔaʔ cə čə́nəss. 
ʔiʔ suʔáxə̣ŋs, “ʔuʔŋút yəxʷ cn kʷaʔ kʷi 
nəsq̕ʷə́yəŋ yaʔ nəsčánnəxʷ. 
ʔáwənə kʷaʔ.” 
níɬ nəsuʔxə̣́n̕s x̣čtín̕ ʔaʔ cə sx̣ʷiʔám̕s yaʔ ʔaʔ 
kʷ stáʔčəŋ. 
 

Then Mink woke up. 
Then he said, “I must have eaten the 
barbecue that I cooked. 
the salmon that I cooked.” 
Then again what was the left-over bone 
doing stuck in his teeth. 
Then he said, “I must have eaten my 
barbecued salmon. 
It's gone.” 
That's all I know of the story about Wolf. 

 
Mink and Wolf (third version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
June 5, 1996 ― Mink&Wolf-3.mp3 

šə́təŋ̕ ʔiʔq̕túcən cə mə́šču ʔaʔ cə cácu. 
ʔiʔ kʷɬk̕ʷə́nəs cə ŋə́n̕ sčánnəxʷ xʷéʔtəŋ̕ ʔiyá 
ʔaʔ cə qʷúʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔqʷáys, “ʔiʔ ʔənʔá qi̕ nəsq̕ʷíŋ yəxʷ 
či nə́c̕uʔ. 
ʔiʔ nəsʔíɬən ʔaʔ kʷi nəsʔíɬən.” 
ʔuʔáxə̣ŋ čaʔčáy ʔi ʔuʔxʷítəŋ cə nə́c̕uʔ 
kʷítšən. 
ʔiʔ q̕ʷíŋ... q̕ʷíŋi ʔuʔkʷənəŋútnəsəŋ cə 
mə́šču ʔiʔ ƛ̕kʷə́ts. 
ʔiʔ q̕ʷčúts. 
ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ suʔk̕ʷíc̕ts. 
ʔiʔ skʷúkʷs. 
kʷúkʷ q̕ʷə́yəŋ č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ. 
k̕ʷəntís cə sq̕ʷə́yəŋs. 
níɬ suʔqʷáqʷiʔs, “stáŋ caʔ či sʔíɬəns či 
siʔám̕? 
níɬ yəxʷ cə sq̕ʷúŋiʔs, u? 
ʔíˑˑ máʔmən̕ q̕ wuʔ sʔíɬəns. 

Mink was walking along the beach. 
And he saw lots of salmon jumping there in 
the water. 
He said, “One will come and I'll take it out 
of the water. 
It will be the food that I eat. 
He was saying that when one spring salmon 
jumped. 
and it came out... 
It came out of the water. 
Mink ran after it and he grabbed it. 
He killed it. 
And then he butchered it. 
And he cooked it. 
He barbecued it. 
He watched his barbecue. 
Then he said, “What is this rich man going 
to eat? 
I guess it'll be the head, eh?” 
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stáŋ yəxʷ caʔ ʔuč či sʔíɬəns či siʔám̕? 
níɬ yəxʷ caʔ ʔuč cə sx̣ə́p̕šəns? 
ʔíˑˑ máʔmən̕ kʷi wuʔ sʔíɬəns caʔ.” 
ʔuʔáxə̣ŋ č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ ʔi ʔuʔtsnə́səŋ ʔaʔ cə 
stáʔčəŋ. 
stqáy... stáʔčəŋ. 
níɬ suʔətúttəŋs ʔaʔ cə stáʔčəŋ. 
níɬ č̕ ʔítt cəw̕niɬ mə́šču. 
níɬ suʔŋaŋútəŋs kʷə kʷi sq̕ʷə́yəŋs yaʔ. 
húynəŋ č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ cə sʔíɬəns sq̕ʷə́yəŋs yaʔ 
ʔaʔ cə stáʔčəŋ. 
ƛk̕ʷə́təŋ cə sc̕úm ̕ʔiʔ ƛ̕q̕ʷə́təŋ ʔaʔ cə čə́nəss 
ʔaʔ mə́šču. 
suʔɬúyŋs. 
c̕ə́čct kʷaʔčaʔ cəw̕niɬ mə́šču. 
níɬ suʔƛi̕ʔáʔts kʷi sʔíɬəns skʷúkʷs yaʔ ʔiʔ 
ʔáwənə č̕ kʷaʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔqʷáys, “ʔuʔŋút yəxʷ cn kʷaʔ kʷi 
nəskʷúkʷ yaʔ, nəsq̕ʷə́yəŋ yaʔ.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔɬŋáss cə sc̕úms̕ ʔəsčáč̕ɬ ʔaʔ cə 
čə́nəss. 
níɬ suʔƛá̕ys sqʷáys, “óˑˑŋút yəxʷ cn kʷaʔ 
kʷi nəsq̕ʷə́yəŋ yaʔ. 
ʔəý̕ yaʔ nəsʔíɬən.” 
ʔuʔáxə̣ŋ č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ʔi ʔuʔníɬ ʔuʔ sx̣ə́nə̕s x̣čtín̕ ʔaʔ cə sqʷáys 
yaʔ kʷi nəsʔáyəxʷ nəcə́t yaʔ. 
 

Oh, that's a little too much food. 
What might the rich man eat? 
Maybe it should be the tail. 
Oh, that's a little too much food.” 
He was saying that and he was approached 
by Wolf. 
Then he was put to sleep by Wolf. 
So Mink went to sleep. 
Then he gobbled up his barbecue. 
The food he had cooked was finished by 
Wolf. 
He took a bone and stuck it in Mink's teeth. 
And he left. 
Then Mink woke up. 
He looked for the food he had cooked, but 
there wasn't any. 
Then he said, “I must have eaten what I 
cooked, my barbecue.” 
Then he removed the bone from between 
his teeth. 
Then he said again, “ Oh, I must have 
eaten my barbecue. 
It was good food.” 
That's what he said. 
That's all I know of my elder's, my father's 
story. 
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Mink, His Nephew, and His Sister (first version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
July 8, 1992 ― Mink,Nephew,Sister-1.mp3 

x̣čŋín ʔaʔ či náʔc̕əw̕txʷəŋə̕s yaʔ kʷi kʷiw̕níɬ 
mə́šču ʔaʔ cə sʔúq̕ʷaʔs. 
suʔsátəŋs kʷaʔ hiyáʔs čə́yəx̣ ʔaʔ či pə́̕wiʔ. 
níɬ suʔhiyáʔs ʔíst ƛ̕iyáʔəŋ ʔaʔ či pə́̕wiʔ ʔiʔ 
ʔáwənə. 
níɬ č̕ suʔqsə́ts cə šípəns. 
suʔsáts cə stíkʷəns kʷaʔ nə́qəŋs. “hiyáʔ. 
hiyáʔ cxʷ tə́s ʔaʔ cə təcnáxʷ. 
tə́s cxʷ ʔaʔ cə bottom ʔiʔ nuʔkʷə́yə̕x̣ct.” 
suʔnə́qəŋs cə sƛ̕iƛ̕áʔƛq̕ɬ. 
suʔtə́s ʔaʔ cə šípən. 
suʔƛk̕ʷə́ts ʔiʔ nuʔkʷə́yə̕x̣ct. 
ʔiʔ suʔtxʷaʔpə́̕wiʔs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtčə́təŋs ʔiʔ t̕k̕ʷístəŋ. 
suʔəɬnístxʷ cə sʔúq̫̕ aʔs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔkʷúkʷs ʔiʔ ʔíɬən. 
níɬ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ sxʷt̕íyms yaʔ, “ʔiʔiʔtáxʷ. 
ʔiʔiʔtáxʷ kʷi st̕aʔt̕áqaʔs yaʔ kʷi n̕ŋáʔnaʔ.” 
níɬ č̕ yaʔ st̕íyms. 
huʔskʷáʔs ʔuʔ stíkʷəns cə. t̕k̕ʷísts ʔiʔ 
ʔəɬnístxʷ cə sʔúq̕ʷaʔs. 

Mink thought he'd go visit his older sister. 
So she told him to go catch a flounder. 
So he went paddling, looking for a 
flounder, but there was none. 
So he dropped his knife into the water. 
So he told his nephew to dive in. 
“Go and get there where it is. 
when you get to the bottom kind of shake 
yourself.” 
So the child dove in. 
So he got to the knife. 
So he took it and sort of fluttered himself. 
And he became a flounder. 
Then he was speared and taken home. 
Then he fed his sister. 
So she cooked and ate. 
So that's why he sang, “Enjoy it! 
Enjoy the little liver of your son!” 
That's what he sang. 
It was his own nephew. He brought him 
home and fed it to his sister. 
 

 
Mink, His Nephew, and His Sister (second version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
September 14, 1993 ― Mink,Newphew,Sister-2.mp3 

hiyáʔ č̕ə náʔc̕əw̕txʷəŋ̕ cə mə́šču ʔaʔ tsə 
saʔəý̕čən̕s, sxʷtúnəqs kʷaʔ stáŋəs yaʔ čtə. 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣ənátəŋs cənɬ̕ mə́šču kʷaʔ hiyáʔs 
ƛ̕iʔáŋ ʔaʔ či pə́̕wi sʔíɬəns. 

Mink went visiting his younger sister, older 
sister whatever it was. 
Then Mink told her that he would go look 
for a flounder for their food. 
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níɬ suʔhiyáʔ mə́šču ƛi̕ʔáŋ. 
ʔiʔ ʔáw̕ č̕ kʷaʔ čqə́čaʔs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔqsə́ts cə... ʔáwə nəsx̣čít kʷaʔ stáŋəs 
yaʔ čtə qsə́ts. 
níɬ suʔxə̣nʔáxʷs cə stíkʷəns kʷaʔ nə́qəŋs 
ʔiyáʔ. 
ƛk̕ʷə́ts ƛ̕áčɬ. 
“níɬ n̕suʔtə́s ʔaʔ cə ƛ̕áčɬ ʔiʔ níɬ n̕suʔɬp̕íct.” 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔhúys. 
níɬ č̕ suʔnə́qəŋs cə sƛ̕íƛə̕ɬqɬ. 
ʔiʔ txʷaʔ-... 
tə́s ʔaʔ cə hiʔúʔux̣ʷs. 
níɬ suʔɬp̕ícts. 
níɬ suʔtxʷaʔpə́̕wis. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtčə́ts cəw̕niɬ mə́šču cə stíkʷəns ʔiʔ 
t̕k̕ʷísts. 
ʔiʔ ʔəɬnísts cə sxʷtúnəqs. kʷaʔ ʔuʔ stáŋəs 
čtə kʷə sxʷtúnəq saʔəý̕čən̕s 
kʷaʔ stáŋəs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔíɬəns cə... caw̕niɬ ʔaʔ 
txʷaʔskʷúkʷs. 
níɬ suʔt̕íyms: ʔiʔiʔtáxʷ cxʷ. 
ʔiʔiʔtáxʷ kʷi st̕aʔt̕áʔqaʔs yaʔ kʷi n̕ŋáʔnaʔ. 

Then Mink went looking. 
But they didn't catch anything. 
Then he threw into the water... I don't know 
what it was he threw. 
Then he told his nephew to dive there. Get 
it on the bottom. 
“Then you get to the bottom, then flop 
around.” 
Then he finished. 
Then the child dove. 
And became... 
He got to where he was going. 
So he flipped around. 
Then he became a flounder. 
Then Mink stabbed his nephew and he 
brought him home. 
And fed his sister. 
whatever it was, his older sister or younger 
sister, whatever. 
So she ate what she cooked. 
Then he sang: enjoy it. 
Enjoy what was the little liver of your son. 

 
Mink, His Nephew, and His Sister (third version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
September 22, 1993 ― Mink,Newphew,Sister-3.mp3 

hiyáʔ č̕ k̕ʷə́nət tsə saʔəý̕čən̕s ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy č̕ ʔuʔ 
čŋáʔnaʔ caw̕niɬ saʔəý̕čən̕ ʔaʔ mə́ščuʔ. 
suʔxə̣nʔátəŋs ʔaʔ cə saʔə́y̕čən̕s kʷaʔ hiyáʔs 
čə́yəx̣ ƛ̕iʔáŋ ʔaʔ či pə́̕wi sʔíɬəns. 
níɬ č̕ suʔhiyáʔs. 

He went to see his sister and Mink's sister 
had a child, too. 
So he was told by his sister to go spearing 
looking for a flounder for their food. 
So he went. 
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suʔqʷánss cə stíkʷəns kʷaʔ ʔənʔás hiʔsəwáʔ 
yaʔ cə sčə́yəx̣ ƛ̕iʔáŋ ʔaʔ či pə́̕wi. 
níɬ suʔhiyáʔs ʔíst. 
tə́s ʔaʔ tə sxʷʔiyás. 
ƛi̕ʔáŋs ʔiʔ ʔáwənə č̕ pə́̕wi. 
níɬ č̕ suʔqsə́ts cə šaʔšéʔpəns kʷaʔ stáŋs yaʔ 
čtə. 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣ənʔáxʷs cə stíkʷəns, “hiyáʔ cxʷ 
nə́qəŋ. 
ʔiʔ ƛ̕kʷə́t cə nə-...  
ƛk̕ʷnáxʷ cə nəšaʔšéʔpən. 
ʔənʔáxʷ cxʷ huŋístxʷ. 
ʔiʔ húʔ či tə́s ʔaʔ cə ƛ̕áčɬ ʔiʔ níɬ 
n̕suʔnuʔkʷə́yə̕x̣ct.” 
ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ suʔnə́qəŋs cə sƛ̕íƛ̕aʔƛq̕ɬ. 
hiyáʔ č̕ tə́s ʔaʔ cə ƛ̕áčɬ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔnuʔkʷə́yə̕x̣cts. 
níɬ suʔtxʷaʔpə́̕wiʔs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtčə́ts caw̕niɬ mə́šču cə stíkʷəns yaʔ. 
tčə́ts ʔiʔ t̕k̕ʷísts yaʔ sʔəɬənístxʷs cə 
saʔəý̕čən̕s. 
níɬ č̕ suʔíɬəns caw̕niɬ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtí̕yms caw̕niɬ mə́šču. 
sxʷʔiʔiʔtáxʷs. 
ʔiʔiʔtáxʷ kʷi st̕aʔt̕áʔqaʔs yaʔ kʷi n̕ŋáʔnaʔ. 
ʔi ʔuʔáxə̣ŋ č.̕ ʔiʔ ʔuʔhúy c sʔéʔɬən̕s cəw̕niɬ 
saʔəý̕čən̕s suʔƛá̕ys t̕íym. 
ʔiʔiʔtáxʷ. 
ʔiʔiʔtáxʷ kʷi st̕aʔt̕áʔqaʔs yaʔ kʷi n̕ŋáʔnaʔ. 

So he called to his nephew to come along 
spearing to look for a flounder. 
So they went paddling. 
They got to where they 
hunted but there were no flounders. 
Then he threw his pocket knife, or 
whatever it was, into the water. 
Then he told his nephew, “Go dive. 
And get my... 
Try to get my knife. 
Bring it back. 
And when you get to the bottom, kind of 
move around.” 
Then the child dived. 
He went and got to the bottom. 
Then he kind of moved around. 
Then he became a flounder. 
Then Mink speared his nephew. 
He stabbed him and took him home to feed 
his sister. 
Then she ate it. 
Then Mink sang. 
Enjoy it! 
Enjoy the little liver of your son. 
he said. His sister was eating 
So he sang again. 
Enjoy it! 
Enjoy the little liver of your son. 
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Raven and Seal 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
September 22, 1993 ― Raven&Seal.mp3 

hiyáʔ č̕ tə sk̕ʷtúʔ. 
k̕ʷə́nnəs cə sxʷtúnəqs kʷaʔ níɬs č ̕suʔtə́ss. 
suʔ-... 
ʔiʔ čŋáʔnaʔ tsaw̕niɬ sxʷtúnəqs.  
ʔásxʷ cə sxʷtúnəqs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣ən̕átəŋs kʷaʔ ŋaʔk̕ʷaʔéʔts cə 
sƛ̕íƛ̕aʔƛq̕ɬs ŋáʔnaʔs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔŋaʔk̕ʷaʔéʔts. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔxʷáʔəms. 
suʔŋaŋúts cə stíkʷəns yaʔ. 
ʔuk̕ʷnás č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ cə stíkʷəns yaʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣ʷuʔúŋs̕ ʔəsc̕áʔc̕aʔ ʔaʔ c cícɬ qʷɬáy̕. 
níɬ č̕ suʔáxə̣ŋs, “sə́ŋsəŋəyoo kʷɬi nəstíkʷən 
yaʔ.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣ənʔáxʷs cə sxʷtúnəqs, 
“nuʔtxʷnéʔiŋ. 
nuʔtxʷnéʔiŋ.” 
ʔiʔ cícɬ č̕ cə sxʷʔiyás cə sʔaʔáʔməts. 
níɬ č̕ suʔƛá̕ys, “sə́ŋsəŋəyoo kʷi nəstíkʷən 
yaʔ.” 
x̣ʷuʔúŋ̕ caw̕niɬ sk̕ʷtúʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔƛá̕ys x̣ənʔáxʷ cə sxʷtúnəqs kʷaʔ 
“nuʔtxʷnéʔiŋ. 
nuʔtxʷnéʔiŋ,” xə̣n̕áts č.̕ 
níɬ č̕ suʔƛá̕ys txʷnéʔiŋ txʷiʔúʔux̣ʷ txʷaʔcícɬ 
č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ʔuʔiʔáʔiʔ č̕ ʔi ʔuʔtə́s ʔaʔ cə sʔíyən̕s cə cícɬ 
qʷɬáy̕. 
ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ kʷɬaʔ suʔhíyəŋs ʔiʔ suʔq̕ʷúys cə 
sxʷtúnəqs. 

Raven went. 
He saw his sister when he got there. 
And his older sister had a had a baby. Seal 
was his sister. 
So she told him to babysit her little child. 
Then he babysat. 
Then he got hungry. 
Then he gobbled up his nephew. 
He finished up his nephew. 
Then he cried from on top of a high log. 
Then he said, “Boohoo, my late nephew.” 
Then he told his sister, “Kind of move 
over. 
Move over.” 
It was high where he was sitting. 
“Boohoo, my late nephew.” 
Raven was crying. 
Then he again told his sister to “Kind of 
move over. 
Move over,” he told her. 
She moved again toward the high end. 
That continued until she reached the end of 
the high log. 
Then she fell and his sister died. 
Then he ate her, too. 
And he finished her. 
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níɬ suʔƛá̕ys suʔŋaŋúts. 
suʔuk̕ʷnáxʷs. 
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Raven Fakes a Broken Arm 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. and ca̕cmacút, Ed Sampson, Sr. 
July 1, 1992 ― RavenBrokenArm.mp3 

ƛá̕y č̕ə kʷi ʔuʔ x̣ʷənʔáŋ kʷi sk̕ʷtúʔ yaʔ. 
ƛá̕y č̕ə yaʔ ʔuʔ qáyx̣ ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiəs. 
x̣áɬ č̕ ti t̕áwiʔs. 
x̣ʷənʔáŋ ixʷ yaʔ ʔaʔ nə́kʷ. stkʷácss 
suʔəsxʷə́yk̕ʷtxʷs tə t̕áwis. 
ʔiʔ ʔáw č ̕tə c ʔəstákʷɬ tə t̕áwis. 
ŋə́n̕ č̕ x̣áčəŋ qə́yəx̣ cə ʔəsxʷə́y̕k̕ʷ ʔaʔ cə 
t̕áwis ʔiʔ ʔuʔ ŋuʔúts kʷaʔčaʔ. 
sxʷaʔtín̕s č ̕sk̕ʷə́nnəxʷtxʷ. 
kʷɬníɬ kʷaʔ k̕ʷə́nəŋəs ʔaʔ cə ŋə́nəŋənaʔs ʔiʔ 
qəməsítəŋ. 
níɬ č̕ sxʷʔəsxʷə́yk̕ʷtxʷs ʔaʔ cə cloth. 
púxʷən kʷaʔ ʔuʔstáŋəs čtə. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔuʔ k̕ʷən̕tíŋ̕ č̕ ʔaʔ cə náʔc̕uʔ 
ŋə́naʔs ʔuʔ c̕ŋʔət́s every now and then. 
suʔŋuʔúts cə x̣áčəŋ qə́yəx̣ sxʷʔəsxʷə́y̕k̕ʷ 
ʔaʔ cə ʔiʔ kʷaʔ stáŋəs yaʔ čtə. 
sxʷčtátəŋs ʔaʔ cə náʔc̕uʔ ŋə́naʔs, “ʔstúʔŋət 
ʔuč kʷaʔčaʔ ʔən̕sxʷcə́̕ŋ̕təŋ n̕cáys.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔ-... suʔáxə̣ŋs, “ʔáwə cn c̕ə́ŋ̕. 
púʔxʷt cn t. 
x̣áɬ tiə nət̕áwiʔ.” 
( qəy̕áx̣ct. ) 
qəy̕áx̣ct. 
níɬ č̕ suʔƛá̕ys čtátəŋ kʷaʔ k̕ʷə́nstəŋs kʷə ʔaʔ 
či ʔəstákʷɬ t̕áwiʔs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔqʷáqʷis. 
qəwə́čən yəxʷ yaʔ kʷiw̕níɬ. 
ʔáxə̣ŋs, “læmət ʔuʔ čæləš. 
læmət ʔuʔ čæləš.” 

Raven was apparently like that too. 
He way he lied when he talked, too. 
His arms apparently hurt. 
I guess he was like you, a broken arm. 
So he wrapped up his arm. 
But his arm wasn't broken. 
He apparently had lots of dried salmon 
eggs wrapped up in his arm, and he was 
eating them. 
He hated to let them see it. 
If his children saw it, they'd beg for some. 
That's why he wrapped it in the cloth. 
rag or whatever it was. 
One of his children was watching him take 
a bite every now and then. 
So he was eating the dried salmon eggs 
wrapped up in whatever it was. 
That's why the one son asked him, “Why 
are you biting your hand?” 
So he said, “I didn't bite.” 
I'm blowing on it. 
My arm is sore. 
He's lying. (ES) 
He's lying. 
Then again he was asked to show his 
broken arm. 
That's how he talked. 
He must have been Cowichan. 
So he said, “Look at my hand. 
Look at my hand.” 
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ʔáxə̣ŋ yəxʷ kʷiw̕níɬ sk̕ʷtúʔ. He said, Raven. 
He was showing his hand, he said, look at 
it, my hand. But he had dried salmon eggs 
wrapped in his arm with a piece of cloth. 
Raven was a real cagey guy. He talked in 
Cowichan so his kids wouldn't understand. 
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The Boy Who Lived with Wolves (The Weak Little Man) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
July 10, 1995 ― WeakLittleMan-1.mp3 

ŋə́n̕ č̕ ʔiyá sƛ̕aʔyéʔƛq̕ɬ qaʔx̣qíŋ̕ ʔaʔ ti 
ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ kʷaʔ ʔuʔstáŋəs yaʔ čtə sqaʔx̣qíŋ̕s. 
ʔiʔ náč̕ ʔiʔ ʔuʔnáʔc̕uʔ č̕ yaʔ tə sxʷaʔtín̕ ʔaʔ 
c smán̕s ʔuʔ qaʔqiʔám̕. 
mán̕ ʔuʔ q̕aʔq̕án̕əɬ ʔəɬ kʷánəŋəts. 
sqiʔám̕ či sxʷítəŋs. 
ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ suʔx̣áɬs tə x̣čŋíns cəw̕niɬ sƛ̕iƛ̕áʔƛq̕ɬ 
swéʔwəs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔštə́ŋs hiyáʔ cúŋ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə 
sŋiyánt. 
hiyáˑˑʔ č̕ txʷaʔyíy̕ txʷaʔčáyə̕qʷ. 
suʔɬčíkʷss. 
suʔst̕ə́cts ʔiʔ ʔítt. 
twaw̕ʔéʔtt č̕ sxʷʔiyá ʔiʔ kʷɬtsnə́səŋ ʔaʔ cə 
stə́yaʔčəŋ. 
suʔƛk̕ʷə́təŋs ʔiʔcəŋáʔaʔtəŋ hiyáʔ t̕k̕ʷístəŋ 
ʔúx̣ʷtəŋ ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás cə stáʔčəŋ, cə 
ʔáʔiŋs cə stáʔčəŋ. 
tə́sts kʷaʔčaʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣čə́təŋs čtátəŋs, “stúʔŋət cxʷ 
kʷaʔčaʔ ʔən̕sxʷʔiyá ʔaʔ kʷə n̕sʔiyá tə 
n̕sscáwt ʔéʔtt? 
mán̕ cxʷ kʷə ʔuʔ yíy̕ ʔaʔ kʷəsə nʔ̕áʔyəŋ.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣ə́nəŋs ʔaʔ cəw̕niɬ swéʔwəs, “mán̕ 
cn kʷi... mán̕ kʷi ʔuʔ xə̣́ɬ tə x̣čŋín ʔaʔ tə 
nəsxʷaʔtín̕ ʔaʔ cə néʔ sƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
ʔáwə cn kʷaʔ tə̕ŋ̕k̕ʷátəŋ ʔəɬ t̕əŋ̕k̕ʷátəŋən, 
ʔəɬ qʷaʔ... qaʔx̣qíŋ̕s. 
ʔaw̕mán ̕cn ʔuʔ siʔámə̕t. 
sqiʔám̕ či nəskʷánəŋət. 

There were many children playing there all 
the time, whatever they were playing. 
And one different one was despised 
because he was too weak. 
He ran too slow. 
He couldn't jump. 
So that little boy felt bad. 
So he walked inland to the mountains. 
He went far into the woods. 
He got tired. 
So he lay down and slept. 
He was still sleeping there when he was 
approached by the wolves. 
So he was taken being packed over home 
to where the wolves were, the wolves' 
home. 
So they got him there. 
Then they figured and asked him, “What 
were you doing there on the ground 
sleeping? 
You are very far from your home.” 
Then they were told by the boy, “I'm 
very... I feel very bad because I'm despised 
by the other children. 
I'm not accepted when I join in when... 
they're playing. 
It's because I take it too easy. I can't run. 
I can't jump. 
My legs are weak. 
My arms are weak.” 



The Klallam Narratives of wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 

30 
 

sqiʔám̕ či nəsxʷítəŋ. 
qaʔqiʔám̕ tə nəsx̣ə́naʔ. 
qaʔqiʔám̕ tə nt̕uʔt̕áʔwiʔ.” 
“óˑˑ ʔuʔčáčt caʔ st kʷaʔčaʔ.” 
suʔŋútəŋs suʔɬŋáŋs cə q̕ʷc̕ə́ŋ cə kʷaʔ 
ʔuʔstáŋəs yaʔ čtə, ʔəɬ sqəyáyŋxʷs. 
ɬŋɬŋáŋ č ̕kʷaʔ ʔaʔ cə sx̣ə́naʔs cə q̕ʷcə́̕ŋ. 
ƛá̕y č̕ ʔuʔ xə̣nátəŋ cə cáyss. 
suʔhúys x̣ənʔátəŋ ʔəɬ ɬŋáŋs cə q̕ʷcə́̕ŋ ʔaʔ cə 
sx̣ə́naʔs 
ʔaʔ cə cáyss. 
suʔsaʔátəŋs kʷaʔ sqíyŋs ʔiʔ xʷítəŋ. 
suʔsqíyŋs ʔiʔ xʷítəŋ ʔiʔ ʔáw c txʷaʔcícɬ. 
suʔƛá̕ys qʷánsəŋ či̕xʷáŋ. 
suʔƛá̕ˑˑys ɬŋáŋ cə néʔ ʔaʔ cə sx̣ə́naʔs ʔaʔ cə 
cáyss. 
suʔƛá̕ys x̣ənʔátəŋ yaʔ čtə kʷaʔčaʔ ƛ̕áy 
sqíyŋ ʔiʔ xʷítəŋ. 
suʔƛá̕ys sqíyŋs ʔiʔ ʔuʔxʷítəŋs. 
hiyáˑˑʔ txʷaʔcícɬ. 
suʔxə̣nʔáxʷs kʷaʔčaʔ, “húy cxʷ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
hiyáʔ cxʷ kʷaʔčaʔ t̕úk̕ʷ ʔiʔ tə̕ŋ̕k̕ʷáʔct ʔaʔ 
kʷsə n̕k̕ʷɬsƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ ʔən̕k̕ʷɬsuʔáw̕əs.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔhiyáʔs ƛ̕áy ɬcú hiyáʔ t̕úk̕ʷ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔč̕áŋ̕s. 
suʔiʔáʔi č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
qaʔx̣qíŋ̕ cə k̕ʷɬsuʔáw̕əs sƛ̕aʔyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
č̕ suʔúx̣ʷs ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás yaʔ ʔəɬ 
ʔaʔáʔməts ʔəɬ x̣áɬs t x̣čŋíns. 
suʔaʔáʔməts. 
suʔƛá̕ys x̣aʔxɬ̣ám̕. 
k̕ʷən̕tís ʔiʔ ʔáwə č̕ kʷaʔ nuʔk̕ʷə́ntəŋs ʔaʔ 
caw̕náʔiɬ cqʷaháŋəxʷs. 

“Oh, we'll fix that.” 
So they ate it and took off the roots or 
whatever it was while it was a tree. 
They removed the roots from his legs. 
They also did it to his arms. 
They finished telling him while they 
removed the roots from his legs and arms. 
They told him to go out and jump. 
So he went outside and jumped but he 
didn't go high. 
He was called in again. 
Again they removed what was on his legs 
and hands. 
He was told again to go out again and 
jump. 
So he again went outside and jumped. 
He went high. 
So they told him, “You're finished. 
Go home and join in with your fellow 
children, fellow boys.” 
Then he went again down to the beach and 
went home. 
Then he got home. 
The boys continued playing. 
He went to where he usually sat when he 
felt bad. 
He was sitting. 
He watched again. 
He watched but was not looked at by (?) 
The ball, whatever it was, came to him. He 
wanted to jump, jump for what the boys 
were playing with. 
He was watched by them. 
Then they asked him to join in. 
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hiyáʔ č̕ txʷʔúx̣ʷnəsəŋ ʔaʔ cə sqaqtəm̕ús čtə 
wuʔ ʔuʔstáŋəs yaʔ čtə. ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ suʔƛé̕ʔs či 
sxʷítəŋs xʷtíŋts cə sqaʔx̣qíŋ̕s cə suʔáw̕əs. 
ʔiʔ k̕ʷən̕tíŋ̕ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔ cə néʔ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔqʷánsəŋs kʷaʔ ʔnʔás t̕əŋ̕k̕ʷáʔct. 
níɬ č̕ suʔtə̕ŋ̕k̕ʷáʔct. 
ʔiʔ ʔənʔáˑˑ č ̕ʔuʔ x̣ʷə́ŋ ʔəɬ kʷaʔnéʔŋəts. 
txʷaʔcícɬ ʔəɬ xʷítəŋs. 
ƛk̕ʷnás cə sqqíŋs kʷaʔ ʔuʔstáŋəs yaʔ čtə 
sqaʔx̣qíŋ̕s caw̕náʔiɬ suʔáw̕əs. 
húy č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ sqaʔx̣qíŋ̕s. 
ʔuʔxə̣nʔátəŋ, “húy̕ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ yáʔct. 
hiyáʔ caʔ st kʷánəŋət. 
kʷánəŋət caʔ st. 
sƛ̕éʔɬ či sx̣čənáxʷɬ kʷaʔ x̣ʷə́ŋəxʷ čtə kʷaʔ 
kʷánəŋətəxʷ.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔiʔyáʔcts. 
suʔkʷánəŋəts caw̕niɬ.  
p̕p̕áʔkʷɬ caw̕náʔiɬ suʔáw̕əs. 
níɬ č̕ cə x̣ʷə́ŋ ti skʷánəŋəts t̕əŋ̕k̕ʷáʔct. 
ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ suʔkʷánəŋəts. 
suʔɬúyŋs kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ɬúyəs kʷaʔčaʔ cə k̕ʷɬsuʔáw̕əs. 
níɬ suʔč̕áŋ̕s ƛ̕áy ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás yaʔ 
ʔəɬ ʔaʔáʔməts ʔaʔ kʷi ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ. 
níɬ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ suʔtxʷaʔsƛ̕éʔs ʔaʔ tə 
k̕ʷɬsƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
txʷaʔ-... txʷaʔcícɬtəŋ čtə wuʔ. 
txʷaʔsiʔámə̕ŋ swə́y̕qaʔ c... xč̣náŋs ʔaʔ či 
suʔcəʔéʔts ʔuʔ xʷáʔxʷaʔ. 
cəʔéʔt ʔuʔ x̣ʷə́ŋ ti skʷánəŋəts. 

Then he joined in. 
He came running fast. 
He jumped high. 
He took whatever it was those boys were 
playing with. 
They finished playing. 
They said to him, “Let's get ready. 
We'll run. 
We'll run. 
We want to find out if you are fast when 
you run.” 
Then they got ready. 
They ran. The boys raced. 
Then the fast running one joined in. 
Then they ran. 
Then they left. 
He left his fellows behind. 
Then he went home again to where he 
usually sat all the time. 
Then his fellow boys got to like him. 
He was raised up, I guess. 
He became a respected man. 
They found out that he was really fast. 
He truly ran fast. 
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The Weak Little Man 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
1997, from video recorded by Francine Swift ― WeakLittleMan-2.mp3 

qaʔqiʔám̕ yaʔ cə swéʔwəs. 
húʔ č̕ ʔaʔáʔmət sk̕ʷəníts ti néʔ suʔáʔwəs 
qaʔx̣qíŋ̕ ʔiʔ mán̕ ʔuʔx̣áɬ t x̣čŋíns. 
sƛ̕éʔs či sqqíŋs ʔiʔ ʔáw kʷaʔ ʔántəŋs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔmán̕ č̕ ʔuʔqaʔqiʔám̕. 
níɬ č̕ suʔštə́ŋs cúŋ hiyáʔ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ tə 
čáʔyəqʷ. 
txʷaʔyéy ̕č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ kʷɬɬčíkʷs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔst̕ə́cts ʔiʔ ʔítt. 
ʔéʔtt č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ tsnə́səŋ ʔaʔ cə stəyáʔčəŋ. 
suʔt̕t̕úʔk̕ʷtəŋs ʔaʔ cə stáʔčəŋ ʔiʔ hiyáʔ 
t̕k̕ʷístəŋ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔənʔá ʔaʔ cə ʔáʔiŋs. 
tə́s č ̕ʔaʔ cə ʔáʔiŋs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔc̕čə́təŋs ʔiʔ čtátəŋ, “ʔaʔstúʔŋət cxʷ 
kʷaʔčaʔ ʔən̕sxʷmán̕ ʔuʔyéy ̕č ̕čáʔyəqʷ cə 
ʔən̕sʔéʔtt?” 
“níɬ nəsmán̕ ʔuʔyəščənúŋət x̣áɬ nəx̣čŋín. 
nəsƛ̕éʔ či nəsqqíŋ t̕əŋk̕ʷáct ʔiʔ cə suʔáʔwəs 
ʔiʔ ʔáwə cn c qʷaʔánətəŋən. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ sxʷx̣ə́ɬ tiə nəx̣čŋín. 
níɬ nəsuʔštə́ŋ ʔənʔá cúŋ.” 
“ó, ʔəý̕. ʔuʔx̣téʔt caʔ st. 
ʔuʔčáčt caʔ st.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔɬŋáŋs cə x̣ʷnáŋ ʔaʔ q̕ʷcə́̕ŋ ʔaʔ cə 
sx̣ə́naʔs ʔiʔ cə cáyss. 
ɬŋáˑˑŋ č.̕ 
húy č ̕cə sɬŋáŋs. 
húy č̕ ʔiʔ xə̣nʔátəŋ, “ʔúx̣ʷ či sqéyŋ ʔiʔ 
xʷítəŋ.” 

The boy was weak. 
When he sat watching the boys playing, he 
felt very bad. 
He wanted to play but was not allowed to. 
It was because he was very weak. 
Then he went inland to the back woods. 
He got far and became tired. 
Then he lay down and slept. 
He was sleeping and was approached by 
the wolves. 
He was being taken home by the wolf and 
he was taken home to their house. 
They arrived at their house. 
Then they woke him and asked him, “What 
are you doing so very far in the woods 
sleeping?” 
“It's because I'm very pitiful and depressed. 
I want to join in playing with the boys, but 
I'm not invited. 
That's why I feel bad. 
Then I walked inland.” 
“Oh, good. We'll fix you. 
We'll do it.” 
Then they removed the roots from his legs 
and arms. 
They removed them. 
They finished removing them. 
They finished and he was told, “Go outside 
and jump.” 
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níɬ č̕ suʔsqíyəŋs ʔiʔ xʷítəŋ ʔiʔ ʔáwə c 
txʷaʔcícɬ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔƛá̕ys qʷánsəŋ či̕xʷáŋ. 
suʔč̕ə́yəxʷ ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy ɬŋáŋ cə néʔ q̕ʷcə́̕ŋ. 
čáy ʔaʔ cə sx̣ə́naʔs ʔiʔ cə cáyss. 
níɬ č̕ suʔhúys ʔiʔ ʔuʔƛá̕y sát, “ʔúx̣ʷ či 
xʷítəŋ. 
sqíyŋ ʔiʔ xʷítəŋ.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔsqíyŋs ʔiʔ xʷítəŋ ʔiʔ mán̕ 
ʔuʔtxʷaʔcícɬ. 
“ó, txʷaʔshúy st. 
ƛú̕m̕ cxʷ kʷaʔ. 
hiyáʔ cxʷ kʷaʔčaʔ t̕úk̕ʷ.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔhiyáʔs t̕k̕ʷístəŋ. 
níɬ č̕ suʔč̕áŋ̕s cəw̕niɬ swéʔwəs. 
ʔiʔ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás yaʔ ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ 
ti sʔaʔáʔməts. 
x̣aʔxɬ̣ám̕ ʔaʔ cə néʔ sq̕ʷə́yaʔšəns. 
ʔiyá č̕ kʷaʔ či sʔaʔáʔməts. 
ʔiʔ húʔ č̕ tx̣... txʷʔúx̣ʷnəsəŋ ʔaʔ cə 
sqaʔqtəm̕ús qaʔx̣qíŋ̕ cə suʔáʔwəs ʔiʔ sƛ̕éʔs 
či sxʷtíŋts. 
ʔiʔ ʔáw č ̕kʷaʔ xʷítəŋs. 
ʔáwə c sƛ̕éʔs či sx̣čnáxʷ, sx̣čnáŋs cə 
suʔáʔwəs ʔaʔ či stxʷaʔxʷáʔxʷaʔs. 
k̕ʷən̕tíŋ̕ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔ cə néʔ suʔáʔwəs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣ənʔátəŋ, “ʔənʔá či. 
tə̕ŋk̕ʷáct q̕ qqíŋ. 
qqíŋ ʔəst̕áŋ̕k̕ʷ ʔaʔ ɬníŋɬ.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔtə̕ŋk̕ʷácts. 
húʔ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ čšútəŋ ʔaʔ cə sqaʔqtəm̕ús ʔiʔ 
níɬ suʔxʷítəŋs hiyáʔ txʷaʔcícɬ ƛ̕kʷnás. 
ʔiʔ ʔáw č ̕kʷaʔ q̕ʷáyə̕s caʔnáʔiɬ sq̕ʷúʔšəns. 
suʔxə̣nʔátəŋs, “kʷánəŋət caʔ st. 

Then he went outside and jumped, but he 
didn't go high. 
Then he was called inside again. 
He went in and again they removed the 
roots that were still there. 
The worked on his legs and arms. 
Then they finished and told him again, “Go 
jump. 
Go outside and jump.” 
Then he went outside and jumped and went 
very high. 
“Oh, we're finished. 
You are all right. 
Now go home.” 
Then he was taken home. 
Then the boy got home. 
And he went to where he always sat. 
He was watching his companions. 
He was sitting there. 
And when... 
The ball the boys were playing with came 
toward him and he wanted to jump for it. 
But he didn't jump. 
He didn't want them to find out, the boys to 
find out that he was quick. 
He was being watched by the boys that 
were there. 
Then they told him, “Come. 
Join in playing. 
Play with us.” 
Then he joined them. 
When the ball was thrown to him, he 
jumped high and he got it. 
His companions couldn't believe it. 
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hiyáʔ caʔ st kʷánəŋət ʔaʔ či sx̣čnáŋs kʷaʔ 
ʔuʔx̣ʷə́ŋs u ʔəɬ kʷánəŋəts.” 
níɬ č̕ suʔyáʔcts cə xʷə́yŋxʷ ʔəɬ kʷánəŋəts t 
suʔáʔwəs. 
suʔkʷánəŋəts ʔiʔ níɬ suʔƛi̕ƛ̕úyəs hiyáʔ 
txʷaʔyéy ̕č ̕ʔiʔɬčáʔis. 
sč̕áŋ̕s ʔaʔ cə sq̕ʷə́yaʔšəns. 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣čnáŋs ʔaʔ či smán̕s 
ʔuʔtxʷaʔxʷáʔxʷaʔ. 
txʷaʔx̣ʷə́ŋ ʔəɬ kʷánəŋəts. 
txʷaʔə́y̕ č̕ swéʔwəs cəw̕niɬ. 
ʔaw̕mán ̕č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ sƛ̕éʔ. 
níɬ suʔxə̣́nə̕s x̣čtíŋ. 
suʔhúys. 

Then they said to him, “We will run. 
We will go run to find out if he's fast when 
he runs.” 
The boys of the village prepared to run. 
So he ran and he left them behind going far 
ahead. 
He got home to his companions. 
They knew that he had become very quick. 
He had become a fast runner. 
The boy had become well. 
It was because he was liked. 
Everyone knew him. 
It's finished. 
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Whisky Jack 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 
August 1, 1998 ― WhiskyJack.mp3 

qʷáqʷiʔ cn cə naʔátəŋ whisky jack 
c̕íc̕aʔc̕əm̕ ʔaʔ či sƛ̕éʔs či shiyáʔs ʔiʔsəwáʔ 
ʔaʔ tiə néʔ c̕íc̕aʔc̕əm̕ kʷaʔ sxʷhiyáʔəs 
kʷə́yəŋ ʔiʔyaʔyi... ʔiʔyaʔyíyəŋ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ ti 
sxʷʔiyás ti skʷə́wəŋs ʔaʔ t... ʔəɬ čən̕sútčs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔp̕áʔəcts ʔiʔ sqiʔám̕ či skʷə́yəŋs 
ʔaw̕mán ̕ʔuʔ č̕ə́y̕iƛ̕ cə t̕ut̕áwiʔs. 
níɬ suʔxə̣nʔátəŋs ʔaʔ cə sʔúq̕ʷaʔs kʷaʔ 
hiyáʔs ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə čə́y̕q cé̕ʔc̕əm̕, múʔuqʷ 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ ʔiʔ qəm̕áŋ ʔaʔ či sƛ̕q̕áʔi. 
níɬ č̕ suʔhiyáʔs. 
qəm̕áŋ ʔaʔ cə sƛ̕q̕áʔi. 
ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə čə́y̕q múʔuqʷ. 
qəm̕áŋ ʔaʔ či sƛ̕q̕áʔis ʔuʔƛq̕̕ʷə́ts ʔaʔ cə 
skʷáʔs t̕áwiʔs. 
ʔiʔ mán̕ č̕ ʔuʔ čə́y̕q. 
kʷáʔəts kʷaʔčaʔ. 
p̕áʔəct ti skʷə́yəŋs ʔiʔ ƛá̕y č̕ ʔuʔ sqiʔám̕. 
ʔuʔáw c txʷaʔyíy̕ ʔiʔ st̕ə́ŋ ʔəɬ kʷə́yəŋs. 
níɬ č̕ suʔx̣ə́nəŋs ʔaʔ či shúys. 
ʔuʔaɬáʔ.. ʔuʔáɬaʔ caʔn ʔaʔ tiə čən̕sútč. 
ʔáw caʔn t hiyáʔ ʔiʔsəwáʔ tiə néʔ c̕éʔc̕əm̕ 
kʷaʔ hiyáʔs ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ či sxʷʔiyás či 
skʷə́wəŋs. 
ʔiʔ níɬ cə nsuʔtə̕ŋ̕k̕ʷáʔct ʔaʔ tiə ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ. 

I'm talking about what they call whiskey 
jack bird when he wanted to go along with 
some birds that were going flying... far 
away to where it's warm in the winter. 
He tried but he couldn't fly because his 
wings were too short. 
He was told by his brother to go over to the 
big birds, ducks and everything and ask for 
feathers. 
So he went. 
He asked for feathers. 
He went to the big duck. 
He asked for feathers to stick onto his own 
wing. 
But they were too big. 
He ignored it. 
He tried to fly but he still couldn't. 
He didn't get far and he'd drop when he 
flew. 
Then he said that he was finished. 
I'll stay here this winter. 
I won't go along with those birds when they 
go to where it's warm. 
And so he mixed in with the locals. 
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From the Rich People (Gathering Feathers) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
July 18, 1979 ­ FromTheRichPeople.mp3 

čáʔsaʔ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ sɬənɬániʔ. 
ƛi̕ʔáŋ ʔaʔ či feathers ti qʷəní. 
sxʷʔáʔmət cə sčáʔiʔs. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔk̕ʷə́nəxʷs cə siʔám̕ swə́y̕qaʔ. 
ʔiʔ sƛ̕éʔs či tsnúŋəts. 
ʔiʔ ʔáw. 
sxʷaʔtín̕. 
ʔaw̕yaʔyəščənúŋ̕ət č̕ ʔiʔ cəwnáytxʷ cə 
sɬənɬáni. 
níɬ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ suʔt̕íyms. 
t̕íym tə ʔaʔ cə swə́y̕qaʔ, siʔám̕ swə́y̕qaʔ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ suʔáxə̣ŋs cə st̕iym:  
ʔíčina kʷáʔnəŋ. 
ʔíčina kʷáʔnəŋ. 
čiyás yaʔ štə́ŋ tə nət̕itín ʔaʔ heˑˑ. 
ʔíčina kʷáʔnəŋ. 
ʔíčina kʷáʔnəŋ. 
čiyás yaʔ štə́ŋ. 
tə nət̕itín ʔaʔ heˑˑ. 

There were two women. 
They were looking for seagull feathers. 
They were making a bed. 
Then they saw a rich man. 
They wanted to get near him. 
But no. 
He didn't like them. 
It was because they were poor people. 
He refused to marry them. 
So, then they sang. 
They sang to the man, rich man. 
Then they did the song:  
My goodness, rejected. 
My goodness, rejected. 
I don't know the meaning of the words in 
the song--just learned it from my dad. It 
means something like “hey, you”. 
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Two Deaf Fishermen 
1996, recorded by Michael Charles ― DeafFishermen.mp3 

yéʔkʷsəŋ č ̕cə náʔc̕uʔ sq̕ʷiʔáʔən. 
hiyáʔ č̕ ƛ̕áʔcuʔ. 
ƛá̕ʔcuʔ ʔiʔ sq̕ʷúʔšən. 
níɬ č̕ suʔhaqícts. 
hiyáʔ ʔíst. 
ʔuʔá č̕ c txʷaʔyaʔyíyŋ čəmə̕snə́kʷi ʔaʔ či 
náʔc̕uʔ ƛ̕áy ʔuʔ sq̕ʷiʔáʔən. 
sq̕ʷiʔáʔən swə́y̕qaʔ píšmən. 
níɬ č̕ suʔkʷáčəŋs cə náʔc̕uʔ, “tx̣ʷín cxʷ 
ʔuč? 
hiyáʔ u cxʷ ƛ̕ácu?” 
suʔqʷáys cə náʔc̕uʔ ʔéʔst, “ʔáwə. 
hiyáʔ cn ƛá̕cu.” 
suʔqʷáys c náʔc̕uʔ, “óˑˑ nəx̣čŋín ta ʔaʔ či 
n̕shiyáʔ ƛ̕ácu.” 

One deaf man got ready. 
He went fishing. 
Fishing with a partner. 
Then he shoved off. 
He paddled. 
He hadn't yet gone far when he met another 
man who was also deaf. 
He was a deaf fisherman. 
Then one of them hollered, “Where are you 
going? 
Are you going fishing?” 
So he the other one paddling said, “No. 
I'm going fishing.” 
Then the other one said, “Oh, I thought you 
were going fishing.” 

 
 
Mount Baker and Olympus Fight 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
September 29, 1993 ― MtBaker&Olympus.mp3 

ʔuʔhúy yaʔ ʔuʔ nəsyaʔcústəŋ ʔaʔ kʷi 
nəsʔáyəxʷ yaʔ ti suʔxə̣n̕áɬ č̕ yaʔ ti 
suʔkʷéʔwən̕tiʔs. 
čəy̕sútiʔ č̕ yaʔ ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ. 
I guess erupting or something. 
ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ yaʔ suʔčəy̕sútiʔs yaʔ ʔəɬ 
kʷéʔwən̕tiʔs. 
This mountain, the Mt. Baker. 

My elders told me that they (Mt. Baker and 
Mt. Olympus) were fighting all the time. 
They were throwing (things) at each other 
all the time.  
I guess erupting or something. 
They were throwing at each other when 
they were fighting. 
This mountain, the Mt. Baker. 



The Klallam Narratives of wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 

38 
 

Anecdotes and Conversations 
 

 
Making a Deer Hoof Rattle 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 1, 1979 ― MakeDeerHoofRattle.mp3 

húʔ st ƛ̕kʷnáxʷ ti sx̣ə́naʔs ti smə́yəc ʔiʔ níɬ 
suʔqʷəyə̕snítɬ. 
húʔ kʷaʔčaʔ q̕ʷə́y ti sx̣ə́naʔs ʔiʔ suʔɬə́ŋs t 
kʷčmínɬ. 
níɬ suʔíx̣tɬ. 
suʔx̣áčtɬ. 
suʔx̣áčəŋs ʔiʔ níɬ suʔtxʷʔəý̕s c kʷčmínɬ. 
ʔiʔ txʷaʔx̣áčəŋ scɬə́qʷtɬ 
ti c̕ísən kʷaʔ stáŋəs čtə ti 
sxʷcɬə́qʷəns. 

When we get the deer hooves, we boil 
them. 
When the hooves are done, it comes off. 
Then we scrape it. 
So we dry it. 
So it's dry and then our deer hoof rattle 
becomes good. 
And it becomes dry and we make a hole in 
it with a nail or whatever will make a hole. 

 
Pitlamping 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 16, 1995 ― Pitlamping.mp3 

We used to go pitlamping, me and my 
uncle Henry. 
naʔáts ti xʷanítəm “pitlamping”. 
ʔi ʔuʔhúy yaʔ ʔuʔ sčáys. 
ʔuʔmán̕ ixʷ yaʔ ʔuʔ cáʔxʷəŋ̕ či sštə́ŋs cúŋ 
ƛ̕iyáŋ ʔaʔ či shúʔpt. 
níɬ suʔístɬ yaʔ tx̣ə́nə̕ŋ ʔaʔ-... txʷʔúx̣ʷ 
ʔaʔSooke, súʔukʷ. 
níɬ sxʷʔiyáɬ ti sŋaʔk̕ʷaʔcútɬ ʔi ʔuʔɬáčct. 
níɬ tə suʔɬáčcts. suʔčqʷə́ts cə ŋáʔəqs. 
suʔístɬ həwíyŋ. 
ʔiʔ táʔkʷats kʷaʔčaʔ cə sŋiyánt. 
ʔuʔaʔísts ʔiʔ ʔuʔk̕ʷə́nəs ti qə́yəŋs ti húʔpt. 

The white men call it “pitlamping”. 
It's the only work he had. 
I guess he was too lazy to walk into the 
woods looking for deer. 
So we paddled over to Sooke. 
That's where we waited until it got dark. 
Then it got dark. He lit his lamp. 
So we paddled back. 
He was shining a light on the rocks. 
He was doing that with it and he sees the 
eyes of the deer. 
Then he'd shoot it. 
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níɬ suʔčúkʷts. 
ʔiʔ húʔ ƛ̕kʷnás ʔiʔ tx̣ʷáss či snə́xʷɬs ʔaʔ cə 
sŋiyánt. 
ʔiʔ cúŋ kʷaʔ hiyáʔ ʔúx̣ʷnəs cə sqə́čaʔs. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔiʔáʔiɬ cn. 
ʔiʔ sáʔsiʔsiʔ yaʔ cn ʔaw̕mán ̕ʔuʔ čə́y̕q ti 
sčúyɬc ʔiyá ʔaʔšiyŋ̕úy̕kʷɬ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsxʷʔiyá yaʔ ti 
nsuʔŋaʔk̕ʷaʔcút ʔiʔáʔiɬ ʔaʔ cə snə́xʷɬs. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔtčísts ti húʔpt ʔiʔ ʔúyəɬtxʷ ʔaʔ cə 
snə́xʷɬ. 
suʔt̕úk̕ʷɬ yaʔ. 
húʔ k̕ʷə́nəs ti nə́c̕uʔ ƛ̕áy ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy čkʷúts ʔiʔ 
ƛ̕áy ʔuʔ ʔúyɬts. 
nə́c̕uʔ, čə́saʔ ti sqə́čaʔs ʔiʔ t̕k̕ʷísts. 
ʔiʔ níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔuʔ sʔəŋ́aʔts ti ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ 
ʔəɬ č̕áŋ̕əɬ. 
ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ yaʔ ti suʔƛi̕yáŋs ʔaʔ ti smə́yəc ʔəɬ 
ʔəsnáts. 
ʔáw kʷaʔ štə́ŋs cúŋ ti ƛ̕iyáŋs. 
húy ti suʔéʔstɬ. 

If he got it, he'd beach his canoe on the 
rocks. 
He'd go up into the bush to get his catch. 
And I'd be aboard. 
I was scared because the waves were very 
big there at Beechey Head. 
That's where I was waiting aboard his 
canoe. 
And he brought the deer here and loaded it 
onto the canoe. 
So we went home. 
If he saw another one again, again he'd 
shoot it and load it, too. 
He'd get one or two and he'd take them 
home. 
And then he'd give it to the village when 
we got home. 
He always looked for deer at night. 
He didn't walk into the bush to search. 
We only paddled. 
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Blackfish Jump at Fishermen (first version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 16, 1995 ― BlackfishJump-1.mp3 

kʷi nəsƛ̕ácu yaʔ ʔuʔ-... 
ƛá̕cu st ʔiyá ʔaʔšiyŋ̕úy̕kʷɬ. 
ʔiʔ kʷɬtáči cə ŋə́n̕ čxʷə́yuʔ. 
ʔáw c čxʷə́yuʔ, qɬ̕úməčən. 
ŋə́n̕ qɬ̕úməčən. 
ʔuʔk̕ʷənít st ƛ̕čaʔáw̕əɬ ʔaʔ cə snə́xʷɬɬ. 
xə̣n̕x̣aʔníti. 
ʔáwənə či sxʷtx̣ə́nə̕ŋɬ či sxʷéʔictɬ ʔaʔ 
caw̕niɬ qə̕yɬ̕úməčən. 
ʔiʔ néʔ cə xʷiyanítəm ʔiyá cə sŋiyánt c 
sféʔšən̕s. 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít či snátəŋs či čuʔúwə̕s yaʔ. 
twaw̕féʔšən̕ kʷaʔčaʔ caw̕náʔiɬ xʷiyanítəm 
ʔiʔ kʷɬhiyáʔ xʷtíŋtəŋ ʔaʔ cə qɬ̕úməčən, 
čə́saʔ qɬ̕úməčən. 
x̣čŋín čtə wuʔ cə qə̕yɬ̕úməčən ʔaʔ či 
sʔásxʷs cə ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə sŋiyánt. 
ʔiʔ níɬ tə ʔuʔ ʔəy̕cɬtáyŋxʷ xʷiyanítəm cə 
ƛ̕áy ʔuʔ féʔšən̕. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔx̣ʷə́ŋ kʷə yaʔ c sxʷítəŋs kʷəw̕náʔiɬ 
xʷiyanítəm. 
sxʷʔáwənəs ƛ̕kʷnáŋ ʔaʔ cə qɬ̕úməčən. 
mán̕ yaʔ ʔuʔ x̣éʔsi. 
ʔəć yaʔ sáy̕siʔ ʔaʔ kʷi nəsk̕ʷən̕ít yaʔ. 
sxʷxʷítəŋ yaʔ ʔaʔ [unintel.]. 
txʷaʔcícɬ ʔaʔ cə sŋiyánt. 
q̕ʷíŋi caw̕niɬ qə̕yɬ̕úməčən čə́saʔ. 
kʷənkʷánəŋət kʷaʔčaʔ caw̕náʔiɬ xʷiyanítəm 
cúŋ. 
xʷéʔict ʔaʔ cə qʷúʔ. 

I was fishing... 
We were fishing at Beechey Head. 
And many whales got there. 
They weren't whales, they were blackfish. 
There were many blackfish. 
We could see them underneath our canoe. 
We had nowhere to go to move away from 
those blackfish. 
There were white men there on the rocks 
fishing. 
I don't know what they were using is 
called. 
Those white men were still fishing and they 
were jumped by the blackfish, two 
blackfish. 
The blackfish must have thought they were 
seals on the rocks. 
But they were people, white people also 
fishing. 
Those white men were quick to jump. 
So they weren't caught by the blackfish. 
They were very fierce. 
I was frightened at what I was watching. 
They went high up on the rocks. 
Those two blackfish left the water. 
Those white men ran up away from the 
water. 
They moved away from the water. 
It was in case they got jumped again by the 
blackfish. 
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níɬ kʷaʔ ƛ̕áyəs xʷtíŋtəŋ ʔaʔ cə qɬ̕úməčən. 
ʔuʔə́y̕ tə sʔáwənəs ƛ̕kʷnáŋ ʔaʔ cə caw̕náʔiɬ 
qɬ̕úməčən. 
[unintel.] 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ sxʷʔəć yaʔ sáy̕siʔ ʔaʔ kʷə 
nəsk̕ʷən̕ít cə syáyəcts cə qɬ̕úməčən ʔəɬ 
t̕áčq̕s q̕ɬúməčən. 

It's good that nobody was caught by the 
blackfish. 
It was me that was frightened to watch 
what those blackfish did when they were 
angry blackfish. 

 
Blackfish Jump at Fishermen (second version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
July 17, 1996 ― BlackfishJump-2.mp3 

nc̕áxʷ yaʔ kʷi nəsƛ̕ácu ʔiyá ʔaʔsxʷk̕ʷtúʔəŋ 
ʔiʔ kʷɬtáči cə ŋə́n̕ qɬ̕úməčən. 
ʔáwənə nəsʔúx̣ʷ či nəsxʷéʔict ʔaʔ cəniɬ 
ʔuʔŋə́n̕ qɬ̕úməčən. 
ʔiʔ čáʔsaʔ xʷiyanítəm cə ɬaʔɬt̕íʔəwʔis yaʔ 
ʔaʔ cə sŋiyánt. 
twaw̕ʔáxə̣ŋ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ʔuʔk̕ʷən̕ít cn ʔiʔ kʷɬxʷtíŋtəŋ ʔaʔ cə 
qɬ̕úməčən. 
čə́saʔ qɬ̕úməčən cə xʷítəŋ. 
ʔúx̣ʷnəsəŋ cə ɬaʔɬt̕íʔəwʔis xʷanítəm. 
ʔə́c yaʔ sáy̕siʔ. 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít kʷaʔ sáy̕siʔs u yaʔ čtə cə 
xʷiyanítəm. 
kʷánəŋət kʷaʔ cúŋ cawn̕áʔiɬ xʷiyanítəm. 
cəʔít ixʷ ʔuʔ sáy̕siʔ. 
níɬ suʔhúys tiə. 

One time I was fishing at Raven Place and 
many blackfish got there. 
I had nowhere to go to get away from those 
many blackfish. 
There were two white men fishing on a 
rock. 
They were still doing that. 
I was watching them and they got jumped 
on by the blackfish. 
It was two blackfish that jumped. 
They went at the fishing white men. 
I was scared. 
I don't know if the white men were scared. 
Those white men ran inland. 
They must have been truly scared. 
This is finished. 
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A Sea Lion Attack (first version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 16, 1995 ― SeaLionAttack-1.mp3 

nc̕áxʷ kʷi nəsƛ̕ácu ʔiyá ʔaʔƛč̕ás. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔəstásɬ cn ʔaʔ cə sŋiyánt. 
ƛi̕ʔáŋ cn ʔaʔ či ʔáčt. 
nəsxʷúyəm kʷə [unintel.]. 
ʔiʔ kʷɬtáči cə ʔəšás. 
níɬ nəsuʔččásəŋ. 
x̣ʷə́ŋ kʷaʔčaʔ ti nəsʔíst t̕án. 
ʔiʔ čəyáy ʔúyɬ ʔaʔ cə skʷáʔəts cə nəsnə́xʷɬ 
ʔiʔ čaʔtə́x̣ʷ cn ʔaʔ cə cácu ʔaʔ cə sŋiyánt. 
níɬ nəsuʔq̕ʷíŋi tx̣̫ ás cə nəsnə́xʷɬ. 
sə́y̕siʔ cn ʔaʔ caw̕niɬ ʔəšás. 
xč̣ŋín ʔaʔ či nəsŋaŋútəŋ caʔ. 
[unintel.]. 
ʔi ʔuʔɬaw̕núŋət cn tə. 

It was one time I was fishing there at 
Discovery Island. 
And I was close to the rocks. 
I was looking for lingcod. 
I sold them... 
A sea lion got there. 
Then it chased me. 
So I paddled ashore fast. 
And it almost got into the stern of my 
canoe as I just got to the beach on the 
rocks. 
Then I got out and beached my canoe. 
I was afraid of that sea lion. 
I thought it was going to eat me up. 
[ TC says /x̣čít/ on the recoding, but 
corrects it to /xč̣ŋín/ on listening. ] 
But I managed to get away. 

 
A Sea Lion Attack (second version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
July 19, 1996 ― SeaLionAttack-2.mp3 

nəc̕áxʷ kʷə nəsʔiʔéʔst ʔiyá ʔaʔƛč̕ás. 
ƛá̕ʔcuʔ cn. 
nsuʔ-... 
ʔəstásɬ cn ʔaʔ cə sŋənŋánt. 
nəsuʔhiyáʔ mán̕ ʔuʔ tsə́ct. 
ʔiʔ kʷɬƛí̕q cə ʔəšás ʔuʔiyá ʔaʔ cə nəskʷáʔət 
cə nsnə́xʷɬ. 
ʔiʔ mán̕ ʔuʔ x̣éʔsi caw̕niɬ. 
níɬ nəsuʔččásəŋ ʔaʔ caw̕niɬ ʔəšás. 

One time I was paddling at Discovery 
Island. 
I was fishing. 
I was close to the rocks. 
Then I got very close. 
The sea lion came up out of the water at 
the stern of my canoe. 
He was very fierce. 
Then I was chased by that sea lion. 
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níɬ ɬə́ŋ ʔuʔ ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə skʷáʔəts cə 
nəsnə́xʷɬ. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔtə́x̣ʷ cn ʔaʔ cə cácuʔ sŋiyánt. 
nsuʔxʷítəŋ q̕ʷíŋi ʔiʔ tx̣ʷás cə nəsnə́xʷɬ. 
níɬ kʷaʔ suʔhiyáʔs caw̕niɬ ʔəšás. 
sáy̕siʔ cn ʔaw̕nəx̣čŋín tə ʔaʔ či nskʷiʔət́əŋ 
caʔ ʔiʔ ŋaŋútəŋ kʷaʔ ʔuʔstáŋəs. 
ʔiʔ mán̕ č̕ ʔuʔ x̣éʔsi ti ʔəšás ɬət̕áč̕qəs. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsxʷaʔtín̕ ʔaʔ caw̕niɬ ʔəšás. 
níɬ suʔxə̣́nə̕s x̣čtín̕. 

It was right there at the stern of my canoe. 
I hit shore on the rocky beach. 
I jumped ashore and beached my canoe. 
Then that sea lion went. 
Sea lions are very fierce in mating season. 
That's why that sea lion hated me. 
That's everything I know. 

 
Dog Barks at Sea Lions 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 16, 1995 ― DogBarksAtSealions.mp3 

čə́q yaʔ kʷi nəsqáxạʔ yaʔ. 
pə́q̕ sqáxạʔ. 
nəc̕áxʷ nəshiyáʔ ƛ̕ácu ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ x̣ʷáyəŋ. 
ʔiʔ ŋə́n̕ ʔəšás ʔiyá. 
ʔiʔ suʔtə́sɬ ʔaʔ x̣ʷáyəŋ. 
ʔiʔ ʔiyánə̕s cə nəsqáxạʔ cə ʔəšás ŋə́syuʔ. 
níɬ suʔƛá̕ys ʔuʔ ŋə́syuʔ cə nəsqáxạʔ. 
kʷaʔkʷx̣céʔnəŋ̕ kʷaʔ ʔuʔeʔéʔnt čtə.  
x̣čŋín ʔaʔ či sqaʔyáxạʔ cə ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə 
sŋiyánt. 
ʔiʔ ŋə́n̕ tə ʔəšás. 
xə̣nʔáxʷ cn cə nəsqáxạʔ kʷaʔ ʔuʔsə́məxʷs. 
“ʔáw c ŋə́syuʔ. 
ʔáw c sqáx̣aʔ cə ʔíyaʔ ʔaʔ cə ƛ̕čás. 
ʔəšás.” 
ʔiʔ ʔáw kʷaʔ ʔəyaʔnəŋícts cə nəsqáxạʔ. 
ʔuʔáwənə sx̣číts či nsqʷáqʷiʔ ʔəɬ 
qʷiʔnə́w̕itxʷən. 
xə̣nʔáxʷ cn kʷaʔ ʔuʔsəm̕íxʷs. 

My late dog was big. 
It was a white dog. 
One time I went fishing over at Race 
Rocks. 
There were lots of sea lions there. 
And we got to Race Rocks. 
My dog heard the sea lions barking. 
Then my dog barked, too. 
He was hollering, whatever he was saying.  
He thought there were dogs on the rocks. 
But there were many sea lions. 
I told my dog to be quiet. 
“Don't bark. 
That isn't a dog there on the island. 
It's a sea lion.” 
But my dog never listens. 
He doesn't know what I'm saying when I 
talk to him. 
I told him to keep quiet. 
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ʔi ʔuʔsə́ɬəŋ̕ ʔuʔ ŋə́syuʔ. 
xə̣nʔáɬ tə suʔŋə́syuʔs. 
níɬ nəsuʔqiqáynəxʷ. 
níɬ suʔsə́məxʷs cə nəsqáx̣aʔ. 

My dog kept on barking. 
He was always barking. 
Then I got angry at him. 
So then my dog shut up. 

 
A Lost Halibut 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 15, 1995 ― LostHalibut.mp3 

nc̕áxʷ kʷi nəshiyáʔ ƛ̕iʔáŋ ʔaʔ či ʔáčt. 
nəsuʔtə́s ʔaʔ cə naʔátəŋ̕ ɬip̕ícən. 
ƛč̕ás. 
nəsuʔƛč̕iŋítxʷ cə nəswə́ytən ʔiyá txʷaʔƛá̕čɬ. 
ʔuʔféʔšən̕ cn kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ʔiʔ kʷɬčqə́čaʔ cn. 
nəx̣čŋín ʔaʔ či sɬík̕ʷs či sŋiyánt ʔaw̕mán ̕ʔuʔ 
síq̕i. 
nəsuʔxʷk̕ʷə́t txʷaʔcícɬtxʷ. 
ʔiʔ xʷə́k̕ʷt ʔaʔ cə nə-... cə čəʔúʔwən 
sxʷanítəmɬ kʷi ƛ̕ácus ti xʷanítəm naʔátəŋ 
“rod and reel”. 
txʷaʔ-... 
ʔuʔxə̣nʔáxʷ cn kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ kʷɬʔənʔá táči. 
ʔiʔ mán̕ ʔuʔ čə́q scúʔtx̣. 
nəx̣čŋín tə ʔaʔ či sʔáčts ʔiʔ scúʔtx̣ ixʷ. 
nəsuʔq̕ʷúynəxʷ caw̕niɬ scúʔtx̣. 
nsuʔúyəɬtxʷ ʔaʔ cə nəsnə́xʷɬ. 
txʷaʔiyátxʷ cn kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ x̣aʔx̣áʔƛə̕ŋ̕ ʔaʔ 
cə skʷáʔəts cə nəsnə́xʷɬ ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə 
nəməšín. 
sqiʔám̕ či nəsɬx̣ʷə́ct ʔaʔ cə nəməšín. 
I was… 
yəq̕áɬ caw̕niɬ scúʔtx̣. 

It was one time when I was looking for 
lingcod. 
I got to what they call ɬip̕ícən. 
It's an island. 
I sank my net deep there. 
So I was fishing. 
And I caught something. 
I thought I hooked the rocks because it was 
so heavy. 
So I dragged it high up. 
I pulled on the thing white people use for 
fishing that the white people call “rod and 
reel”. 
I was doing that and then it came. 
And it was a very big halibut. 
I thought it was a lingcod, but it must have 
been a halibut. 
So I managed to kill that halibut. 
So I loaded it on to my canoe. 
I put it crosswise at the stern of my canoe 
where my motor was. 
I couldn't steer the motor. 
That halibut was in the way. 
So I took the head of the halibut and I 
turned it around. 
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nəsuʔƛk̕ʷə́t cə sq̕ʷúŋiʔs cə scúʔtx̣ ʔiʔ siq̕úst 
cn. 
x̣čŋín tə ʔaʔ či sʔənʔás caʔ ʔuʔúyəɬtxʷ ʔaʔ 
cə nəsnə́xʷɬ. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔtxʷaʔəsɬáx̣ʷɬs. 
níɬ suʔɬx̣ʷam̕ítəŋs čʔiyá. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔqə́s kʷaʔ. 
ʔiʔ kʷán kʷaʔ kʷi nsqə́čaʔ yaʔ. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔmán̕ yaʔ ʔuʔ čə́qɬ scúʔtx̣. 
síq̕i. 
ƛá̕y cn kʷaʔčaʔ ƛ̕iʔáŋ. 
ʔiʔ ʔáwənə ƛ̕áy nsqə́čaʔ. 

I thought it would come and be brought 
aboard my canoe. 
And then it became straight. 
Then it slipped from there. 
And it fell into the water. 
My catch was lost. 
It was a very big halibut. 
It was heavy. 
I searched again. 
But I got no more catch. 

 
 
Splicing Rope 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 17, 1995 ― SplicingRope.mp3 

čáʔi yaʔ st ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə qʷɬáy̕. 
ʔiʔ sátəŋ cn ʔaʔ cə siʔám̕ kʷaʔ čáčtn cə 
x̣ʷéʔləm. 
nsuʔčáʔi kʷaʔčaʔ. 
I don't know how to say 'splicing' in 
Klallam. 
nəsuʔxə̣nʔátəŋ ʔaʔ cə siʔám̕, “hiyáʔ 
cxʷ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə məšín. 
ʔiʔ ʔiyá cxʷ či n̕sčáy. 
ʔiʔ níɬ cə Art čáčt cə x̣ʷéʔləm.” 
suʔsátəŋ ʔaʔ Art kʷaʔ níɬs čáčt cə x̣ʷéʔləm. 
suʔtə́s ʔaʔ Art suʔčáʔis. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ sxʷʔiyás. 
ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy cn tə́s ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás čaʔčáʔtəŋ̕s cə 
x̣ʷéʔləm. 
ʔiʔ kʷɬtə́s cə siʔám̕. 

We were working at logging. 
I was told by the boss to work on the rope. 
So I was working. 
I don't know how to say 'splicing' in 
Klallam. 
I was told by the boss, “Go over to the 
machine. 
[the machine was a swifter, which was used 
to tighten up a log boom so that the logs 
wouldn't “jump out of the pocket”] 
And that's where you'll work. 
And it will be Art who will work the rope.” 
He told Art to fix the rope. 
So Art got there and was working. 
That's where he was. 
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suʔxə̣nʔátəŋs, “óˑˑ Art, ʔəstúʔŋət kʷaʔčaʔ 
sxʷmuhúy̕s tə ns̕čáy. 
xə̣nʔáxʷ cn kʷaʔ skʷáʔ... 
čáčt či qə́yəŋs cə x̣ʷéʔləm. 
ʔiʔ ʔáwə cn c xə̣nʔáxʷ ʔaʔ nə́kʷ kʷaʔ 
čáyəxʷ ʔaʔ či muhúy̕.” 

I got there again to where the rope was 
being made. 
And the boss got there. 
He said, “Oh, Art, why are you making a 
basket? 
I said to... 
Make a loop in the rope. 
I didn't tell you to make a basket.” 
 

 
 
Fighting Tsimshians Long Ago (conversation) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. and c̕ac̕macút, Ed Sampson, Sr. 
July 9, 1992 ― FightingTsimshiansLongAgo.mp3 

húy q yaʔ cn ʔuʔ x̣čít ti... ti sx̣ʷənʔáŋ̕s yaʔ 
ʔaʔ cə... ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə tɬnáʔəč. 
ƛá̕y č̕ yaʔ ʔuʔ ŋə́n̕ šəmánɬ čšaʔiyá yaʔ ʔaʔ 
cə c̕əm̕šiyán 
I wished I knew all of the story of that, too. 
ƛá̕y yaʔ kʷ ʔuʔ táči ti c̕əm̕šiyán ʔaʔ skʷáʔɬ 
ščtə́ŋxʷənɬ. 
c̕əm̕šiyán. 
mhm. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔhúy ti suʔx̣ʷaʔčátəŋs ʔaʔ ti... 
yeah. 
ƛá̕y č̕ ʔuʔ x̣ʷənʔáŋ cə čaʔiyá cə nəskʷáʔ 
nəʔáʔiŋ. 
ʔiʔiyə́m̕ ʔəcɬtáyŋxʷ x̣ʷənʔáŋ ʔaʔ ʔəć. 
ʔuʔx̣čít u cxʷ ʔaʔ tə nəsʔiyə́m̕ ʔəcɬtáyŋxʷ? 
mhm. 
x̣ʷənʔáŋ ʔaʔ nə́kʷ, əw? 
x̣ʷčátəŋ č ̕yaʔ ti... ti... ti ʔnʔá xị́yəx̣ čšaʔiyá 
cə c̕əm̕šiyán. 

I only know how it was there in Canada. 
They also had many enemies from the 
Tsimshian. 
The Tsimshians also came here to our land. 
They were only killed by the... 
It was also like that there at my home. 
They were strong people like me. 
Do you know I'm a strong person? 
They're like you, eh? 
They were killed, those... 
those that came to war from Tsimshian. 
But there was one of them that... 
that they didn't kill. 
They only cut his tongue out. 
And he was told, “Go home!” 
He had no tongue. 
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ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ yaʔ suʔnáʔc̕uʔs ti... ti ʔáw c 
q̕ʷčútəŋ. 
mhm. 
húy č ̕yaʔ ti suʔɬc̕ítəŋs ti tíxʷɬcs ɬŋáŋ. 
ʔiʔ čaʔsátəŋ, “hiyáʔ cxʷ t̕úk̕ʷ!” 
yeah. 
ʔáwənə tíxʷɬcs. 
They always save one man when they're 
slaughtering the other. 

 
 
Klallam at Smyth Point 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr., šášk̕ʷuʔ, Adeline Smith, and ca̕cmaʔcút, Ed Sampson, Sr. 
July 1, 1992 ― KlallamAtSmythPoint.mp3 

ʔuʔtxʷʔáwənə caʔn x̣čít tiə skʷáʔɬ ʔuʔ 
sqʷáyɬ. 
(Some conversation in English then pause) 
ʔuʔtxʷʔáwənə kʷaʔčaʔ ʔáɬaʔ ʔaʔ tiə tə́ŋəxʷ 
ʔiʔánəŋ ti nəxʷsƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcəns, əw?  
ʔáwənə. 
ʔáwənə, əw? 
(Some conversation about who speaks 
Klallam) 
ʔuʔqʷáqʷi nəxʷsƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcən ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔs 
ʔiʔ ʔiʔánəŋ ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔs. 
(Conversation between TC and AS about 
Ernie Charles talking Klallam) 
ʔaʔ kʷi sʔiyás yaʔ ʔaʔ məq̕ʷúʔəs, níɬ yaʔ 
sxʷʔiyás ti ʔuʔ-... 
kʷi dads yaʔ. 
t sšə́wis yaʔ məq̕ʷúʔəs. 
ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ yaʔ ti suʔnəxʷsƛ̕ay̕əm̕úcənɬ ʔəɬ 
qʷáqʷiʔəɬ. 

I'll get so I don't know our own language. 
(Some conversation in English then pause) 
It's getting so that nobody here in this land 
knows the Klallam language, eh?  
Nothing (AS).  
Nothing, eh? (TC) 
 
 
 
He (Ernie Charles) talks Klallam when he 
talks and knows how to talk. 
 
 
When we were at Smyth Point, that's 
where... his dad was who grew up at Smyth 
Point. 
We always used Klallam when we talked. 
There were no white people. 
We didn't go to school. 
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ʔáwənə či xʷanítəm. 
ʔuʔáwə yaʔ st skʷúkʷəl. 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕ st ʔuʔ ʔiyá məq̕ʷúʔəs ʔiʔ ʔáwənə 
skʷúl. 
níɬ yaʔ kʷaʔčaʔ sxʷuʔxə̣́nə̕ɬ yaʔ 
ʔuʔnəxʷsƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcən ti qʷáqʷiʔ yaʔ. 
Bobby Charles and Sam Johnson, all them 
people that used to live there. 
ʔéʔtt u cxʷ? 
x̣ʷəyúq̕ʷəŋ cxʷ. 
húy ti nsuʔyaʔiŋəcút. (ES) 
 

We were all there at Smyth Point and there 
was no school. 
That's why all of us spoke the Klallam 
language. 
 
 
 
 
Are you sleeping? 
You're snoring. 
I'm just listening. 

 
Tom and Ed Talk about Forgetting the Old Stories 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  and c̕ac̕maʔcút, Ed Sampson, Sr. 
July 1, 1992 ― TCForgetsDadsStories.mp3 

ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ yaʔ ti nəsuʔyaʔcústəŋ ʔaʔ kʷi 
nəsʔáyəxʷ, kʷi nədad yaʔ. 
x̣ʷiyám̕ ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣nʔáɬ. 
ʔiʔ... ʔiʔ ʔáwə cn c ƛ̕kʷnáxʷ. 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕ kʷə ʔuʔnəsmə́y̕əq. 
sxʷaʔxʷk̕ʷéʔqʷ yəxʷ cn kʷaʔ ʔuʔsx̣ʷəníŋəs 
čtə. 
x̣ʷənáŋ ʔaʔ tiə nəcousin. 
q̕áp̕ yəxʷ cn ʔaʔ tiə nəcousin. 
ʔuʔəyánəxʷ u cxʷ kʷaʔ? 
It's a good thing I can't hear you. (ES) 
q̕ʷčútəŋ cn kʷaʔ yaʔyáʔnəŋən ʔaʔ tiw̕niɬ. 
nəsʔúq̕ʷaʔ. 
tiə nəsʔúq̕ʷaʔ. 
My cousin (ES) 
m̕. nəsŋə́q̕ʷuʔ. 
sŋə́q̕ʷuʔ. 

All the time I was told by my elder, late 
Dad. 
He told stories all the time. 
And... And I didn't get them. 
I forgot everything. 
I must have been crazy or something. 
Like my cousin here. 
I must have caught it from my cousin here. 
Did you hear it? 
It's a good thing I can't hear you. (ES) 
I'd get beat up if this guy was listening to 
me. (TC) 
My cousin (ES) 
My cousin here (TC) 
My cousin (ES) 
Yes (TC). My crane. 
Crane (ES) 
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[ TC was called a crane because he's long-
legged. They're punning on the similarity of 
/sŋə́q̕ʷuʔ/ and /sʔúq̕ʷaʔ/. ] 

 
 
Some Things Tom Was Told by His Elders 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. and c̕ac̕maʔcút, Ed Sampson, Sr. 
September 29, 1993 ― WhatTCWasTold.mp3 

ʔuʔhúy yaʔ ʔuʔ nsyac... yaʔcústəŋ ʔaʔ kʷi 
nəsʔáyəxʷ yaʔ. 
ʔiʔ či snás čtə ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít. 
ƛá̕y ʔuʔ x̣ʷənáŋ ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás ʔaʔ cə 
nə́c̕uʔ tə́ŋəxʷ. 
ʔáwə yaʔ c ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ ti nəsuʔyaʔcústəŋ ʔaʔ 
ti ʔuʔxə̣nə̕stáŋ ʔáɬaʔ ʔaʔ tiə ʔéʔɬx̣ʷaʔ. 
ʔuʔhúy cə... ʔuʔ čʔiyá ʔaʔx̣ʷáyəŋ təs 
ʔaʔməq̕ʷúʔəs ʔiʔ cə súʔukʷ. 
húy yaʔ nsuʔ-... ʔuʔnəsyaʔcústəŋ ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔ 
xə̣n̕áɬ 
ʔaʔ ti sx̣ʷənʔáŋ̕s yaʔ kʷi ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ yaʔ kʷi 
čičiyáŋəns yaʔ čtə. 
níɬ č̕ yaʔ čʔiyá ʔaʔ cə súʔukʷ ʔuʔtə́s ƛ̕áy 
ʔaʔNitinaht. 
ƛá̕y ʔuʔ níɬ ʔuʔsxʷčʔiyás kʷi čičiyáŋəns 
yaʔ. ʔuʔ čʔəɬáʔ č̕ yaʔ ʔaʔ tiə tə́ŋəxʷ tiə 
ʔéʔɬx̣ʷaʔ stə́ss ʔaʔNitinaht. 
níɬ nəsyaʔcústəŋ ʔaʔ tiə nəsq̕ʷúʔšən ʔaʔ či 
sčʔəɬáʔtəŋs yaʔ kʷi ɬənɬániʔ. 
hiyáʔ ʔúx̣ʷtəŋ ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás kʷaʔčaʔ 
sk̕ʷíɬuʔs. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔ-... 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ sxʷŋə́n̕s sčə́yaʔčaʔɬ ʔiyáʔ ʔaʔ cə 
Vancouver Island. 

I was only... told by my late elders. 
And its name, I don't know. 
It's also like that at that other land. 
They didn't always tell me everything about 
here at Elwha. 
Only the... from Bentinck Island to Smyth 
Head and Sooke. 
I was only... I was told all the time what it 
must have been like in the villages of their 
ancestors. 
It was from Sooke to Nitinaht again. 
That's also where their ancestors were 
from. They apparently came from this land 
here, Elwha to get to Nitinaht. 
That's what I was told by my wife that they 
brought the women here. 
They were brought there to live with their 
in-laws. 
That's why we have many relatives on 
Vancouver Island. 
They come from here at Smyth Head to 
Nitinaht. 
We have many relatives and they know 
they come from Elwha. 
I don't know where they were because... 
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ʔuʔčʔáɬaʔ ʔaʔməq̕ʷúʔəs ʔiʔ ʔuʔtə́s 
ʔaʔNitinaht. 
ŋə́n̕ sčə́yaʔčaʔɬ ʔi ʔuʔx̣čtís suʔčʔəɬáʔs ʔaʔ tiə 
ʔéʔɬx̣ʷaʔ. 
ʔáwənə... 
ʔáwə cn t ʔuʔx̣čít kʷaʔ ʔuʔəx̣ínəs čtə ʔaw̕-... 
ʔuʔɬə́ŋ st ʔuʔ kʷán. 
x̣ʷənʔáŋ̕ ʔaʔ tiə sqʷáyɬ 
ŋə́n̕... kʷɬŋə́n̕ nəsmə́yə̕q. 
ʔuʔtxʷčəŋíkʷs cn ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔən. 
ʔuʔtxʷʔáwənə stáŋ nəsxč̣ít kʷaʔ ʔuʔeʔéʔnt 
ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔən kʷaʔ ʔuʔsƛ̕úʔƛə̕mə̕n. 
suʔ-... xə̣́nəŋ ʔaʔ Ed here xʷaʔxʷəníti ʔəɬ 
qʷáqʷiʔəs. 
x̣čŋíns ʔaʔ či s-... či sʔiʔánəŋs ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔs 
ʔiʔ xʷanítəm. 
ʔiʔ xʷaʔxʷəníti ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔs. 
ʔuʔyáʔnəxʷ u cxʷ kʷaʔ? ʔáa ʔeʔéʔnət ʔuč 
tiə naʔc̕áʔəŋəxʷ? 
ʔuʔnə́kʷ kʷi kʷ uʔnaʔc̕áʔəŋəxʷ. 
ʔuʔníɬ ʔən̕suʔaʔáʔmət ʔáwənə x̣čít tiə 
sqʷáqʷiʔɬ. 
sq̕ʷiʔáʔən cn. 
sq̕ʷiʔáʔən u cxʷ? 
n̕sƛ̕éʔ u či nə́c̕uʔ ʔaʔ tiə nəq̕ʷə́yən̕. 
Yeah. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ suʔhúys x̣čtín cə nəsyaʔcústəŋ 
ʔaʔ kʷi old man Charlie Jones yaʔ. 
[unclear] ʔaʔ ti suʔčʔáɬaʔs yaʔ ʔaʔ tiə... 
Your ear ain't big enough to fit my head 
(ES). 
txʷnaʔč̕éʔyəŋ yaʔ tiə xʷanítəm. 
That Chinese lady in Victoria said my ears 
are big. That's why I'm going to live a long 

We are completely lost. 
It's like our language. 
Lots... 
I've already forgotten much. 
I'm getting to not know how to talk. 
It's getting so that I don't know if anything 
I'm saying is correct when I talk. 
so... Like Ed here, he's swearing when he 
talks. 
He thinks that... he knows how to talk, but 
he's a white man. 
And he swears when he talks. 
Did you hear it? Yes (ES). 
What is this stranger saying? (ES) 
It's you that's the stranger. 
You're sitting there 
not understanding our talking. 
I'm deaf. (ES) 
Are you deaf? 
Do you want one of my hearing aids? 
Yeah. 
That's all I know that I was told by the late 
old man Charlie Jones. 
about from here at this... 
This white man is changing the subject. 
That Chinese lady in Victoria said my ears 
are big. That's why I'm going to live a long 
time. Yours is too small. Now you guys go 
ahead; I'm interfere. (ES) 
Proceed with your discussion. 
I have no more to tell. 
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time. Yours is too small. Now you guys go 
ahead; I'm interfere. (ES) 
sɬə́ŋəct ʔaʔ či n̕shaʔníčəŋ̕. 
ʔəẃ̕k̫̕  kʷə kʷi nəsyə́cəm yaʔ. 

 
Why the Tales Are Lost 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 
June 27, 1996 ― WhyTalesAreLost.mp3 

ŋə́n̕ yaʔ yəxʷ tə sx̣ʷiʔám̕s ʔiʔ...  
ʔiʔ ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕ kʷə ʔuʔnəsmə́yə̕q ʔaw̕ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ 
ti nsuʔxʷanítəm ʔəɬ qʷáqʷin. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsxʷ-... sxʷkʷáns qʷáqʷi kʷi 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕ yaʔ nəsyaʔcústəŋ ʔaʔ kʷi 
nəsʔiʔáyəxʷ yaʔ. 

I guess there were many stories and... 
I forget everything because I always am a 
white man when I talk. 
That's why... why the language is lost 
everything I was told by my late elders. 

 
 
Why His Children Do Not Speak Klallam 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 
June 25, 1996 ― WhyKidsDontSpeak.mp3 

ʔáa. níɬ kʷə nəsxʷƛ̕áy ʔuʔ čəŋíkʷs cə 
nəxʷsƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcən. 
because ʔuʔhúy ti suʔxʷiyanítəms cə 
nəŋə́nəŋənaʔ. 
ʔáwənə či cán ʔiʔánəŋ ʔəɬ 
nəxʷsƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcənəs ʔaw̕čʔiyá cə north kʷi 
táns yaʔ cə nəsƛ̕ayéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ.  
húʔ cn nəxʷsƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcən ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔən ʔiʔ 
xə̣nʔátəŋ cn ʔaʔ či nsčaynéʔəŋ̕ č̕. 
čáynəmən č ̕cn ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔən. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ suʔtxʷhúys ti nsuʔxʷanítəm ʔəɬ 
qʷáqʷiʔən. 

Yes. That's why I also don't know the 
Klallam language. 
My children are only white people. 
None of them understand the Klallam 
language because the late mother of my 
children was from the north. 
So then. When I'm talking Klallam they tell 
me I'm apparently talking Chinese. 
I'm Chinese when I talk. 
So then I've become only a white man 
when I speak. 
So there's much of our language that I've 
forgotten. 
If I hear it, I'll remember it again. 
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ʔuʔŋə́n̕ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔ tiə skʷáʔɬ ʔuʔsqʷáyɬ 
nəsmə́y̕əq. 
húʔ ʔəɬ ʔiyánə̕xʷən ʔiʔ čaʔnəshák̫̕  ƛ̕áy. 
čaʔx̣čnáxʷ cn ti sqʷáy. 

I'll figure out the language. 
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Talking to the Homeland (first version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
June 17, 1996 ― TalkingToHomeland-1.mp3 

nə́kʷ ʔuʔ nəčičiyáŋən. 
ʔáw cxʷ c ʔuʔnač̕nəč̕áʔis. 
ʔuʔ-... 
ʔuʔ-... 
ʔuʔčʔáɬaʔ cn ʔaʔ tiə tə́ŋəxʷ. 
You are my ancestors, like. don't think that 
I'm different or something. I come from 
this place. 
nač̕nəč̕áʔis. [unintel.] x̣ənʔáxʷs kʷə kʷaʔ 
ʔáwəs c ʔuʔnač̕nəč̕áʔis. 
nə́kʷ ʔuʔ nəčiyáŋən. 
ʔáw cn c náč̕. 
ʔənʔá cn čá̕ŋ̕ ʔaʔ ti ntə́ŋxʷ. 

You are my heritage. 
Don't be a stranger. 
I am from this land. 
Don't think that I'm a stranger. to tell it that 
I'm not a stranger. 
You are my ancestor. 
I'm not different. 
I came home to my land. 
  

 
Talking to the Homeland (second version) 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
July 29, 1996 ― TalkingToHomeland-2.mp3 

yəcúst “ʔəć... 
ʔəć ʔuʔ n̕sɬkʷsə́wəs. 
nə́kʷ ʔuʔ nčiyáŋən. 
ʔáw cxʷ c ʔuʔnač̕ənəč̕áʔis. 
ʔəć ʔaʔ ʔuʔ... 
ʔəć ʔuʔ čʔáɬaʔ ʔaʔ tiə ʔéʔɬx̣ʷaʔ. 
ʔuʔčʔáɬaʔ yaʔ nəčičiyáŋən yaʔ. 

Tell it, “It's me... 
I am your descendant. 
You are my ancestor. 
You are not a stranger. 
It's me that is from Elwha. 
My ancestors were from here.” 

 
 



The Klallam Narratives of wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 

54 
 

Talking to a Strange Land 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
June 14, 1996 ― TalkToAStrangeLand.mp3 

ʔáw cn c náč̕. 
ʔuʔnə́c̕uʔ st ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ. 
ʔuʔhúy tiə sqʷáyɬ ʔuʔ náč̕. 

I'm not different. 
We are one tribe/people. 
Only our languages are different. 
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wətə́nəxə̣n’s Life 
 

 
Childhood and Work 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
June 12, 1996 ― LifeChildhoodJobs.mp3 

yəcúsc caʔn ʔaʔ či sx̣ʷənʔáŋs yaʔ yuʔ ʔaʔ 
kʷi nəsƛ̕íƛ̕aʔƛq̕ɬ ʔaʔ kʷi nəsmán̕ yaʔ ʔuʔ 
twaw̕ƛ̕úƛa̕ʔ. 
ʔiyá č̕ yaʔ st ʔaʔDeep Creek ti s-... sxʷʔiyás 
kʷi ʔáʔiŋɬ yaʔ sxʷʔiyás yaʔ kʷi nəcə́t yaʔ 
ʔəɬ čáʔiʔs ʔəsqʷáɬiʔ ʔiʔ cə sčə́yaʔčaʔs, John 
Mike... 
yaʔcústəŋ yaʔ cn ʔaʔ ti nsmán̕ yaʔ ʔuʔ 
x̣aʔx̣iyáʔs ʔaʔ kʷi nstwaw̕ƛ̕úƛa̕ʔ sƛ̕iƛ̕áʔƛq̕ɬ. 
húʔ č̕ yaʔ cn t̕áčq̕ ʔiʔ mič̕iyúʔisəŋ č ̕cn ʔiyá 
ʔaʔ ti tə́ŋxʷ. 
txʷaʔtitə́ŋxʷi ti nɬqít. 
níɬ nsuʔƛk̕ʷə́təŋ ʔaʔ kʷi ncə́t yaʔ ʔiʔ čšə́yuʔ 
qsə́təŋ ʔaʔ cə stúʔwiʔ. 
ʔiʔ húʔ cn ƛí̕q ʔəɬ ʔənʔán iq ʔiʔ nəsuʔt̕án. 
ʔiʔ níɬ nəsuʔáxə̣ŋ, “húy u cn?” 
níɬ suʔqʷáys kʷi nəcə́t yaʔ, “ʔáwə. 
ʔáw cxʷ c húy. 
twəw̕mán̕ ʔuʔ... mán̕ cxʷ ʔuʔ ʔəsx̣áʔəs.” 
níɬ nsuʔƛá̕y čšə́yuʔ qsə́təŋ. 
ʔiʔ húʔ cn kʷaʔčaʔ ƛ̕áy ʔənʔá t̕annúŋət ʔəɬ 
p̕ákʷəŋən ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy č̕ cn čtáŋ kʷaʔ, “húy u? 
húy u cn?” 
ʔuʔáxə̣ŋ č ̕kʷaʔčaʔ yaʔ, “ʔi ʔuʔhúy st 
n̕sqə́stəŋ̕.” 
níɬ suʔƛá̕ys txʷaʔə́yəstəŋ nə-... nəsʔiʔáyəxʷ. 
ʔiʔ húʔ č̕ cn ƛá̕y t̕áčq̕... t̕áčq̕. 

I'm going to tell you how it was when I 
was a child when I was still very small. 
It was there at Deep Creek the... It was 
where our home was. 
That was where my father was when he 
was logging with his relatives, John Mike... 
They tell me I was very ornery when I was 
still a small child. 
When I got mad, I'd roll around on the 
ground. 
My clothes got dirty. 
Then I'd be taken by my father and thrown 
into the river. 
When I'd come up to the surface, I'd go 
ashore. 
Then I said, “Am I finished?” 
Then my father said, “No. 
You're not finished. 
You're still very bad. 
Then he threw me in the water again. 
When I managed to float ashore again, I 
again asked, “Is it finished? 
Am I finished?” 
We're finished with your dunking. 
So they were made happy again, 
my parents. 
And if I was angry again... 



The Klallam Narratives of wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 

56 
 

mán̕ yəxʷ yaʔ cn ʔəsx̣aʔx̣iyáʔs ixʷ kʷə 
nəsƛ̕úƛ̕aʔ. 
t̕áčq̕ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ƛá̕y t̕áčq̕ ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy cn mič̕iyúʔisəŋ ʔiyá cə 
tə́ŋəxʷ ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy č̕ cn kʷaʔčaʔ qsə́təŋ ʔaʔ cə 
stúʔwi. 
sƛ̕éʔs či sca̕ʔkʷátəŋs cə sx̣áʔəs. 
ʔáɬa tiə nəbody kʷaʔ stáŋəs tə. 
ʔuʔiyá st kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔ cə Deep Creek. 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít ti snaʔátəŋs nəxʷsƛ̕áyə̕m̕s 
snás. 
ʔi ʔuʔhúy č ̕sčáʔiʔs kʷə nəcə́t yaʔ ʔəsqʷáɬiʔ. 
níɬ suʔčánis t̕ákʷi ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔməq̕ʷúʔəs ʔiyá 
ʔaʔ cə čiyánəxʷ. 
ʔiyá č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ʔiyá č̕ st ʔaʔ cə naʔátəŋ ʔaʔ məq̕ʷúʔəs. 
níɬ nsxʷʔiyá tə nəšə́wi. 
ʔuʔx̣čít cn ʔaʔ kʷi nəstwəw̕ƛú̕ƛ̕aʔ. 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít kʷi k̕ʷíns yaʔ čtə sčiyánəŋ 
kʷə nəsʔiyá yaʔ. 
šə́wi cn kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ txʷaʔswéʔwəs. 
níɬ suʔčánis cə nəsʔiʔáyəxʷ yaʔ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə 
sx̣ʷimáɬ sxʷʔiyás čáy ʔaʔ ti sčánnəxʷ. 
naʔátəŋ ʔaʔ ti xʷanítəm ti scannerys. 
níɬ sxʷʔiyás cə sčáʔiʔs. 
ʔiyáˑˑ st kʷaʔčaʔ sčáʔiʔɬ. 
ʔuʔtxʷaʔswéʔwəs cn. 
ƛá̕y cn ʔuʔ čaynúŋət. 
ʔuʔčáy ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás cə ŋə́n̕ ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ. 
čáy ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ. 
ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ čšaʔxə̣́nə̕x̣in. 
čáy ʔaʔ cə West Coast of Vancouver Island. 
sxʷčáʔiʔ yaʔ st ʔiʔ ŋə́n̕ ixʷ. 

I must have been very naughty as a child. 
Angry then 
Again I got mad, and again I rolled around 
on the ground, and again I'd get thrown in 
the river. 
They wanted to wash off the bad. 
here on my body, whatever it was. 
We were there at Deep Creek. 
I don't know what they call the Klallam 
name. 
And my father was finished working on the 
logging. 
Then we moved across to Rocky Point 
there at Becher Bay. 
It was there. 
We were there at what's called Smyth 
Head. 
That's where I grew up. 
I knew it when I was still small. 
I don't know how old I was when I was 
there. 
I grew and became a young man. 
Then my parents move over to Esquimalt 
where they worked on the salmon. 
It was called by the white man “cannery”. 
That's where they were working. 
We were there working. 
I became a young man. 
I finally went to work, too. 
It's where a lot of Indians worked. 
They worked on everything. 
There were Indians from everywhere. 
The worked from the West Coast of 
Vancouver Island. We worked with many. 
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ʔənʔá táči čáʔiɬ ʔiʔ ti čičáyni ʔi ʔuʔx̣ə́nə̕staŋ 
xʷiyanítəm. 
ʔuʔŋə́n̕ ʔəxʷíyŋəxʷ čaʔiyá. 
ʔiyáˑˑ st kʷaʔčaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ. 
níɬ suʔhúys ti sčáʔiʔs ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə 
sqʷəy̕əsáw̕txʷ ti snaʔátəŋs. 
sqʷəy̕əsáw̕txʷ. 
níɬ suʔƛá̕yɬ čániɬ. 
hiyáʔ st ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ kʷsə ƛ̕čás sxʷʔiyáɬ yaʔ. ʔi 
ʔuʔiyá yaʔ st ʔəɬ ƛ̕áʔcuʔəɬ. 
čqáʔčaʔ ʔaʔ ti kʷítšən ʔiʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ. 
ʔáčt ʔiʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ x̣ən̕áɬ ti 
sxʷxʷúʔyəmɬ̕ ʔaʔ... 
ʔúʔuʔtx̣ʷ cə fish market ʔaʔtáwn. 
cút kʷaʔ ƛ̕kʷnáxʷɬ či ƛ̕úƛa̕ʔ tálə. 
níɬ suʔiyáɬ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔuʔx̣ən̕áɬ. 
ti suʔiyáɬ ti suʔféʔšənɬ̕, ƛ̕áʔcuʔ. 
xə̣́n̕əstaŋ sqə́čaʔɬ. 
níɬ suʔhúys ti sʔiyáɬ ti ƛá̕ʔcuʔ. 
níɬ suʔƛá̕yɬ čáni ʔənʔá ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔməq̕ʷúʔəs. 
ƛá̕y st kʷaʔčaʔ č̕áŋ̕. 
ʔi ʔuʔiyáˑˑ st ʔaʔ məq̕ʷúʔəs ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ. 
čáy st. 
ƛá̕y st čáytəŋ ʔaʔ ti Indian Agent yaʔ ʔaʔ cə 
qə̕yáxə̣ns cə tə́ŋxʷ sxʷʔiyáɬ c sxʷʔiyás cə 
ʔáʔiŋɬ. 
ʔuʔŋə́n̕ yaʔ ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ ʔiyá kʷi nəcáčc yaʔ 
x̣ʷiʔpáʔiʔtən̕. 
ʔiʔ náʔc̕uʔ yaʔ nəcáčc, Bobby Charles. 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕ yaʔ. 
ŋə́n̕ yaʔ ʔiyá č̕ či ns-... 
kʷi naʔátəŋ yaʔ Sam Johnson ʔiʔ James 
Fisher, Johnny James. 
ʔuʔxə̣́n̕ ʔuʔ nəxʷsƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcən ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔs. 

We came there to work with Chinese and 
all kinds of white people. 
There were lots of Indians working there. 
We were there all the time. 
Then the work was finished there at the 
cannery, as it was called. 
So we moved again. 
We went to Discovery Island where we 
were. And we were there while we were 
fishing. 
They were catching spring salmon and 
everything. 
Lingcod and anything all the time that we 
could sell. 
[unintel] the fish market in town. 
It was so that we could get a little money. 
So we were there all the time. 
So we were there fishing, trolling. 
We caught everything. 
Then the fishing finished there where we 
were. 
Then we moved again over to Smyth Head. 
We came home again. 
We were there at Smyth Head all the time. 
We worked. 
We were put to work again by the Indian 
Agent on fencing the land where we were, 
where our house was. 
There were many people there, my uncle, 
Henry Charles. 
And another uncle, Bobby Charles. 
They all were. 
Many were there... 
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ʔáwənə či náč̕. 
ʔuʔhúy ti sɬánis ʔuʔ náč̕. 
čaʔiyá ʔaʔ cə Saanich. 
ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ ti sɬánis. 
ʔiyá kʷaʔčaʔ ti nəšə́wi ʔaʔ cə... 
čáʔiʔ č̕ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔ cə q̕əyáxə̣ns cə tə́ŋəxʷɬ 
yaʔ ʔaʔ cə məq̕ʷúʔəs. 
níɬ suʔhúyts. 
níɬ suʔx̣íyəx̣s ʔiʔ čánəŋ kʷaʔ kʷi farm yaʔ 
naʔátəŋ ʔaʔ x̣ʷáyŋ. 
ʔiyá kʷaʔ čánəŋ. suʔtákʷəŋs 
cə tə́ŋxʷs ʔaʔ cə mə́nuwa. 
txʷaʔmə́nuwa kʷaʔčaʔ cə tə́ŋəxʷ. 
sxʷʔiyás kʷi čən̕éʔəŋɬ yaʔ ti sqáwc 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ yaʔ, 
onions, cabbage. 
ŋə́n̕ maʔyúsməs. 
ŋə́n̕ ʔiyá tə músməs. 
sxʷʔiyáɬ yaʔ ti staʔwáyuɬ yaʔ sqə́muʔs ti 
músməs ʔiʔ ti saplín ʔiʔ ti šúkʷaʔ, tíy, 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ. 
titáʔəw̕əɬ č̕ yaʔ ʔaʔ cə naʔátəŋ farmers. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ č̕ suʔhiyáʔs kʷaʔ. 
ʔəẃ̕k̫̕  kʷi farmers yaʔ ʔaʔ kʷi stákʷəŋs cə 
tə́ŋəxʷ ʔaʔ cə mə́nuwa. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔčániɬ yaʔ txʷaʔ-...  
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít kʷə stáŋ či snaʔátəŋs. 
ʔuʔnə́c̕uʔ cə ƛ̕úƛ̕aʔ... sxʷʔiyás yaʔ kʷi 
nəč̕áʔməqʷ yaʔ naʔátəŋ qaʔqéʔaʔyəs. 
níɬ č̕ sxʷʔiyáɬ ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕x̣in. 
sxʷʔiyás ti ʔáyaʔyəŋɬ̕. 
c̕íŋi st ʔaʔ cə súɬ sxʷtxʷʔáxə̣ŋs ti xʷúyəm 
yaʔ ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ. 
saplín, šúkʷaʔ, ʔiʔ tíy. 

they were called Sam Johnson and James 
Fisher, Johnny James. 
They all spoke Klallam when they talked. 
There wasn't anything else. 
Only their wives were different. 
They were from Saanich. 
It was the wives' village. 
I grew up there at the... working on the 
fence of our land at Smyth Head. 
Then they finished it. 
Then there was war and the farm was 
moved from what's called Race Rocks. 
They were moved from there. Their land 
was bought by the navy. 
The land became a navy base. 
That's where they planted potatoes, 
everything, onions, cabbages. 
There was lots of cattle. 
There were lots of cows there. 
We were there to buy milk, bread, sugar, 
tea, everything. 
We were in back of what they called 
“farmers”. 
Then they left. 
There were no more farmers on the land 
that was bought by the navy. 
And then we moved to... 
I don't know what they called it. 
It's where my great grandfather called 
qaʔqéʔaʔyəs. 
Then we were everywhere. 
It's where our houses were. 
We were close to the road where they sold 
everything. 
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ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ sxʷxʷúʔyəm̕ cəw̕niɬ sxʷimáy. 
ʔiyá st kʷaʔčaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ. 
húʔ st ƛ̕áy čáni ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy st hiyáʔ ʔúx̣̫  ʔaʔ 
sx̣ʷimáɬ. 
ʔi ʔuʔiyá st ʔiʔ níɬ yaʔ sxʷʔiyás ti 
nəskʷúkʷəl̕. 
ƛa̕ʔ-... 
ʔúx̣ʷ cn ʔaʔ cə schoolhouse. 
ʔiʔ ʔáwə cn c mán̕ ʔuʔ x̣čnáxʷ ti sqʷáys ti 
xʷanítəm. 
ʔáw... 
ƛú̕ƛ̕aʔ yaʔ cə sxʷʔiyáɬ ʔaʔ cə skʷúkʷəlɬ. 
ƛa̕ʔƛú̕ƛ̕aʔ ʔáʔyəŋ. 
húʔ kʷaʔčaʔ c nsʔiyá ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy st čáy ʔúx̣ʷ 
ʔaʔ cə sqʷəyə̕sáw̕txʷ. 
ʔiyá st kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ níɬ nəsuʔiyá čqcút. 
txʷaʔčaʔčə́q swéʔwəs. 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít kʷaʔ stáŋəs či snaʔátəŋs cə 
sixteen-year-old. 
ʔiyá cn kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ húy cn... ʔuʔčáʔiʔ yaʔ 
cn ʔiyá. 
ʔiʔ níɬ nəsuʔhúy. 
ʔiʔ nəsuʔhiyáʔ t̕ákʷi ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔVancouver. 
čaʔiyá cn kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔVancouver ʔiʔ hiyáʔ 
cn cúŋtəŋ ʔúx̣ʷtəŋ ʔaʔYakima sxʷʔiyá st 
ʔiʔɬə́m̕cə̕ŋ̕ ʔaʔ ti naʔátəŋ háps. 
níɬ yaʔ ʔiyá ʔuʔ nə́c̕uʔ ʔəsčáʔiʔs kʷi 
ʔəxʷíyŋəxʷ yəxʷ yaʔ x̣čtín̕. 
háps ti sčáʔiʔs. 
néʔ ti ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə ʔápəls ti sɬə́m̕cə̕ŋs̕ ʔaʔ ti 
ʔápəls. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔuʔ húy yaʔ sxʷʔiyá ti 
ƛ̕kʷnáxʷs ti sčáys ʔiyá ʔaʔYakima ʔəɬ 
ʔáwəs c ʔáɬaʔ ʔaʔWinslow, Seattle. 

Bread, sugar and tea. 
The store was selling everything. 
We were there always. 
When we moved again, we again went to 
Esquimalt. 
We were there and that is where I went to 
school. 
I went to the school house. 
I didn't study the words of the white man 
very much. 
Where we went to school was small. 
It was a small building. 
When we were there, we again worked at 
the cannery. 
We were there and then I got big. 
I became a big young man. 
I don't know what they call a sixteen-year-
old. 
I was there and only... I was working there. 
And then I finished. 
And I went over to Vancouver. 
I was just in Vancouver and I was taken 
inland to Yakima. It's where we harvested 
what they call hops. 
That there was the only job for Indians that 
I knew. 
Their job was hops. 
Some went to the apples, picking apples. 
That's the only place to get work there at 
Yakima when it's not here at Winslow, 
Seattle. 
Once they were at Puyallup harvesting 
everything, hops... 



The Klallam Narratives of wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 

60 
 

nc̕áxʷ ʔiʔ ʔiyá ʔaʔPuyallup ti sɬə́m̕cə̕ŋ̕s ʔaʔ 
ti ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ, háps ti.... 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít ti snaʔátəŋs cə berries 
ɬə́m̕cə̕ŋ̕... 
ʔuʔhúy yaʔ ʔuʔsčáʔiʔs kʷi nəsʔiʔáyəxʷ yaʔ 
ʔaw̕ʔáwənə yaʔ stáŋ sčáys kʷi sʔúx̣ʷs. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ t suʔx̣ʷənʔáŋs. 
suʔhúys yaʔ. 
ʔuʔiyá cn ʔaʔYakima ʔiʔ čəmə̕snə́kʷi cn ʔaʔ 
kʷi nəsɬániʔ yaʔ. 
níɬ suʔqʷáys ʔaʔ či sƛ̕éʔs ʔaʔ či sʔənʔás 
ʔiʔsəwáʔ ʔaʔ ʔəć kʷaʔ t̕úk̕ʷən ʔaw̕mán ̕ʔuʔ 
sxʷaʔtín̕s cə sxʷʔiyás. 
Auntie's kʷaʔ ʔuʔstáŋəs yaʔ čtə. 
ʔuʔmán̕ ʔuʔ qʷúʔqʷaʔ ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ. 
húy st kʷaʔčaʔ ɬə́m̕cə̕ŋ̕ ʔaʔ ti háps ʔiyá 
ʔaʔYakima. 
ʔiʔ kʷɬníɬ suʔənʔás t̕úk̕ʷ kʷi nəcáčc yaʔ 
Johnny James. 
níɬ suʔ-... 
ʔiʔ níɬ yaʔ nəsq̕ʷúʔšən. 
suʔqʷáys, “hiyáʔ caʔ st t̕úk̕ʷ.” 
“ʔəý̕.” 
suʔyéʔkʷsəŋɬ. 
ʔiʔ... 
ɬ... 
ʔiʔ ʔúyɬtxʷ cə sʔícə̕ŋɬ ʔaʔ cə carɬ ʔiʔ níɬ 
suʔənʔás ʔiʔsəwáʔ kʷɬəw̕niɬ q̕áʔŋi yaʔ. 
táns cə nəsƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
č̕áŋ̕ st kʷaʔčaʔ x̣ʷənʔáˑˑŋ. 
ʔiʔ kʷɬƛk̕ʷnás cə pípəs čʔiyá ʔaʔ cə skʷáʔs 
tə́ŋəxʷs cəw̕niɬ q̕áʔŋi. 

I don't know what they called the berries 
harvested... 
It was the only work my parents had 
because they had no other job to go to. 
So it was like that. 
They finished. 
I was there at Yakima when I met my late 
wife. 
Then she said that she wanted to come 
along with me when I go home because she 
really hated where she was. 
It was her auntie's or whatever it was. 
She was always drinking. 
We finished picking hops there at Yakima. 
Now they came home to my uncle Johnny 
James. 
And he was my partner. 
So he said, “We're going to go home.” 
“Good” 
So we got ready. 
Load up our clothes in our car and then that 
girl came along. 
She was the mother of my kids. 
We got home like that. 
The girl got a letter from the land she came 
from. 
It told her, “If you don't get properly 
married you will be brought home because 
you are still very much a child. 
You're not a grown woman.” 
Then the woman said, “We better get 
married.” 
Therefore, we got married. 
We went to the priest and he married us. 
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xə̣nátəŋ, “húʔ caʔ cxʷ ʔuʔáwə c ʔuʔcəʔéʔt 
ʔuʔ maliyíti ʔiʔ níɬ caʔ ʔən̕suʔt̕k̕ʷístəŋ 
ʔaw̕mán ̕cxʷ ʔuʔ twəw̕sƛ̕íƛ̕aʔƛq̕ɬ. 
ʔáwə cxʷ c čə́q sɬáni.” 
níɬ suʔqʷáys kʷi sɬániʔ yaʔ, “ʔəý̕ či 
smaliyítiɬ.” 
suʔmaliyítiɬ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
txʷaʔ-... 
ʔiʔ ʔúx̣ʷ st ʔaʔ cə ləplít ʔiʔ maliyístəŋ st. 
húy kʷaʔčaʔ sx̣ʷənʔáŋs suʔƛú̕m̕s kʷaʔ suʔ-
... 
ƛá̕y st t̕úk̕ʷ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔčiyánəxʷ. 
suʔčáyɬ ʔaʔ cə ʔáʔiŋɬ. 
ʔuʔčáʔsaʔ st sčáʔiʔɬ ʔaʔ cə ʔáʔiŋɬ. 
ʔiyá yaʔ cn ʔaʔ cə... 
čáynəŋut cn yaʔ 
ʔaʔ cə xʷúʔyəm̕ ʔaʔ ti ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít ti 
snaʔátəŋ tə coal. 
txʷaʔštəŋístxʷ ti coal sxʷxʷúʔyəm̕s cəw̕niɬ 
xʷiyanítəm. 
ʔúyəɬtəŋ ʔaʔ ti čə́q truck. 
ʔiʔ ʔəć driverstənɬ. 
ʔiyá... 
ʔúx̣ʷtxʷ ʔaʔ ti ʔəýaʔyəŋs sxʷxʷúyəms tə 
coal. 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít ti snaʔátəŋs ʔaʔ ti 
nəxʷsƛ̕áyə̕m̕. 
ʔiyá cn kʷaʔčaʔ ti nəsčáʔiʔ. 
ʔiʔ húʔ cn č̕áŋ̕ ʔaʔčiyánəxʷ, ʔiʔ níɬ 
nəsuʔƛá̕y tə́s ʔaʔ cə nəʔáʔiŋ ʔiʔ čáčuʔtxʷəŋ 
st.  
ʔuʔčaʔčáʔsaʔ st. 
húy kʷɬi nəsɬáni yaʔ ʔiʔ ʔəć. 
ʔáwənə či cán kʷənaŋtúŋɬ. 

It was finished and it was legal. 
We went home again to Becher Bay. 
We built our house. 
We two built our house. 
It was there at... 
I finally got work 
at selling I don't know what they call 
“coal”. 
I started carrying coal to sell to the white 
people. 
It was loaded onto a big truck. 
I was our driver. 
It was there... 
We took it to their houses to sell the coal. 
I don't know what it's called by the 
Klallam. 
I was working there. 
And when I got home to Becher Bay, 
I'd get to my house 
and we'd work on the house. It was just the 
two of us. 
It was only my late wife and I. 
Nobody helped us. 
Only we worked. 
We finally finished our house. 
Our house became nice. 
Then we went into our house. 
We stayed there all the time with our 
children. 
Then I was finished at the coal yard, as it's 
called by the white man. 
I finished that job and then I went logging. 
It was to Jordan River I went logging. 
I was working there. 
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ʔuʔhúy st ʔuʔ čáʔiʔ. 
ʔuʔhúynəxʷ cə ʔáʔiŋɬ. 
txʷaʔə́y̕ ʔáʔiŋɬ. 
níɬ suʔč̕ə́yəxʷɬ ʔaʔ cə ʔáʔyəŋɬ. 
ʔuʔiyá st kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ cə 
ŋə́nŋənaʔɬ. 
níɬ nəsuʔhúy ʔaʔ cə coalyard, x̣ənátəŋ ʔaʔ ti 
xʷənítəm. 
húy cn tə nəsčáʔiʔ ʔiʔ níɬ nəsuʔhiyáʔ 
ʔəsqʷáɬiʔ. 
ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔJordan River tə nʔəsqʷáɬiʔ. 
ʔiyáˑˑ cn kʷaʔčaʔ tə nəsčáʔiʔ. 
ʔiʔ húy cn ʔiyá ʔaʔJordan River. 
ʔiʔ nsuʔqʷánsəŋ ʔaʔ cə ƛ̕áy ʔuʔ ʔəsqʷáɬiʔ 
ʔiyá ʔaʔ kʷiə čiyánəxʷ. 
níɬ nəsuʔt̕úk̕ʷ. 
ʔiʔ kʷɬníɬ nəsuʔčáytəŋ. 
húy cn kʷaʔčaʔ ti nəsʔiyá čáʔiʔ. 
níɬ nəsuʔqʷánsəŋ ʔúx̣ʷtəŋ ʔaʔsx̣ʷimáɬ. 
ƛá̕y ʔuʔ... 
ʔuʔx̣̫ ənʔáŋ ti sčáy ʔəsqʷáɬiʔ. 
ʔiyá yaʔ cn kʷaʔčaʔ tə híc tə nəsʔiyá tə 
nəsčáʔiʔ ʔiʔ húy cn. 
ʔiʔ čaʔiyá kʷə nəsʔiyá ʔiʔ tə́s. 
ʔiyá yaʔ cn ʔaʔ cə čáy ʔaʔ tə sx̣iyəxə̣́kʷɬ. 
ʔiyá cn ʔaʔ tə híc ƛ̕áy. 
sx̣iyəxə̣́kʷɬ ti sčáʔis ʔaʔ kʷi sx̣éʔix̣s ʔaʔ ti 
xʷiyanítəm. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsxʷʔiyáˑ tə nəsčáy. 
húy ƛ̕áy tə nəsčáy yaʔ. 
ʔáwə cn c húy ʔiʔ qʷánsəŋ cn yaʔ ʔúx̣ʷtəŋ 
ʔaʔPoint-no-point. 
ʔiyá c̕éʔc̕əŋ̕ ʔaʔJordan River. 
ƛá̕y ʔuʔ ʔəsqʷáɬiʔ. 

I finished there at Jordan River. 
I was called by another logging company 
there at Becher Bay. 
So I went home. 
And I was soon put to work. 
I finished working there. 
Then I was called over to Esquimalt. 
It was the same job, logging. 
I was there a long time working there and I 
finished. 
I was just there and it arrived. 
I was there to work on a battleship. 
I was there for a long time again. 
They were building a battleship for the 
white man's war. 
That's where my job was. 
My job was finished again. 
I wasn't finished 
and I was called to be taken over to Point-
no-point. 
It was there near Jordan River. 
It was logging, too. 
My late uncle said, “You'll make lots of 
money if you come logging. 
Leave your job where you are building the 
battleship.” 
So I agreed. 
I was crazy to... 
If I hadn't agreed, 
I would have been much better off there at 
what the white man calls “shipyard”. 
That's where I had been working. 
So I quit. 
I thought I'd get lots of money. 
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xə̣nʔátəŋ ʔaʔ kʷi nəcáčc yaʔ, “ŋə́n̕ tálə tə 
n̕sƛ̕kʷnáxʷ kʷaʔ ʔənʔáxʷ ʔəsqʷáɬiʔ. 
ɬúyəs tə n̕sxʷʔiyá tə n̕sčáy ʔiyá cə čáčt tə 
sx̣iyəxə̣́kʷɬ.” 
nəsuʔánəɬ. 
sqáti yaʔ cn ʔaʔ kʷi n-...  
húʔ yaʔ cn ʔáwə c ʔánəɬ, ʔiʔ mán̕ q yaʔ cn 
ʔuʔ ʔəý̕ ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə naʔátəŋ ʔaʔ ti xʷanítəm 
“shipyard”. 
níɬ yaʔ t nsxʷʔiyá t nsčáʔiʔ. 
húy cn kʷaʔčaʔ. 
nəx̣čŋín ʔaʔ či nsŋə́n̕ cə tálə či ƛ̕kʷnáŋ. 
nsuʔčáni ʔənʔá ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás 
ʔəsqʷáɬiʔs kʷəw̕niɬ nəcáčc yaʔ. 
tə́s ti... 
čáy cn. 
ʔuʔk̕ʷaʔk̕ʷín čtə ɬqáyč̕̕ či nsʔiyá ʔiʔ tqə́təŋ. 
húy kʷaʔ. 
nəsuʔƛá̕y txʷaʔáwənəs nəsčáy. 
nəsuʔƛá̕y ƛi̕ʔáʔəŋ̕ ʔaʔ či nəsʔúx̣ʷ cə nsčáy. 
nəsuʔtə́s ʔaʔJordan River. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ t nsxʷʔiyá t nsčáy. 
ʔiyá cn ʔuʔ... 
ʔiʔ... 
ʔuʔŋə́n̕ sčiʔánəŋ t nsʔiyá ʔiʔ qʷánsəŋ cn yaʔ 
ʔúx̣ʷtəŋ ʔaʔ kʷsə naʔátəŋ “Port Alice”. 
ʔiyáˑˑ kʷi sʔíyəns̕ cə ƛ̕čás ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə 
sxʷʔiyáɬ yaʔ. 
ʔiyá cn kʷaʔčaʔ ƛ̕áy ʔuʔ ʔəsqʷáɬi. 
húy cn nəsčáʔiʔ yaʔ ʔaʔ cə naʔátəŋ “Port 
Alice” ʔiʔ ʔənʔá cn həwíyŋ ʔúx̣ʷ 
ʔaʔsx̣ʷimáɬ. 
ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy cn čáytəŋ ʔiyá ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ yaʔ. 

So I moved to the logging camp where my 
late uncle was. 
Got there... 
I worked. 
I was there only a few months 
and it was shut down. 
It was finished. 
Again I ended up having no job. 
So again I was looking for someplace to go 
to work. 
Then I got to Jordan River. 
Then that is where I worked. 
I was there... 
I was there many years and I was called to 
be taken over to what they call “Port 
Alice”. 
It was there at the other end of the island 
where we were. 
There I was logging, too. 
I finished working at what they call Port 
Alice and I came back over to Esquimalt. 
And I was put to work there again all the 
time. 
I was only working at logging all the time. 
We were there for my work. 
But it finished... Our job was spoiled by the 
arrival of what they call “land sort”. 
Then we ended up having no more work. 
because that's how they did the logs, 
sorting the logs. 
And I was there at Esquimalt working. 
I was again called to what they call Becher 
Bay. 
That's where I was working and... 
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ʔuʔhúy yaʔ ʔuʔ nəsčáytəŋ nsuʔəsqʷáɬi ʔaʔ ti 
ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ. 
ʔiyáˑˑ st kʷaʔčaʔ t nəsčáy ʔi ʔuʔ-... ʔi 
ʔuʔhúy kʷaʔ ʔaʔ cə...  
ʔiʔqiyínəŋ cə sčáyɬ ʔaʔ c stə́ss ʔaʔ cə 
naʔátəŋ “land sort”. 
níɬ suʔtxʷaʔáwənəɬ sčáʔiʔɬ. 
ʔaw̕níɬ yaʔ xə̣nʔáxʷs yaʔ ti qʷɬáy̕, sorting ti 
qʷɬáy̕. 
ʔiʔ ʔiyá cn kʷaʔčaʔ sx̣ʷimáɬ t nsčáy. 
nəsuʔƛá̕y qʷánsəŋ ʔaʔ naʔátəŋ 
ʔaʔsxʷčiyánəxʷ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsxʷʔiyá t nəsčáy ʔi ʔuʔ-... ʔi 
ʔuʔhúy kʷə tqə́təŋ ƛ̕áy cə nəsxʷʔiyá yaʔ t 
nəsčáy. 
níɬ kʷaʔ suʔtxʷ-... kʷaʔ ʔáwənəs nəsčáy. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔuʔsx̣ʷənʔáŋs. 
nsuʔhúys sx̣čtín̕ ʔaʔ kʷi nəsyáyact. 
ʔuʔhúy yaʔ ta nsuʔƛá̕cu ƛ̕iʔáŋ ʔaʔ či 
sʔíɬənɬ. 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕staŋ sʔíɬənɬ čaʔiyá ʔaʔ ti qʷúʔ. 
ʔáwə yaʔ st c čɬqə́nəxʷ. 
ʔuʔhúy yaʔ ʔuʔ staʔwáyuɬ ti saplín ʔiʔ ti 
šúkʷaʔ ʔiʔ ti tíy. 
ʔuʔhúy yaʔ taʔáw̕əsɬ ʔiʔ ti milks tə 
sƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ suʔhúys x̣čtín̕ ʔaʔ cə nəsyáyaʔct 
yaʔ ʔaʔ kʷi nəsiʔšáʔwiʔ. 
mán̕ yaʔ cn ʔuʔ ƛ̕áy... ʔaʔ kʷə nstxʷaʔčə́q 
ʔəcɬtáyŋxʷ ʔiʔ mán̕ cn ʔuʔ txʷaʔəsx̣áʔəs. 
ʔuʔxə̣n̕áˑˑɬ yaʔ ti nəsuʔqʷúʔqʷaʔ. ʔáwə cn 
kʷaʔ pə́̕ɬən. 
ƛú̕ƛ̕aʔ cə tálə ƛ̕kʷnáŋ ʔiʔ kʷɬhiyáʔ cn 
kʷánəŋət ƛ̕aʔtáwn ƛ̕iʔáŋ ʔaʔ či sqʷúʔqʷaʔ. 

But it finished and the work where I was 
was shut down again. 
Then I had no work. 
That's the way it was. 
That's all I know of what I was doing. 
I only went fishing looking for our food. 
We had all kinds of food from the water. 
We didn't starve. 
We bought only bread and sugar and tea. 
That's all we bought, and milk for the 
children. 
That finishes what I know of what I was 
doing when I was growing up. 
I was very again... 
when I became a big person I became very 
bad. 
I was always drinking. I never sobered up. 
I'd get a little money and go run to town 
looking for a drink. 
And my children starved. 
They had nothing to eat once in a while. 
It was because I was a very bad person 
drinking all the time. 
So you look, my children of today, 
Leave this bad drink alone. 
This drink is not good. 
You're just... 
troubled 
all the time. 
I was always in jail in Victoria. 
I got there while I was drunk and then I'd 
be arrested. 
So I went to jail 
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ʔiʔ čɬqə́n̕xʷ cə nəsƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
ʔáwənə sʔéʔɬən̕s ʔəɬ ncá̕kʷs. 
ʔaw̕mán ̕cn ʔuʔ ʔəsx̣áʔəs ʔcɬtáyŋxʷ 
qʷúʔqʷaʔ ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ k̕ʷən̕tíxʷ, nəsƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ ʔaʔ tiə 
ʔáynəkʷ, kʷáʔət tiə sx̣áʔəs qʷúʔqʷaʔ. 
ʔáwə c ʔəý̕ tiə sqʷúʔqʷaʔ. 
húy či suʔ-... či n̕suʔtáwq̕ən 
ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ. 
ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ yaʔ ti nəsuʔəsqéʔyəq̕ ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə 
mətúliyə. 
tə́s cn ʔəɬ ʔəsxʷáxʷk̕ʷən ʔiʔ níɬ 
nəsuʔqq̕ítəŋ. 
ʔsqéʔiq̕ cn kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ʔiʔ húʔ ixʷ cn pə́̕ɬ ʔiʔ ʔáwənə nətálə či 
nsq̕aʔyúst 
tə qaʔq̕ə́yu nəsuʔ-... nəsuʔkʷáʔətəŋ. 
x̣ʷənʔáŋ̕ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nsʔáxə̣ŋ ʔaʔ či smán̕s ʔuʔ 
sx̣áʔəs tiə lám čəʔúʔwəŋ̕. 
čəʔúʔwəs yaʔ cn. 
ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ yaʔ ti nəsčəʔúʔwəs. 
nəsx̣čít kʷaʔčaʔ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsxʷʔáxə̣ŋ kʷaʔ kʷáʔətəŋəs 
ʔaʔ tiə xə̣́w̕əs sƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
ʔáwə c ʔəý̕ či sčəʔúʔwəss. 
txʷhúy tiə smánəš ʔuʔ ʔáw kʷaʔ kʷáʔətən. 
nəsƛ̕éʔ či nəskʷáʔət tiə. 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít kʷaʔ ʔaʔstúʔŋətn kʷaʔ 
kʷáʔətən. 
ƛá̕y kʷi ʔuʔ sx̣áʔəs. 
níɬ ʔəý̕ či kʷáʔəts tiə xə̣́w̕əs sƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ 
čəʔúʔwəs tiə sčə́yəčaʔs xʷiyanítəm tiə 
sqʷúʔqʷaʔ lám. 

And when I sobered up I had no money to 
pay the police to... 
release me. 
It was like that. 
That's why I say it's very bad to be using 
this liquor. 
I used it. 
I used it all the time. 
Therefore, I know. 
That's why I tell this new generation to let 
go of it. 
It's not good to use. 
It's only these cigarettes I never gave up. 
I want to quit this. 
I don't know what to do to quit it. 
It's bad, too. 
It's good for this new generation to quit 
drinking liquor using their white friends. 
And it's no good. 
It's good to be showing these children. 
That finishes what I know of my story. 
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ʔiʔ ʔáwə c ʔəý̕. 
ʔəý̕ kʷaʔčaʔ či sk̕ʷə́n̕stxʷs tiə sƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
níɬ suʔhúys x̣čtín̕ ʔaʔ tiə nsqʷáy. 

 
A Ghost on Discovery Island 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. and Ed Sampson, Sr. 
July 1, 1992 ― GhostOnDiscoveryIsland.mp3 

húʔ yaʔ cn ʔəɬ ʔiyán yaʔ ʔaʔƛč̕ás ʔiʔ čʔáʔiŋ 
yaʔ st ʔiyá. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔnə́c̕uʔ čə́q room kʷsə ʔəsčə́̕y̕xʷɬ. 
ʔiʔ nc̕áxʷɬ yaʔ ʔəɬ ʔíttn ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə nə́c̕uʔ 
sʔíyən̕ cə ʔáʔiŋɬ. 
ŋən̕áy st ʔəsčə́̕y̕xʷ ʔaʔ cə ʔáʔiŋ. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔhúy yaʔ cn ʔuʔ ʔúʔx̣ʷnəsəŋ ʔaʔ 
caw̕niɬ snúʔnəkʷ kʷaʔ ʔuʔstáŋəs yaʔ čtə ʔəɬ 
ʔíttɬ xə̣́nɬ̕can. 
ʔuʔʔítt ʔuʔŋə́n̕ ti sčə́̕y̕xʷ ʔaʔ tə ʔáʔiŋ. 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕ cə nəsʔəy̕úq̕ʷaʔ, nəcə́t, nəmán, 
nətán. 
suʔxə̣́n̕s ʔuʔ ʔítt ti nəsq̕ʷaʔháʔuŋ̕əxʷ. 
ʔiʔ níɬ nəsuʔtsnə́səŋ ʔaʔ caw̕niɬ kʷaʔ 
ʔuʔstáŋəs yaʔ čtə snúʔnəkʷ. 
ʔuʔx̣čít cn ʔəɬ nʔáəs čə́̕yəxʷ čaʔiyá ʔaʔ cə 
súɬ ti s-... 
ʔiʔ kʷɬníɬ nəsuʔʔənʔánəsəŋ. 
ʔiʔ húʔ tə́s ʔaʔ cə nəsxʷʔáʔmət ʔiʔ níɬ 
suʔƛk̕ʷə́ts tə nəcáys. 
ʔiʔ sqiʔám̕ či nəskʷáčəŋ. 
sqiʔám̕ či nəsqʷáy. 
sqiʔám̕ či nəskʷə́yə̕x̣ct. 
ʔuʔɬə́ŋ cn ʔuʔ txʷaʔʔəsq̫̕ úʔq̕ʷiʔ. 
híc ti nəsx̣ʷənʔáŋ̕ ƛ̕kʷtíŋ ʔiʔ čaʔkʷáʔətəŋ 
cn. 

When I was there at Discovery Island we 
had a house there. 
And it was one big room inside. 
And it was once when I was asleep there at 
one end of our house. 
There were many of us in the house. 
I was the only one that the ghost or 
whatever it was went after while everyone 
slept. 
Many were asleep in the house. 
It was all of my siblings, my father, my 
father, my mother. 
All of those that I was among were 
sleeping. 
Then I was approached by that whatever it 
was ghost. 
I knew it when it came in from the door, 
the... 
And right away it came for me. 
When it got to my bed it took my hand. 
I couldn't holler. 
I couldn't speak. 
I couldn't move. 
It was just like I had become dead. 
It held me like that a long time then it 
released me. 
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níɬ kʷaʔ suʔhiyáʔs ƛ̕áy həwíyŋ sqíyŋ kʷaʔ 
čšaʔəx̣íns yaʔ čtə. 
ʔiʔ níɬ tə suʔtxʷaʔʔəsqaʔáw̕əɬs ʔaʔ cə ʔáʔiŋɬ. 
ʔuʔx̣čít cn ʔəɬ sáqɬs kʷaʔ. 
ʔiʔ níɬ nsuʔtxʷʔáʔiʔ. 
ʔiʔ húʔ cn kʷaʔčaʔ ɬúyŋ ʔaʔ caw̕niɬ ʔiʔ 
kʷɬníɬ nəsuʔʔítt. 
txʷaʔʔəý̕ ti nəsʔéʔtt. 
txʷaʔʔəý̕ cə nəx̣čŋín. 
mán̕ ʔuʔ šaʔšúʔɬ ʔəɬ ɬúyŋən. 

Then it went back again to wherever it 
came from. 
And then it was outside our house. 
I knew it was outside. 
And then I felt nice. 
And when that left me I fell right to sleep. 
I slept well. 
I felt good. 
I was very happy when it left me. 

 

 
Jobs 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
June 12, 1996 ― LifeJobs.mp3 

pə́̕ɬ cn ʔaʔ kʷi nəstáʔcs sčiʔánəŋ ʔiʔ ʔiyá st 
kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔ tsə yik̕ʷə́ŋən. 
čə́q ʔáʔyəŋ. 
níɬ sxʷʔiyáɬ c ssq̕iʔíŋ̕ɬ kʷaʔ ʔəstúʔŋətɬ yaʔ 
čtə. 
ʔiʔ níɬ nəsuʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ kʷsə skʷuláw̕txʷs 
caw̕náʔiɬ yik̕ʷə́ŋən. 
níɬ nsxʷʔiyá t nsuʔskʷúkʷəl. 
ʔiyáˑˑ cə ʔəskʷúkʷəl ʔi ʔuʔhúy ti nsuʔtə́s ʔaʔ 
cə ŋús naʔátəŋ “grades” ti xʷanítəm ʔiʔ 
húy cn. 
ʔuʔčqcút cn či nəshiyáʔ čáyiyɬ ƛi̕ʔáŋ ʔaʔ či 
sčáy. 
nəsuʔtxʷaʔkʷən̕túy ʔaʔ kʷi nəsčə́yaʔčaʔ 
yaʔ, Ben Thomas yaʔ ʔiʔ kʷi Elmer Joe. 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít či sxʷíyŋəxʷs snás. 
suʔhiyáʔɬ čáʔiɬ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔsc̕áʔəw̕txʷ. 

We were there at Songhees. 
It was a big house. 
That's where we were camping or whatever 
we were doing. 
I went to the school house of those 
Songhees. 
That's where I went to school. 
I was in school but only up to four of what 
the white man calls grades and I quit. 
I got big enough to go to work looking for 
a job. 
I got together with my relatives, the late 
Ben Thomas and Elmer Joe. 
I don't know their Indian names. 
We went to work at East Saanich. 
We were there working on the strawberries 
removing the weeds growing in the 
strawberries. 
Then we'd get a little money. 
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ʔiyá st kʷaʔčaʔ c sčáʔiɬ ʔaʔ cə t̕éʔyəqʷ 
ɬəŋáʔas ti sx̣cáʔi šáʔwiʔ ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə 
t̕éʔyəqʷ. 
níɬ yaʔ suʔƛk̕ʷnáxʷɬ cə ƛ̕úƛ̕aʔ tálə. 
ʔuʔiyáˑˑ cn kʷaʔčaʔ čáʔi ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás ti 
sšáʔwiʔs ti t̕éʔyəqʷ. 
ʔi ʔuʔhúy ʔiʔ níɬ nəsuʔƛá̕y čáni ʔúx̣ʷ 
ʔaʔyək̕ʷə́ŋən sx̣ʷimáɬ. 
ʔiyá cn kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ʔi ʔuʔtxʷaʔnuʔswəʔwəscút cn. 
txʷaʔswéʔwəs cn. 
níɬ nəsuʔčáʔi ʔaʔ tə sqʷəyə̕sáw̕txʷ snátɬ 
yaʔ. 
sxʷʔiyás ti s-... qʷəyə̕snítəŋs ti sčánnəxʷ ʔiʔ 
xə̣́n̕əstaŋ. 
čšaʔiyá ʔaʔ cə súʔukʷ ti sƛ̕kʷnáʔəŋ̕s ti 
scə́qiʔ ʔiʔ ti q̕ə́čqs ʔiʔ ti kʷítšən ʔiʔ ti 
ƛ̕x̣ʷáy̕. 
ʔuʔxə̣́n̕ hə́nən̕. 
níɬ yaʔ xə̣́nə̕. 
nuʔáŋ ʔaʔ ti k̕ʷə́č̕tən ʔiʔ qʷəyə̕snítəŋ 
kʷaʔčaʔ. 
náts tiə xʷanítəm t “canned salmon.” 
níɬ yaʔ nsxʷʔiyá ʔaʔ t nəsčáʔi ʔi 
ʔuʔtxʷaʔsixteen years old. 
ʔiʔ níɬ nəsuʔƛí̕w̕ hiyáʔ ƛ̕aʔVancouver. 
tə́s cn ʔaʔVancouver ʔiʔ ƛ̕kʷnáŋ ʔaʔ kʷi 
nəcáčc. 
nəsuʔhiyáʔtəŋ ƛ̕aʔyakəmatəŋ ʔəsháps. 
sčáʔiɬ ʔaʔ cə háps. 
tə́s cn ʔaʔYakima. 
níɬ nəsuʔtxʷaʔsx̣áɬ. 
ʔáwənə kʷaʔčaʔ stáŋ nəsčáy. 
ʔáwənə tálə. 

I was working there where they were 
growing strawberries. 
But that ended and again we moved to 
Songhees Esquimalt. 
I was there. 
I became kind of a young man. 
I became a young man. 
Then I was working at the cannery, as we 
called it. 
It's where they... 
canned salmon and everything. 
They went from there at Sooke 
getting sockeye, coho, spring salmon, dog 
salmon. 
All humpbacks. 
It was all of them. 
It was put into cans and boiled. 
The white man calls it “canned salmon.” 
That's where I was working when I turned 
sixteen. 
And then I ran away to go to Vancouver. 
I got to Vancouver and was taken by my 
uncle. 
Then I was taken to Yakima hop picking. 
We were working on the hops. 
I got to Yakima. 
Then I got sick. 
I didn't do any work. 
There was no money. 
That's all I know of... 
of when I was growing up. 
I got home to Victoria. 
Then I worked where they call it “coal”. 



The Klallam Narratives of wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 

69 
 

níɬ ʔuʔsx̣ə́nə̕s x̣čtín̕ ʔaʔ cə... ʔaʔ kʷə 
nəsiʔšáʔwiʔ yaʔ. 
č̕áŋ̕ cn kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiyá ʔaʔmətúliyə. 
níɬ nəsuʔčáʔiʔ yaʔ ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás tiə 
naʔátəŋ “č̕íc̕t”. 
taʔáw̕əs ti xʷanítəm sxʷʔiyá čəʔúʔwəs t 
sčə́qʷəwc. 
č̕íc̕t. 
ʔəć kʷaʔčaʔ hiyáʔ ʔúx̣ʷtxʷ ʔaʔ ti ʔəýaʔyəŋs 
ti xʷiyanítəm staʔwə́yus. 
ŋə́n̕ lisák ti nə́c̕uʔ ʔáʔyəŋ ʔəɬ tákʷss 
čəʔúʔwəs ti čə́qʷəw̕c. 
ʔiʔ ʔúx̣ʷ cn ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás ti sčaʔčáʔtəŋ̕s tə 
sx̣iyəxə̣́kʷɬ ʔaw̕x̣éʔyəx ̣yaʔ tiə xʷiyanítəm 
yaʔ ʔaʔ cə nə́c̕uʔ tə́ŋxʷ. 
hiyáʔ cn kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔ cə... 
čáʔiʔ ʔaʔ tə sx̣iyəxə̣́kʷɬs tiə xʷiyanítəm. 
ʔiʔ húy tə nsʔiyá. 
nsuʔqʷánsəŋ ʔaʔ kʷi nə́c̕uʔ yaʔ ncáčc kʷaʔ 
hiyáʔn ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyás ʔəsqʷáɬiʔs. 
nəsuʔčáni yaʔ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə sxʷʔiyá cə 
sqʷáɬiʔs. 
ʔiʔ ʔáwə c híc t nsʔiyá t nəsčáʔi ʔiʔ húy. 
ʔəẃ̕k̫̕  kʷə kʷi sčáys cəniɬ ƛ̕úƛ̕aʔ ʔəsqʷáɬiʔ. 
nsuʔčáni ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə naʔátəŋ “Jordan 
River”. 
ƛá̕y ʔuʔ ʔsqʷáɬiʔ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsxʷʔiyá. 
suʔhúys nsuʔčáni ƛ̕áy tú̕k̕ʷ ʔúx̣ʷ 
ʔaʔməq̕ʷúʔəs. 
ƛá̕y ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔčiyánəxʷ ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy ʔuʔ ʔəsqʷáɬi 
cə ʔiyá. 
ƛá̕y cn kʷaʔčaʔ čáy naʔátəŋ “boom man”. 
ʔiyáˑˑ cn kʷaʔčaʔ t nsčáʔi t nəsuʔhúy. 

The white people were buying it to use for 
the fire. 
It was me that went and took it to the 
houses of the white people who bought it. 
One house bought many sacks to use in the 
fire. 
I went to where they were building a 
battleship because the white people were 
fighting a war in another land. 
I went to... 
working on the white man's battleship. 
And I quit there. 
I was called by one of my uncles to go 
where they were logging. 
So I moved to where they were logging. 
I wasn't working long there and it finished. 
There was no more work in that small 
logging operation. 
Then I moved to what they call “Jordan 
River”. 
It was also logging. 
Then I was there. 
That ended and I moved again home to 
Smyth Head. 
Again I went to Becher Bay and again 
logged there. 
I again worked as what they call “boom 
man”. 
I was working there and I quit. 
I was called to be taken to Esquimalt 
Harbour again. 
Also as... Also as a boom man. 
I worked on logging there. 
I was there and it finished. 
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ʔiʔ qʷánsəŋ cn ʔúx̣ʷtəŋ yaʔ ƛ̕áy 
ʔaʔEsquimalt Harbour. 
ƛá̕y ʔuʔ... ƛ̕áy ʔuʔ boom man. 
nsʔiyá t nsčáy ʔəsqʷáɬi. 
ʔiyá cn kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ húy. 
nsuʔƛá̕y čáni. 
čánəs cə sčáyɬ yaʔ txʷʔúx̣ʷtəŋ ʔaʔ Port 
Alice. 
ʔiyáˑˑ kʷi sʔíynəs tiə ƛ̕čás, Vancouver. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ suʔiyáˑˑs t nsčáy ʔaʔ t híc ƛ̕áy. 
ƛá̕y cn həwíyŋ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔčiyánəxʷ. 
ƛá̕y níɬ ʔuʔ nəsčáʔi. 
ʔuʔhúy yəxʷ yaʔ ʔuʔ nəsčáy ʔaʔ ti ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ 
t nsuʔəsqʷáɬiʔ. 
ʔáwənə ʔəstáŋ ʔaʔ kʷi skʷɬhúys t nsƛ̕áʔcuʔ. 
ʔiʔ ƛ̕iʔáŋ ʔaʔ či ʔuʔƛú̕ƛ̕aʔ tálə ƛ̕kʷnán. 
ʔáwənə kʷaʔčaʔ nsx̣čít kʷaʔ tx̣ʷínn yaʔ čtə 
čaʔiyá ʔaʔ cə sx̣ʷimáɬ. 
níɬ suʔhúys x̣čtín̕. 
ʔuʔčən̕táŋ caʔ ʔiʔ hák̫̕  cn ƛá̕y ʔaʔ či 
ʔuʔxə̣́ˑˑn̕ə yaʔ stáŋ nəsčáy ʔaʔ kʷi 
nəstwaw̕swéʔwəs. 
ʔuʔmán̕ yaʔ cn ʔuʔ sxʷaʔk̕ʷéʔqʷ ʔaʔ kʷi 
nəswéʔwəs yaʔ. 
ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ yaʔ ti nəsuʔqʷúʔqʷaʔ. 
nc̕áxʷ ʔiʔ ʔəsqéʔyəq̕ cn ʔaʔ ʔáw yaʔ c sƛ̕éʔs 
tiə xʷiyanítəm ti sqʷúʔqʷaʔs ti ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ. 
ƛá̕y caʔn yacis... yəcúsc ʔaʔ či ʔuʔstáŋ kʷaʔ 
ƛ̕áyn hák̫̕  ʔaʔ či ʔuʔxə̣́n̕ yaʔ stáŋ nəsčáʔiʔ. 
ʔuʔyáʔnəxʷ caʔ cxʷ tiə nsqʷáy. 
ʔuʔníɬ caʔ kʷaʔčaʔ suʔhúys nəsqʷáy. 

So I moved again. 
Our job moved over to Port Alice. 
It was there at the other end of this Island, 
Vancouver. 
Then my work was there for a long time 
again. 
Again I returned to Becher Bay. 
I was working again. 
I guess I was only working at logging all 
the time. 
There was nothing else when my fishing 
was finished. 
looking to get a little money. 
I didn't know where to go from Esquimalt. 
That finishes what I know. 
Sometime I'll remember again all the jobs I 
had when I was still a young man. 
I was very crazy when I was a young man. 
I was always drinking. 
Once I was put in jail for... 
The white man didn't like the Indians 
drinking. 
I'll again... tell you something when I again 
remember all the kinds of jobs I had. 
You'll hear my story. 
So my story is finished. 
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Accidents 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 15, 1995 ― LifeAccidents.mp3 

ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ yaʔ ti suʔčáʔiʔɬ. 
nc̕áxʷ kʷi sčáytəŋɬ ʔaʔ cə snaʔátəŋ̕ ʔaʔ ti 
ʔcɬtáyŋxʷ “Indian Agent”. 
čáytəŋ st čáʔčt cə qə̕yáx̣əns cə number one 
Indian Reserve sxʷʔiyás yaʔ ti ʔiyá 
ʔaʔməq̕ʷúʔəs. 
ʔuʔəsqaʔáw̕əɬ ʔaʔ kʷsə sxʷʔiyáɬ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
suʔčáʔiʔɬ ʔiyá ʔiʔ ʔáwə st kʷaʔ q̕aʔyústəŋɬ 
ʔaʔ ti tálə. 
ʔuʔhúy ti sʔícə̕ŋɬ ʔiʔ ti sʔíɬənɬ. 
ʔuʔsq̕aʔyústəŋɬ, sʔúŋəstəŋɬ kʷaʔ k̕ʷínəs čtə 
s-... skʷáči sčáyɬ. 
ʔiyá ʔiʔ... ʔiʔ... máʔkʷɬ cn. 
qə́̕m̕ cn cə qʷɬáy̕ čəʔúʔwəŋ̕. 
čúkʷəŋ caʔ sxʷq̕əyáxə̣n ʔiʔ... kʷaʔ 
ʔuʔəstúŋəts čtə. 
ɬə́pəŋ cə nəsxʷk̕ʷqʷə́m ʔiʔ...  
qəm̕sə́n cn xə̣́n̕ tə nəsx̣ə́naʔ. 
suʔcə́ŋaʔtəŋ ʔaʔ kʷi nəcousin yaʔ ɬcútəŋ 
ʔúyəɬtəŋ ʔaʔ cə snə́xʷɬ. 
ʔiʔ hiyáʔ... 
t̕k̕ʷístəŋ cn. 
č̕áŋ̕təŋ cn. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔk̕ʷə́nts kʷɬi ntán yaʔ. 
ʔiʔ mán̕ ʔuʔ čə́q sɬéʔəc̕ts cə nəsx̣ə́naʔ. 
suʔqʷáys cə náʔc̕uʔ sɬáni, “kʷiʔúst ʔaʔ či 
naʔátəŋ “iodine”. 
ʔiʔ “ʔáwə”, xə̣nʔátəŋ kʷɬi ntán. 
“ʔáwə c čəʔúʔwəs či iodine. 
x̣ʷə́ŋ ʔiʔ xə̣́ɬ tə sx̣ə́naʔs.” 

We were always working. 
Once we were put to work by what the 
Indians called “Indian Agent”. 
We were put to work building a fence for 
the number one Indian Reserve where 
Smyth Head is. 
It was outside of where we were, therefore. 
So we were working, but we weren't 
getting paid any money. 
It was only clothes and food that we were 
paid, that we were given for how many 
days... days we worked. 
there and... and... I got hurt 
I was cut by the log that was being used. [ 
This is very unclear AS,BC think the first 
word is /cən̕/ and it sounded to me then like 
/xə̣́n̕/. I don't know. ] 
It was going to be used for the fence and... 
whatever happened. [ unclear. lots of 
hesitations. ] 
My axe slipped and... I cut all my foot. 
I was packed by my cousin down to the 
beach and put on a canoe and went... 
I was taken home. 
I was brought home. 
And my mother looked at it. 
And my foot really had a big cut. 
One woman said, “Pour on it what they 
call 'iodine'.” 
And my mother said, “No.” 
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níɬ suʔcúŋs yaʔ štə́ŋ kʷɬi nətán ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə 
čáyə̕qʷ. 
suʔɬíc̕ts cə... cə k̕ʷə́wiʔs ti q̕áʔc̕ɬč. 
suʔŋákʷts. 
ŋaʔkʷaʔáts kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ʔiʔ č̕áŋ̕s ʔiʔ ƛ̕q̕ʷə́ts ʔaʔ cə nəsx̣ə́naʔ. 
níɬ ʔiʔčáʔi č̕ kʷiʔústs ʔaʔ cə šúkʷaʔ. 
sčúkʷss. kʷiʔústs. níɬ suʔə́nəxʷs sšə́yəŋs̕. 
níɬ suʔƛq̕̕ʷə́ts cə sčúɬ ʔcɬtáyŋxʷ st̕áyŋxʷ. 
ʔi ʔuʔčəʔúˑˑʔwəs st kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ʔiʔ ʔu-... ʔi ʔuʔəýə̕ct. 
x̣ʷə́ŋ nəsɬáw̕. 
húy kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ kʷɬ-... 
húy kʷaʔ kʷi sčáʔiʔs caw̕náʔiɬ. 
néʔ ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ. 
suʔq̕aʔyústəŋɬ ʔiʔ ʔáwə c tálə. 
ʔuʔhúy tə nsʔícə̕ŋ ʔiʔ kapú, nsčə́saʔqʷ, 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕ stáŋ ʔiʔ ti sʔíɬən. 
húy ʔuʔ sʔúŋəstəŋɬ. 
ʔi ʔuʔəsƛ̕úʔƛə̕m̕ tə ʔaw̕txʷaʔŋə́n̕ ti sʔícə̕ŋɬ 
txʷʔəý̕ ti sʔícə̕ŋɬ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ sx̣ʷənʔáŋs. 
ʔiʔ hiyáʔ ʔəmənéʔəŋ̕ kʷi yúƛ̕ yaʔ 
nəsxʷtúnəq. 
hiyáʔ čaʔkʷúts cə múʔuqʷ. 
suʔ-... ʔiʔ... kʷaʔ ʔuʔstáŋəs čtə. 
sxʷq̕ʷaʔyíyŋs ʔaʔ cə qə̕yáxə̣n ʔiʔ níɬ č̕ suʔ- 
cákʷss cə púyəks. 
suʔkʷaʔtə̕nə́qʷs cə púyəks. 
suʔčúkʷts kʷaʔ kʷi cáyss yaʔ. 
ɬə́yə̕qʷi tə cáyss. 
č̕áŋ̕ ʔiʔ... ʔiʔ mán̕ ʔuʔ ʔəsɬə́y̕qʷ tə cáyss. 
suʔkʷənəŋúttəŋs štəŋístəŋ yaʔ. 
cúŋtəŋ. 

“Don't use iodine. 
It might hurt his foot.” 
Then my mother walked up into the bush. 
So she cut the... the skin of the ironwood. 
She chewed it. 
She was chewing it up. 
And she got home and stuck it on my foot. 
First she poured sugar on it. 
She used it. She poured it on. Then it 
stopped the bleeding. 
Then she stuck on the wood Indian 
medicine. 
We were using that. 
And... 
And it got better. 
I healed quickly. 
It was finished then and... 
Those people finished working. 
There was some village. 
We were paid, but not in money. 
It was only my clothing, and coat, my hat, 
everything and food. 
That's all we were given. 
But it was all right because we got lots of 
clothes, good clothes. 
That's the way it was. 
My oldest brother went hunting. 
He went shooting ducks. 
whatever it was. 
He put his gun down to climb over a fence. 
His gun went off. 
It shot his hand. 
His hand was shattered. 
He got home and... 
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ʔuʔyíy̕ sxʷštə́ŋs. 
hiyáʔ cúŋtəŋ ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə xʷiyanítəm. 
suʔúyəɬtəŋs ʔaʔ cə snə́xʷɬs cə xʷanítəm. 
ʔiʔ kʷənəŋúttəŋ ƛ̕aʔtáwntəŋ 
ƛ̕aʔsx̣ɬáw̕txʷtəŋ. 
suʔƛá̕y čəyáy ʔiʔ čaʔčaʔčáʔtəŋ̕ cə cáyss ʔiʔ 
sqiʔám̕ či shúynəŋs. 
ʔuʔmán̕ ʔuʔ ʔəsɬə́y̕qʷ cə cáyss. 
suʔqʷáys cə doctors cə xʷiyanítəm, “ʔəý̕ či 
suʔɬəŋásɬ.” 
suʔəsɬc̕ítəŋs kʷə ʔuʔxə̣́n̕ə ŋús cáyss ɬəŋáʔəŋ̕. 
ʔiʔ níɬ yaʔ kʷaʔčaʔ sx̣ʷən̕áŋs kʷi yúƛ̕ yaʔ 
nəsxʷtúnəq ʔáwənə cicáyss. 
ʔuʔhúy kʷɬaʔ ʔuʔ ʔiyá txʷhúy ʔuʔ ʔsƛ̕áq̫̕ ɬ 
ʔaʔ cə nə́c̕uʔ 
cáyss. 
x̣ʷənʔáŋ kʷaʔčaʔ. 
ʔiʔ čáni cə xʷíyŋxʷ tə́yi ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔ cə 
naʔátəŋ̕ sxʷčiyánəxʷ. 
čiyánəxʷ. 
níɬ sxʷʔiyás sčáys ʔaʔ cə ʔáyaʔyəŋs. 
ɬúysts cə məq̕ʷúʔəs sxʷʔiyáɬ yaʔ. 
níɬ yaʔ sxʷʔiyás ti ʔuʔxə̣́n̕ ʔuʔ nəxʷsƛ̕áyə̕m̕. 
ʔuʔxə̣́n̕ ʔuʔ nəxʷsƛ̕áyə̕m̕ ti ʔiyá yaʔ 
ʔaʔməq̕ʷúʔəs. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔčániɬ. 

His hand was very shattered. 
They ran him and walked him. 
They carried him up. 
They walked far. 
They took him up over to the white people. 
So they put him aboard the white man's 
boat. 
They ran him into town to the hospital. 
They again almost fixed his hand but they 
couldn't finish it. 
His hand was too shattered. 
So the doctors, the white men said, “We 
better take it off.” 
So all four of his detached fingers were cut 
off. 
And that's how my oldest brother had no 
fingers. 
All that was left there was only one finger 
stuck on. 
It was like that, then. 
The village moved into the bay to what's 
called Cheanuh. 
That's where they built their houses. 
They left Rocky Point where we were. 
That's where all the Klallams were. 
It was all Klallam there at Rocky Point. 
And then we moved. 

 
 



The Klallam Narratives of wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 

74 
 

Help Across the Bridge 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 16, 1995 ― HelpAcrossBridge.mp3 

ɬúis st ʔaʔ ʔuʔmán̕ ʔuʔ yíy̕ ʔəɬ štə́ŋɬ. 
ʔáwənə yaʔ ʔatəməbíls tə ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ ʔiyá 
suʔtáyis ʔúx̣ʷ ʔaʔcə txʷnaʔáw̕əɬ ʔaʔ 
xʷčiyánəxʷ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ sxʷʔiyás ʔaʔ tiə ʔáynəkʷ ti 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕ ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ. 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕. 
c̕íŋəct ʔaʔ cə súɬ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsxʷʔiyá yaʔ ʔəɬ čáʔin ʔaʔ 
táwn. 
ʔiʔ mán̕ yaʔ cn ʔuʔ sqáti sxʷáxʷk̕ʷ. 
ʔuʔxə̣n̕áɬ tə nəsuʔqʷúʔqʷqʷaʔ. 
ʔiʔ níɬ yaʔ nəsxʷʔiyá ʔəɬ kʷaʔkʷáʔčəŋən 
kʷaʔ ʔənʔán ʔiʔt̕kʷíst... t̕kʷístəŋ ʔaʔ cə... cə 
súɬ ʔiyá txʷʔáxə̣ŋ̕ɬ yaʔ hiyáʔɬ t̕úk̕ʷ ʔaw̕cícɬ 
yaʔ. 
ččáts kʷi nəcə́t yaʔ sxʷt̕áʔkʷiʔs. 
iʔ ŋə́n̕ qʷúʔ ƛ̕čáwə̕ɬ. 
níɬ yaʔ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsxʷsáʔsiʔsiʔ ti nəst̕ákʷi. 
níɬ nəsuʔkʷaʔkʷáʔčəŋ kʷaʔ ʔənʔán ʔiʔ 
hiyitíŋ ʔaʔ kʷɬi nəsister yaʔ ʔaʔ kʷɬəs 
nəsister Lily. 
níɬ suʔənʔás t̕ákʷi. 
ƛk̕ʷcístəŋ cn hiyáʔ t̕k̕ʷístəŋ. 
ʔaw̕mán ̕cn ʔuʔ ʔəsxʷáxʷk̕ʷ. 
níɬ kʷaʔ xʷcə́̕ŋən ʔiʔ qə́s cn. 
níɬ suʔxə̣́nə̕s x̣čtín̕. 

We left for a very long walk. 
They had no automobiles in the village that 
goes deep into the bay at Cheanuh. 
That's where all the village is today. 
All of them. 
They got close to the road. 
That's where I used to be when I was 
working in town. 
I was very crazy drunk. 
I was always drinking. 
That's where I'd holler when I came... to be 
taken across the road where we went 
through to go home because it was high. 
My father built it for going across. 
There was lots of water underneath. 
So I was afraid to cross. 
So I hollered for my sister, my sister Lily, 
to come save me. 
So she'd come across. 
She'd hold me by the hand and take me 
home. 
It was because I was too drunk. 
It was in case I'd stagger and fall in the 
water. 
That's all I know. 
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Meeting Flora 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 17, 1995 ― MeetingFlora.mp3 

kʷi nəsʔuʔúʔ yaʔ ʔuʔ k̕ʷə́nnəxʷ ʔaʔ Flora 
ʔiʔ sƛ̕aʔyéʔƛq̕ɬ yaʔ st. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ skʷɬíˑˑc ʔəɬ x̣čítn. 
ʔiyá yaʔ st ʔaʔ kʷsə naʔátəŋ ƛ̕čás ʔiyá 
ʔaʔmətúliyə. 
ʔiʔ níɬ yaʔ sxʷʔiyás kʷi sʔiʔáyəxʷɬ yaʔ ʔəɬ 
sq̕ə́yə̕ŋə̕s ʔəɬ ƛ̕áʔcuʔs ʔaʔ ti sčánnəxʷ ʔiʔ ti 
ʔáčt sxʷxʷúʔyəm̕s. 
ʔiʔ níɬ yaʔ kʷaʔčaʔ sxʷʔiyás. 
ʔiʔuʔúʔ cn ʔuʔ k̕ʷə́nnəxʷ kʷsə nəsɬániʔ, tsiə 
nəsɬániʔ. 
híˑˑc kʷaʔčaʔ ʔəsx̣ʷənʔáŋ̕s ʔiʔ ʔuʔmaliyíti 
cn. 
čsƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ cn. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔk̕ʷə́nnəxʷ cn ʔaʔ kʷsəw̕niɬ Flora ʔəɬ 
ʔuʔnc̕áxʷs. 
qʷiʔnə́w̕i st. 
húy suʔ-... 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít kʷə [unintel.]. 
ʔuʔx̣ʷənʔáŋ̕ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ kʷán kʷɬə kʷɬi 
nsɬániʔ táns yaʔ nəsƛ̕əyéʔƛq̕ɬ. 
híˑˑc kʷaʔčaʔ ʔiʔ ƛ̕áy ̕cn maliyíti. 
ʔiʔ ʔáwə c híc [unintel.]. 
nəsq̕ʷúʔšən ʔaʔ kʷsə snə́c̕uʔ nəsɬániʔ yaʔ 
ʔiʔ... ʔiʔ ɬúyəŋ cn. 
xə̣nʔátəŋ cn ʔaʔ či smán̕ suʔ-... 
či nəsmán̕ ʔuʔ qʷúʔqʷaʔ. 
híc kʷaʔčaʔ ti nəsuʔhúʔiʔ ʔiʔ čaʔk̕ʷənnə́kʷis 
ƛ̕áy ʔiʔ Flora. 
ʔiʔ níɬ suʔštəŋnə́w̕iɬ kʷaʔčaʔ. 

When I first saw Flora we were children. 
So it has been a long time that I've known 
her. 
We were at a place called Discovery Island 
there at Victoria. 
We were there because our elders were 
camping and fishing for salmon and 
lingcod to sell. 
And that is where I first saw my wife, this 
wife. 
It was a long time that way and I married. 
I had children. 
I saw Flora once in a while. 
We talked. 
Only... 
I don't know the... 
It was like that and I lost my wife who was 
the mother of my children. 
It was a long time and I married again. 
It wasn't long that I was with my other wife 
and... and she left me. 
She told me I was too... that I drank too 
much. 
It was a long time that I was alone and I 
saw Flora again. 
Then we went together. 
It was a long time .... We were together. 
It was a long time that we went together. 
We were in town when I saw her. 
It was because she was from there. 
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híc ʔiʔ čaʔƛa̕ʔ-... 
čaʔ-... kʷən̕túy st. 
híc kʷaʔčaʔ skʷən̕túyɬ. 
ʔiyá yaʔ st ʔaʔtáwn nəsk̕ʷə́nnəxʷ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔuʔ čʔiyá. 
suʔ... 
nəsuʔčq̕ʷúʔšən ʔəɬ šə́təŋɬ̕. 
híc kʷaʔčaʔ skʷən̕túyɬ. 
ʔiʔ čaʔmaliyíti st. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔəɬ níɬəɬ sq̫̕ úʔšənɬ ʔaʔ tiə 
ʔáynəkʷ. 
ʔiʔ ʔəý̕ tə nəsk̕ʷə́n̕təŋ̕. 
mán̕ ʔuʔ ʔəý̕ nəsk̕ʷə́n̕təŋ̕. 

So I had a partner while we were walking. 
It was a long time that we went together. 
We got married. 
That's why we're partners today. 
She looks after me well. 
She looks after me very well. 

 
 
Milkman 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
August 17, 1995 ― Milkman.mp3 

ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít kʷaʔ stáŋəs ti naʔátəŋs ti 
“milkman”. 
nsuʔənʔá šə́təŋ̕s ncá̕xʷ ʔiʔ č̕kʷsaʔ ti táči. 
ʔuʔxə̣́nə̕ kʷaʔčaʔ ʔəstáŋ ti ʔuʔƛk̕ʷnáxʷɬ 
sqə́muʔ ʔaʔ músmus, oranges juice. 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít kʷaʔ stáŋəs č ̕ti snátəŋs ʔaʔ 
ti nəxʷsƛ̕áyə̕m̕ ti orange juice. 
 

I don't know what they call “milkman”. 
I came walking once... arrived here. 
Everything we took, cow milk, orange 
juice. 
I don't know what the Klallams call orange 
juice. 
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A Stroke at Age 37 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr.  
June 6, 1999 ― StrokeAt37.mp3 

čáʔiʔ yaʔ cn ʔiyá ʔaʔčiyánəxʷ ʔaʔ cə 
naʔátəŋ LIP ʔaʔ ti sxʷanítəm kʷaʔ stáŋəs 
čtə. 
ʔiʔ ŋə́n̕ yaʔ suʔáw̕əs ti čáʔiʔ nsq̕ʷúʔšən. 
níɬ suʔə́w̕k̫̕ s č ̕kʷi táləɬ nəsq̕aʔyúst tə 
suʔáw̕əs. 
níɬ nəsuʔƛ̕aʔtáwn. 
nəsƛ̕éʔ či nq̕ʷíŋəyu ʔaʔ či ƛ̕úƛa̕ʔ tálə 
nəsq̕aʔyúst tə čáʔiʔ suʔáw̕əs. 
ʔiyá cn kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔtáwn ʔiʔ níɬ suʔ-... 
nəsuʔtxʷaʔəsx̣áɬɬ. 
nsuʔkʷənəŋúttəŋ yaʔ ʔúx̣ʷtəŋ ʔaʔ cə 
sx̣ɬáw̕txʷ ʔiyá ʔaʔ cə táwn, mətúliyə. 
tə́s cn kʷaʔčaʔ ʔaʔ cə sx̣ɬáw̕txʷ. 
níɬ suʔ-... 
ɬq̕áčš skʷáči t nsʔiyá ʔaʔ cə sx̣ɬáw̕txʷ ʔiʔ 
qʷáyŋət cə k̕ʷə́n̕t ti sx̣áɬ ʔəxʷíyŋxʷ. 
nəsƛ̕éʔ či nsqíyŋ hiyáʔ tú̕k̕ʷ. 
húʔ cn txʷaʔaʔáʔiŋ ʔiʔ níɬ nəsuʔšə́təŋ̕. 
ʔiʔ ʔiyə́məct q cn ƛá̕y ʔaw̕ʔáwənə stáŋ 
sxʷʔəý̕s cə nəsx̣ə́naʔ. 
ɬə́ŋ ʔuʔ q̕ʷúy. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsuʔántəŋ. 
sátəŋ cn kʷaʔ hiyáʔən t̕úk̕ʷ. 
níɬ nəsuʔt̕úk̕ʷ. 
txʷaʔaʔáʔiŋ cn kʷaʔčaʔ. 
níɬ nəsuʔxə̣n̕áɬ ti nsuʔšə́təŋ̕. 
ʔiʔ ʔuʔnéʔ tiə nəsčáʔiʔ. 
ʔi ʔuʔmán̕ cn ta ʔuʔ qaʔqiʔám̕. 
suʔ-... 

I was working there at Becher Bay for what 
was called LIP by the white man, whatever 
it was. 
And there were many young men working 
there for me. 
Then our money ran out to pay the young 
men. 
Then I went to town. 
I wanted to borrow a little money to pay 
the young men who were working. 
I was there in town and then... I got sick. 
I was run into the hospital in town, 
Victoria. 
I arrived, then, at the hospital. 
I was in the hospital for five days and 
talked to the nurse (the one that looks after 
sick people). 
I wanted to go out and go home. 
If I was at home, I'd be walking. 
I'd get better again because there was 
nothing good about my leg. 
It's completely dead. 
So they agreed with me. 
I was told to go home. 
Then I went home. 
I was at home. 
Then I was walking all the time. 
And I had some work. 
But I was very weak. 
I was walking. 
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ʔuʔšə́təŋ̕ cn kʷaʔčaʔ. 
níɬ nəsuʔƛ̕áy ʔiʔ ʔuʔiyə́məct. 
ʔuʔnéʔ ti ʔuʔ ƛ̕úƛ̕aʔ nsčáʔiʔ. 
čəyáy ʔiʔ ʔəńəxʷs yaʔ nəyə́nəwəs. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nsxʷtə́s ʔaʔ cə sx̣ɬáw̕txʷ. 
č̕ixʷáŋ ʔaʔ cə sx̣ɬáw̕txʷ. 
níɬ kʷaʔčaʔ nəsxʷmán̕ ʔuʔ qaʔqiʔám̕ ʔaʔ tiə 
ʔáynəkʷ. 
húʔ q yaʔ ʔáwə c xə̣́nəŋ ʔaʔ tə syác c 
nyə́nəwəs ʔiʔ twəw̕ʔiyə́m̕ q yaʔ cn swə́y̕qaʔ 
ʔaʔ tiə ʔáynəkʷ. 
níɬ ʔuʔ sx̣ə́nə̕s x̣čtín̕. 

Then I got strong again. 
I did a little work. 
My heart almost stopped. 
Then I got to the hospital. 
I was taken into the hospital. 
That is why I'm so weak today. 
If that had not happened to my heart, I'd 
still be a strong man today. 
That's all I know. 

 
 
A Wish for Someone to Talk With 
wətə́nəxə̣n, Tom Charles, Sr. 
June 6, 1999 ― WishSomeoneToTalkWith.mp3 

húʔ q yaʔ ʔuʔ néʔ či nək̕ʷɬqʷin̕ə́wi ʔiʔ 
ʔuʔx̣čít q yaʔ cn či ŋə́n̕ ʔaʔ tiə sqʷáyɬ yaʔ. 
sqʷáys yaʔ kʷi sʔiʔáyəxʷɬ yaʔ, čiyáŋənɬ. 
ʔi ʔuʔkʷɬmán̕ ta ʔuʔ ŋə́n̕ nəsmə́yə̕q. 
ʔuʔtxʷp̕áʔət cn ʔəɬ qʷáqʷiʔən 
ʔuʔtxʷƛ̕aʔp̕áy̕s. 
ʔáwənə nəsx̣čít kʷaʔ ʔuʔəsƛ̕úʔƛə̕mn u či 
nsuʔx̣čít ʔaʔ či nsʔáwə c ʔiyáʔnəŋ 
ʔəɬ xʷƛ̕ayə̕m̕úcənn. 
čŋíkʷs cn. 

If there was someone for me to talk with, I 
would know a lot about our language. 
It's the language of our elders, our 
ancestors. 
But I have already forgotten a lot. 
I try while I'm talking, feeling around (for 
the words). 
I don't know if I'm right when I know I'm 
not hearing the Klallam language. 
I don't know how. 

 
 


